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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST 

FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

tern 1) 

ontinue its present mode of operation under the existing Lease Agreement. 

State each material fact which prevents Big Rivers from electing to 

Lesponse) 

resent mode of operations under the existing Lease Agreement or existing Purchase 

‘ower Agreement, other than its contractual obligations under the Termination 

Lgreement. The decision made by Big Rivers to pursue the Unwind Transaction was 

Zther one of balancing the reasons for staying in the current arrangement against those 

3r proceeding with the Unwind. 

There are no material facts that keep Big Rivers from continuing its 

is discussed below in the response to the Attorney General’s Initial Request, Item 43, 

hose reasons include the financial strictures of the current arrangement versus the 

inancial flexibility Big Rivers will have under the Unwind Transaction. Currently, Big 

ivers  has no way to adequately fund significant new capital obligations for litigation 

iability, environmental assessments, capital additions for load growth, or unexpectedly 

arge obligations it may face at Lease end. Moreover, the current arrangement has seen 
ts share of continuing disputes between E.ON and Big Rivers, and E.ON clearly is eager 

o sever ties. Facing a clearly dissatisfied partner in E.ON for the next sixteen years-or 

wo Smelters desperate to find a low-cost source of power-is not pleasant to 

:ontemplate. Both the direct and indirect employment benefits derived from the Smelters 

md the opportunity for further economic development in Western Kentucky under the 

Jnwind Transaction militate against the status quo, Finally, Big Rivers is committed to 

x ing  a long-term power supplier for Western Kentucky, and the Lease Agreement and 

’ower Purchase Agreement offer only a short-term fix rather than a lasting solution. 

Witness) Michael H. Core 

Item 1 
Page 1 of 1 
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST 

FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

tern 2) 
:ontinue its present mode of operation under the existing Power Purchase Agreement. 

State each material fact which prevents Big Rivers from electing to 

iesponse) See Big Rivers’ Response to the Attorney General’s Initial Request, Item 

Witness) Michael H. Core 

Item 2 
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST 

FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

.em 3) Provide the most recent comparison of expected future cash flows to Big 

ivers under continuation of the existing Lease AgreementiPower Purchase Agreement 

ersus expected future cash flows as modeled (Exhibit 8) €or the proposed UnwindLease 

,greement Termination transactions, performcd by or for Big Rivers 

1. 

11. Provide the requested comparison. 

Please explain why such a comparison was not performed; and, 
.. 

Lesponse) 
ontinuation of the existing Lease AgreemenUPurchase Power Agreement versus 

xpected future cash flows as modeled (Exhibit 8) for the proposed IJnwindiLease 

greement Termination Transaction. 

Please see comparison of expected future cash flows to Big Rivers under 

Yitness) C. William Blackburn 

Item 3 
Page 1 of 1 
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST 

FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

:em 4) 

le wholesale electricity requirements of its three distribution cooperative members”, 

:mphasis added). 

It is stated that Big Rivers “exists for the principal purpose of providing 

a. 

b. 

State each and every other purpose €or which Big Rivers exists. 

Describe and discuss the nature of each such “other purpose” 

fentified in a. 

kesponse) 
e organized: 

KRS Chapter 279 states the purposes for which electric cooperatives may 

279.020 Who may incorporate. 

Any three (3) or more individuals, partnerships, associations or private 

corporations a majority of whom are citizens of Kentucky, may by executing, 

filing, and recording articles of incorporation as provided in KRS 279.030 and 

279.040 organize to conduct a nonprofit cooperative corporation for the: 

(1) Primary purpose of generating, purchasing, selling, transmitting, or 

distributing electric energy to any individual or entity, and providing any good or 

service related to generating, purchasing, selling, transmitting, or distributing 

electric energy to any individual or entity; and 

(2) If the cooperative desires, for the secondary purpose of engaging in any other 

lawful business or activity, provided that any nonregulated business or activity is 

conducted through an affiliate except for any business or activity which does not 

involve the sale of a product that is conducted pursuant to a contract with a 

federal military installation or a contract for administrative services which does 

not involve the sale of a product requested by a local, state, or federal 

government. 

Wick  11 of the Big Rivers Articles of Incorporation sets forth the specific purposes for 

which Big Rivers was organized: 

Item 4 
Page 1 of 4 
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST 

FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

ARTICLE I1 

The purpose or purposes for which the corporation is formed are to promote and 

‘ncourage the fullest possible use of electric energy in the Commonwealth of Kentucky, 

)y making electric energy available by production, transmission, distribution, or by 

)thenvise securing the same for inhabitants of and persons, including natural persons, 

irms, associations, corporations, business trusts, partnerships and bodies politic and 

:orporate, in rural areas ofthe Commonwealth of Kentucky, at the lowest cost consistent 

vith sound business methods and prudent management of the business of the corporation 

md also by making available to the said inhabitants and persons, including natural 

xrsons, firms, associations, corporations, business trusts, partnerships and bodies politic 

ind corporate, electrical devices, equipment, wiring, appliances, fixtures, supplies and 

nachinery (including any fixtures or property, or both, which may by its use be 

:onducive to a more complete use of electricity or electric energy) operated by electricity 

i r  electric energy, and accounting services, forms and supplies, bargaining services, 

msiness counsel and advice, engineering services, supervisory services, investment 

:ounsel, general purchasing services of all kinds, and any other services that are 

~equested or decmed advisable or desirable in the conduct of the business of the 

:orporation or in the business of any natural persons, firms, associations, corporations, 

Jusiness trusts, partnerships and bodies politic and corporate, in rural areas of the 

Eommonwealth of Kentucky. In addition, the purpose or purposes for which the 

:orporation is formed are, without limiting the generality of the foregoing: 

[a) 
Energy for its members and non-members to the extent permitted by the Act under which 

the Corporation is formed and to transmit, distribute, furnish, sell, and dispose of such 

electric energy to its members and non-members to the extent permitted by the Act under 

which the Corporation is formed, and to construct, erect, purchase, lease as lessee and in 

any manner acquire, own, hold, maintain, operate, sell dispose of, lease as lessor, 

to generate, manufacture, purchase, transport, acquire and accumulate electric 

Item 4 
Page 2 of 4 
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FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

:xchange and mortgage plants, buildings, works, machinery, supplies, apparatus, 

:quipment and electric transmission and distribution lines or systems necessary, 

:onvenient or useful for carrying out and accomplishing any or all of the foregoing 

mrposes; 

b) 
nortgage, pledge, hypothecate and in any manner dispose of franchises, rights, 

xivileges, licenses, rights of way and easements necessary, useful or appropriate to 

iccomplish any or all of the purposes of the Corporation; 

to acquire, own, hold, use, exercise and, to the extent permitted by law, to sell, 

c) 
naintain, use, convey, sell, lease as lessor, exchange, mortgage, pledge or otherwise 

iispose of any and all real and personal property or any interest therein necessary, useful 

)r appropriate to enable the Corporation to accomplish any or all of its purposes; 

to purchase, receive, lease as lessee, or in any other manner acquire, own, hold, 

d) 
h m b i n g  appliances, fixtures, machinery, supplies, apparatus and equipment of any and 

ill kinds and character (including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, such 

i s  are applicable to water supply and sewage disposal) and, in connection therewith and 

Tor such purposes, to purchase, acquire, lease, sell, distribute, install and repair electrical 

md plumbing appliances, fixtures, machinery, supplies, apparatus and equipment of any 

md all kinds and character (including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, 

such as are applicable to water supply and sewage disposal) and to receive, acquire, 

mdorse, pledge, guarantee, hypothecate, transfer or otherwise dispose of notes and other 

:vidences of indebtedness and all security therefor; 

to assist its members to wire their premises and install therein electrical and 

[e) 
indebtedness, secured or unsecured, for monies borrowed or in payment for property 

acquired, or for any of the other objects or purposes of the Corporation; to secure the 

payment of such bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness by mortgage or 

to borrow money, to make and issue bonds, notes and other evidences of 

Item 4 
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST 

FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

nortgages, or deed or deeds o f  trust upon, or by the pledge of or other lien upon, any or 

111 of the property, rights, privileges or permits of  the Corporation, wheresoever situated, 

icquired or to he acquired; 

f )  
o have and exercise any and all powers, as may be necessary or convenient to 

iccomplish any or all of the foregoing purposes or as may be permitted by the Act under 

Mhich the Corporation is formed, and to exercise any of its power anywhere. 

to do and perform, either for itself or its members, any and all acts and things, and 

Witness) Michael H. Core 

Item 4 
Page 4 of  4 
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
RESPONSE TO TI-IE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST 

FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

tern 5) 
‘Commitment Letters” from lenders for the new debt financing to finance the Unwind 

rransaction? 

Does Big Rivers have committed financing as represented for example by 

a. If so, please provide the Commitment Letters and most current 

lraft loan agreements and documentation. 

h. If not, please state when committed debt financing will 

)e sought by Big Rivers. 

iesponse) No tenn sheets have been agreed to and no firm commitments have been 

Civen. However, discussions are on-going. An alternative long-term financing scenario 

3ig Rivers is exploring with the RUS is applying $200 million to the New RUS Note 

ipon the Unwind closing, plus on-going quarterly debt service payments equal to the 

cpresentative portion of the Unwind level debt service, which would allow Big Rivers 

lot to exceed the Allowed Balance amount shown on the RUS Maximum Debt Balance 

schedule for several years. By the end of that time, Big Rivers expects the refinancing to 

m u r .  Approval of the RUS is required to allow for the scenario discussed above, and 

’or amending the existing notes, including the RUS ARVP Note. 

Witness) C. William Blackburn 

Item 5 
Page 1 of 1 
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
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FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

Item 6) 
the next five years for Big Rivers’ member cooperatives (Kenergy, Corp., Jacltson 

Purchase Energy Corporation, and Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative), including 

load growth for smelters separately. 

Provide documents which show most current projected load growth over 

Response) See table attached. 

Witness) C. William Blackburn 

Item 6 
Page 1 of 1 



Year 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 
201 I 
2012 
2013 
2014 

Nahve Smeltcrs Nshve + Off-System Total 

( W h )  W W h )  (MWh) 1W* ( W h )  
~ n e v g y  sales Energy Sales Smeltcrs Firm Sales Salcs 

3.294,909 7,322,055 10,616,964 
3,375,398 7,335,682 10.71 1,080 
3.430.733 7.335.682 10.766:414 

2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 
202 I 

3,477:341 7,335,682 lO.813.022 
3,530,346 7.338.682 10,866,028 

3,851,997 7.335.682 11,187,679 I I ,  181.679 
3,906,298 7,335,652 ll.241.979 11,24i.979 
3,966,110 7.335.682 11,301,792 l1,301,792 
4,021,927 7.335.682 11,357,609 I1.357.609 
4,083,955 7.335.682 11,419,637 11,419.637 

3,879,072 7,335,682 10,914,754 
3,634,373 7.335.682 10,970,054 
3.684.296 7.335.682 I 1.019.978 

10,616.964 
10,71l,080 
10,766,414 
I0,813,022 
10,866,028 
10,914,754 
10,970,054 
11.019.978 

l1,128,906 I 1,076,745 I 
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RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST 

FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

tern 7) 
i th a copy of any executive retirement policies of the company. If no such plan or 

olicies exist, please state the reason(s) why. 

Please provide information concerning executive succession plans along 

Lesponse) 

f the company. As to retirement, all salaried employees have the same retirement plan, 

OlK, and retiree medical benefits. The retirement plan for all new hires after January 1, 

008 will become a defined contribution plan. Existing employees will remain in a 

efined benefit plan. 

There is no executive succession policy or any executive retirement policy 

IS to a succession procedure for the CEO, my filed testimony states, “In mid 2006 I 
iformed the Big Rivers Board that the Unwind Transaction, if completed and approved, 

ould likely be implemented near the time period that I had been contemplating 

:tirement. In order to ensure a smooth succession plan, I asked the Board to give 

iought to bringing a successor to my position so he or she could work with me and the 

lig Rivers staff during the completion of the Unwind Transaction and the transition to 

lig Rivers again becoming an operating generation and transmission cooperative. In late 

006 the Big Rivers’ Board hired Mark A. Bailey as my successor upon my retirement. 

dark is the former President and CEO of Kenergy C o y .  and joined the Big Rivers 

xecutive team on June 1 of this year as Executive Vice President of Big Rivers.” 

ilso, at the end of my filed testimony, I stated, “After the closing of the Unwind 

‘ransaction, Mr. Bailey will become the Big Rivers President and CEO, and I will phase 

nto retirement.” 

h e r  the last decade Big Rivers’ executive management staff has been small enough that 

ilanning for succession has been handled on an informal. individual basis. After the 

Jnwind closing, Big Rivers will reexamine whether that system is appropriate for the 

arger entity. 

Item 7 
Page I o f 2  
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February 14,2008 

Witness) Michael H. Core 

Item 7 
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FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

tern 8) 

ompany during the company’s bankruptcy. Will the same executives that presided over 

le company during the banlmptcy operate the company after the unwind transaction? 

Please provide details as to the positions of the current executives of the 

lesponse) 
Nefore Big Rivers filed its petition for reorganization in September of 1996, and his 

iring was approved by the bankruptcy court in December of 1996. Michael Core will 

ontinue in that role until his retirement post-Unwind closing. Travis Housley was Vice 

;enera1 Manager of System Operations prior to the filing of the petition for 
eorganization. He is currently the Vice President of Special Projects, and will retire 

ollowing the Unwind closing upon completion of the Unwind-related projects for which 

le is responsible. 

Michael Core was hired by Big Rivers as president and CEO a few days 

-he individuals from the executive team described in exhibit MAB-2, which supplements 

dark Bailey’s filed testimony, held the following positions during Big Rivers’ 

Iankruptcy proceedings: 

C. William Blackburn- Manager of General Accounting 

David Spainhoward- Coordinator of Regulatory and Contract Affairs 

Mark Hite- Manager of Financial Services 

James Haner- Manager of Corporate Services, Insurance and Loss Control 

David Crockett- Manager of Engineering 

Bob Berry- Superintendent of Maintenance, Green Station 

With the exception of Travis Housley, no person who held an executive position (vice 

,resident or higher) prior to Big Rivers’ bankruptcy is currently employed by Big Rivers, 

i r  expected to be employed by Big Rivers for any significant period of time post-Unwind 

:losing. 

Witness) Michael 13. Core 

Item 8 
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
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FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

tern 9) 
he company’s executive retirement plans. Are there any material benefits to the 

:xecutives which result from the unwind transaction? 

Please provide information concerning the unwind transactions’ effect on 

tesponse) 
mefits to executives as a result of the Unwind Transaction. There is no vesting of any 

)enefit to any executive, nor augmentation of any executive’s retirement benefits, which 

s contingent on a successful closing of the unwind. 

Big Rivers has no “executive retirement plans.” There are no material 

Witness) Michael H. Core 

Item 9 
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST 

FOR NFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

[tern 10) 

Nholesale power market for the past three years. 

Provide documents which show Big Rivers’ sales on the regional 

Response) See PSC Item 35(b). 

Witness) C. William Blackbum 
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Page 1 of 1 
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[tern 11) 
Rivers, for 2004 and 2007 when completed. 

In addition to Exhibit 37, provide the complete CPA audit report for Big 

Response) 
The 2007 Independent Auditor’s Report is currently anticipated to be completed March 

21, 2008 and will be provided at that time. 

A copy of the Big Rivers’ 2004 Independent Auditors’ Report is attached. 

Witness) C. William Blackburn 

Item 11 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

Deloine &Touche LLP 
Suite2000 
8ankOne Centerflower 
111 Monument Circle 
Indianapolis, IN 46204-5108 
USA 

T e k t l  3174648600 
Fax: + I  317 464 8500 
ww.deloitte.com 

Board of Directors 
Big Rivers Electric Corporation 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Big Rivers Electric Corporation (the “Company”) 
as of December 3 1,2004 and 2003, and the related statements of operations, equities (deficit) and cash 
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 3 1,2004. These fmancial statements are 
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to tinancia1 audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used 
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall fmancial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements roferred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
fmancial position of the Company as of December 3 1,2004 and 2003, and the results of its operations 
and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 3 1,2004, in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

In accordance with Government Adlting Stundards, we have also issued a report dated March 2,2005, 
on OUT consideration of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standurds and should be read in conjunction with this report in considering the results of our audit. 

Indianapolis, Indiana 
March 2,2005 

Member of 
Debitte Touche Tohmatsu 

http://ww.deloitte.com


BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

BALANCESHEETS 
DECEMBER 31,2004 AND 2003 
(Dollars in thousands) 

ASSETS 2004 2003 
UTILITY PLANT-Net $ 940,649 $ 946,958 

RESTRICTED I N V E S " T S  UNDER LONG-TERM LEASE 174,695 168,859 

OTHER DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS-At cost 3,246 2,969 

CURRENT ASSETS: 
Cash and cash equivalents 54,891 15,802 
Accounts receivable 15,609 15,348 
Materials and supplies inventoy 555 588 
Prepaid expenses 348 574 

Total current assets 71,403 32,312 

DEFERRED CHARGES AND OTHER 30,647 31,758 

TOTAL $1,220,640 $1,18?,856 

EQUITIES (DEFICIT) AND LIABILITIES 

CAPITALIZATION 
Equities (deficit) $ (278,256) $ (300,281) 
Long-term debt 1,079,688 1,053,598 
Obligations related to long-term lease 164,704 158,597 
Other long-term obligations 437 789 

Total capitalization 966,573 912,703 

CURRENT LIABILITIES: 
Current maturities of long-term obligations 78 I 747 

Notes payable 10,000 
Voluntary prepayment of long-term debt 8,404 

Purchased power payable 9,204 8,654 
Accounts payable 2,910 2,997 
Accrued expenses 1,638 1,713 
Accrued interest 8,004 6,470 

Total current liabilities 22,537 38,985 

DEFERRED CREDITS AND OTHER: 
Deferred lease revenue 26,090 30,357 
Deferred gain on sale-leasehack 62,118 64,941 
Residual value payments obligation 138,693 131,130 
other 4,629 4,740 

Total deferred credits and other 231,530 23 1,168 

COMMITMENTS AND CONTlNGENClES 

TOTAL ,% 1,220,640 $1,182,856 

See notes to financial statements. 
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,2004,2003 AND 2002 
(Dollars in thousands) 

POWER CONTRACTS REVENUE 

LEASE REVENUE 

Total operating revenue 

OPERATING EXPENSES-Operations: 
Power purchased and interchanged 
Transmission and other 

MAINTENANCE 

DEPRECIATION 

Total operating expenses 

ELECTRIC OPERATING MARGINS 

INTEREST EXPENSE AND OTHER 

- 

Interest 
Interest on obligations related to long-term lease 
Other-net 

Total interest expense and other 

OPERATING MARGIN 

NON-OPERATING MARGIN: 
Interest income on restricted investments under 

Interest income and other 
long-term lease 

2004 2003 2002 

$175,777 $162,432 $146,548 

56,153 53,040 5 1,094 

232,530 215,472 197,642 

106,099 96,577 85,722 
18,674 17,383 14,669 

2,597 2,617 3,100 

29,732 28,257 27,745 

157,102 144,834 131,236 

75,428 70,638 66,406 

56,923 57,645 59,801 
8,725 8,355 8,003 

158 136 147 

65,806 66,136 67,951 

9,622 4,502 (1,545) 

11,278 10,894 10,527 
1,125 2,953 1,073 

Total non-operating margin 12,403 13,847 11,600 

NET MARGIN $ 22,025 $ 18,349 $ 10,055 

See notes to financial statements. 
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

STATEMENTS OF EQUITIES (DEFICIT) 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,2004,2003 AND 2002 
(Dollars in thousands) 

Other Equities 
Consumers' 

Total Donated Contributions 
Equities Accumulated Capital and to Debt 
(Deficit) Deficit Memberships Service 

BALANCE-January 1,2002 

Net margin 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 

BALANCE-December 31,2002 

Net margin 

Accumulated other comprehensive income 

BALANCE-December 31,2003 

Net margin 

BALANCE-December 31,2004 

$ (328,685) $ (333,130) $164 $3,681 

10,055 10,055 

(383) (383) - - 

(319,013) (323,458) 764 3,681 

18,349 18,349 

383 383 - - 

(300,281) (304,726) 764 3,681 

22,025 22,025 __ - 
$3,681 
E___m 

$164 - $1282,701) 

See notes to financial statements 



BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FORTHE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,2004,2003 AND 2002 
(Dollars in thousands) 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTWJIES: 
Net margin 
Adjustments to rewncile net margin to net cash provided by 
operating activities: 
Depreciation and amortization 
Increase in restricted invesments under long-term lease 
Amortization of deferred gain on sale-leaseback 
Deferred lease revenue 
Residual value payments obligation 
Increase in RUS ARW Note 
Inerncr~se in New RUS Promissory Note 
b e r m e  in obligations under long-term lease 
Changes in celiain assets and liabilities: 
Acwunts receivable 
Materials and supplies inventory 
Prepaid expenses 
Deferred charges 
Purchased power payable 
Accounts payable 
Accmed expenses 
Other-et 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVIXES: 
Capital expendime-net 
Other deposits and investments 

Net cash used in investing activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTMllES: 
Principal payments on long-term obligations 
Principal payments on short-term notes payable 
Prococeeds from short-term n o t e  payable 

Net cash used in financing activities 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

2004 

$ 22,025 

21,849 
6,101 

226 

550 

1,459 

(368) 

(87) 

(104) 

70,858 

(12,203) 
(277) 

2003 

$ 18,349 

30,872 
(5,6051 

(3,059) 
(1,726) 
4,546 

(2,785) 

(21,397) 
5,733 

(12,480) (15,664) 

(9,289) (38,912) 
(10,000) (7,500) 

17,500 

(19,289) (28,912) 

39,089 (4,259) 

- _ _  

_ _ -  15,802 20,061 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS-Beginning of year 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS-End of year 

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
Cash paid for interest 

-- $ 54,891 $ 15,802 

-- $ 28,485 $ 57,103 

$ 270 $ 400 -- Cash paid for taxes 

2002 

$ 10,055 

30,397 
(5,240) 
(2,744) 
6,141 

329 
4,298 

5,461 

4.860 
(24 
295 

(2,604) 
178 

2,522 
(531) 

(1,307) 

52 086 A 

(21,700) 
(1,890) 

(23,590) 

(67,644) 

__ 

(67,644) 

(39,148) 

59,209 

$ 20061 L 

See notes to financial statements. 
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,2004,2003 AND 2002 
(Dollars in thousands) 

1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

General Information-Big Rivers Electric Corporation (“Big Rivers” or the “Company”), an electric 
generation and transmission cooperative, supplies wholesale power to its three member distribution 
cooperatives (Kenergy Corp, Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation and Meade County RECC) under all 
requirements contracts, excluding the power needs of two large aluminum smelters (the “Aluminum 
Smelters”), sells surplus power under separate contracts to Kenergy Corp for a portion of the Aluminum 
Smelters load, and markets power to non-member utilities and power marketers. The members provide 
electric power and energy to industrial, residential and commercial customers located in portions of 22 
western Kentucky counties. The wholesale power contracts with the members extend to January 1,2023. 
Rates to Big Rivers’ members are established by the Kentucky Public Service Commission (“KPSC”) 
and are subject to approval by the Rural Utilities Service (“RUS”). The financial statements of Big 
Rivers include the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 71, 
Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types ofRegulation, which was adopted by the Company in 2003, 
and gives recognition to the ratemaking and accounting practices of these agencies. 

In 1999, Big Rivers Leasing Corporation (“BRLC”) was formed as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Big 
Rivers. BRLC’s principal assets are the restricted investments acquired in connection with the 2000 sale- 
leaseback transaction discussed in Note 4. 

Principles of Consolidation-The financial statements of Big Rivers include the accounts of Big Rivers 
and its wholly owned subsidiary, BRLC. All significant intercompany transactions have been 
eliminated. 

Use of Estimates-The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities. The estimates and assumptions used in the accompanying financial statements are 
based upon management’s evaluation of the relevant facts and circumstances as of the date of the 
financial statements. Actual results may differ from those estimates. 

System ofAccounts-Big Rivers’ accrual basis accounting policies follow the Uniform System of 
Accounts as prescribed by the RUS Bulletin 1767B-1, as adopted by the KPSC. The regulatory agencies 
retain authority and periodically issue orders on various accounting and ratemaking matters. 

Revenue Recognition-Revenues generated from tbc Company’s wholesale power contracts are based 
on month-end meter readings and are recognized as earned. In accordance with SFAS No. 13, 
Accountingfor Leases, Big Rivers’ revenue from the Lease Agreement is recognized on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease. The major components of this lease revenue include the annual lease 
payments and the Monthly Margin Payments (described in Note 2). 
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In conjunction with the Lease Agreement, Big Rivers expects to realize the following minimum lease 
revenue for the years ending December 3 1 : 

Year Amount 

2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
Thereafter 

$ 52,332 
52.332 
52;332 
52,332 
52,332 

514;534 

$776,194 

Uti& Plant UndDeprecia~~n-Utility plant is recorded at original cost, which includes the cost of 
contracted services, materials, labor, overhead and an allowance for borrowed funds used during 
construction. Replacements of depreciable property units, except minor replacements, are charged to 
utility plant. 

Allowance for borrowed funds used during construction is included on projects with an estimated total 
cost of $250 or more before consideration of such allowance. The interest capitalized is determined by 
applying the effective rate of Big Rivers’ weighted-average debt to the accumulated expenditures for 
qualifying projects included in conr;truction in progress. 

In accordance with the terms of the Lease Agreement, the Company generally records capital additions 
for Incremental Capital Costs and Non-incremental Capital Costs expenditures funded by LG&E Energy 
Corporation as utility plant to which the Company maintains title. A corresponding obligation to LG&E 
Energy Corporation is recorded for the estimated portion of these additions attributable to the Residual 
Value Payments (see Note 2). A portion of this obligation is amortized to lease revenue over the useful 
life of those assets during the remaining lease term. For the years ended December 3 1,2004 and 2003, 
the Company has recorded $12,64land $35,412, respectively, for such additions in utility plant. The 
Company has recorded $5,077, $1,726, and $(329), in 2004,2003, and 2002, respectively, as related 
lease revenue (expense) in the accompanying financial statements. 

In accordance with the Lease Agreement, and in addition to the capital costs funded by LG&E Energy 
Corporation (see Note 2) that are recorded by the Company as utility plant and lease revenue, LG&E 
Energy Corporation also incurs certain Non-Incremental Capital Costs and Major Capital Improvements 
(as defined in the Lease Agreement) for which they forego a Residual Value Payment by Big Rivers 
upon lease termination. Such amounts are not recorded as utility plant or lease revenue by the 
Company. At December 3 1,2004, the cumulative Non-Incremental Capital Costs amounted to $6,601 
(unaudited). LG&E Energy Corporation is also in the process of constructing a scrubber (Major Capital 
Improvement) on Big Rivers’ Coleman plant. This scrubber is estimated to be placed into service July 
2006 at a cost of $98,000 (unaudited), none of which is expected to be recorded as utility plant or lease 
revenue. 

Depreciation of utility plant in service is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated 
remaining service lives, as approved by the RUS and KPSC. The annual composite depreciation rates 
used to compute depreciation expense were as follows: 

- 



Electric plant-leased 
Transmission plant 
General plant 

1.60 - 2.41% 
1.16 - 3.24% 
1.11 - 5.62% 

For 2004,2003 and 2002, the average composite depreciation rates were 1.86%, 1.83%, and 1.85%, 
respectively. At the time plant is disposed of, the original cost plus cost of removal less salvage value of 
such plant is charged to accumulated depreciation, as required by the RUS. 

Impairment Review ofLong-Lived Assets-~ng-lived assets are reviewed as facts and circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired. This review is performed in accordance with SFAS 
No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”. SFAS 144 establishes one 
accounting model for all impaired long-lived assets and long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale or 
otherwise. SFAS 144 requires the evaluation for impairment involve the comparison of an asset’s 
carrying value to the estimated future cash flows the asset is expected to generate over its remaining life. 
If this evaluation were to conclude that the carrying value of the asset is impaired, an impairment charge 
would be recorded based on the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and its fair value (less 
costs to sell for assets to be disposed of by sale) as a charge to operations or discontinued operations. 

Restricted Investments-Investments ax restricted under contractual provisions related to the sale- 
leaseback transaction discussed in Note 4. These investments have been classified as held-to-maturity 
and are carried at amortized cost. 

Cash and Cash Equivalenfs-Big Rivers considers all short-term, highly-liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 

Income Taxes-As a taxable cooperative, Big Rivers is entitled to exclude the amount of patronage 
allocations to members from taxable income. Income and expenses related to non-member operations 
are taxable to Big Rivers. Big Rivers and BRLC file a consolidated Federal income tax return and Big 
Rivers files a separate Kentucb income tax return. 

Patronage Capital---As provided in the bylaws, Big Rivers accounts for each year’s patronage-sourced 
income, both operating and non-operating, on a patronage basis. Notwithstanding any other provision of 
the bylaws, the amount to be allocated as patronage capital for a given year shall be not less than the 
greater of regular taxable patronage-sourced income or alternative minimum taxable patronage-sourced 
income. During 2004 and 2003, the Company made a patronage allocation of $-0- and $18,937, 
respectively, to its three member distribution cooperatives based on alternative minimum taxable 
patronage-sourced income in accordance with its bylaws. The Company anticipates no patronage 
allocation to its members in 2005 based on such calculations for tax year 2004. 

Derivatives-Management has reviewed the requirements of SFAS No. 133, Accountingfor Derivative 
Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended and interpreted, and has determined that all contracts 
meeting the definition of a derivative also qualify for the normal purchases and sales exception under 
SFAS No. 133 and, therefore, are not required to be recognized at fair value in the financial statements. 

RecIassiJications--Certain amounts in the prior years’ financial statements have been reclassified to 
conform with current year presentation. 

New Accoun ting Pronouncements- 

In December 2003, FASB issued SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003), Employers‘ Disclosures about Pensions 
and Other Postretirement Benefits”, to improve financial statement disclosures for defied benefit plans. 
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The change replaces existing FASB disclosure requirements for pensions and postretirement plans. The 
guidance is effective for fiscal years ending after June 15,2004. The adoption did not impact the 
Company’s results of operations or financial condition. The incremental disclosure requirements are 
included in these financial statements inNotes 9 and 10. 

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with 
Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity. SFAS No. 150 establishes standards for how an issuer 
classifies and measures three classes of freestanding financial instruments with characteristics of both 
liabilities and equity. It requires that an issuer classify a fmancial instrument that is within its scope as a 
liability (or an asset in some circumstances). SFAS No. 150 is effective for mandatorily redeemable 
financial instruments of nou-public entities for the fwst fiscal period beginning after December 15,2004. 
Management does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 150 to have a significant impact on its financial 
position or results of operations. 

2. LG&E LEASE AGREEMENT 

On July 15, 1998 (“Effective Date”), a lease was consummated (“Lease Agreement”), whereby Big 
Rivers leased its generating facilities to Western Kentucky Energy Corporation (“WKEC”), a wholly 
owned subsidiary of LG&E Energy Corporation (“LEC”). Pursuant to the Lease Agreement, WKEC 
operates the generating facilities and maintains title to all energy produced. Throughout the lease term, 
in order for Big Rivers to fulfill its obligation to supply power to its members, the Company purchases 
substantially all of its power requirements from LG&E Energy Marketing Corporation (“LEM”), a 
wholly owned subsidiary of LEC, pursuant to a power purchase agreement. 

Big Rivers continues to operate its transmission facilities and charges LEM tariff rates for delivery of 
the energy produced by WKEC and consumed by LEM’s customers. The significant terms of the Lease 
Agreement are as follows: 

I. WKEC leases and operates Big Rivers’ generation facilities through 2023. 

11. Big Rivers retains ownership of the generation facilities both during and at the end of the lease 
term. 

111. WKEC pays Big Rivers an annual lease payment of $30,965 over the lease term, subject to 
certain adjustments. 

IV. On the Effective Date, Big Rivers received $69,100 representing certain closing payments and 
the first two years of the annual lease payments. In accordance with SFAS No. 13, Accounting 
for Leases, the Company amortizes thee payments to revenue on a straight-line basis over the 
life of the lease. 

V. Big Rivers continues to provide power for its members, excluding the member loads serving the 
Aluminum Smelters, through its power purchase agreements with LEM and the Southeastem 
Power Administration, based on a pre-determined maximum capacity. When economically 
feasible, the Company also obtains the power necessary to supply its member loads, excluding 
the Aluminum Smelters, in the open market. Kenergy’s retail service for the Aluminum 
Smelters is served by LEM and other third-party providers that may include Big Rivers. To the 
extent the power purchased from LEM does not reach pre-determined minimums, the Company 
is required to pay certain penalties. Also, to the extent additional power is available to Big 
Rivers under the LEM contract, Big Rivers may sell to non-members. 
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VI. LEM will reimburse Big Rivers an additional $109,831 for the margins expected from the 
Aluminum Smelters through 201 1, being defined as the net cash flows that Big Rivers 
anticipated receiving ifthe Company had continued to serve the Aluminum Smelters’ load, as 
tiled in the Rate Hearing, (the “Monthly Margin Payments”). 

VII. WKEC is responsible for the operating costs of the generation facilities; however, Big Rivers is 
partially responsible for ordinary capital expenditures (‘Won-incremental Capital Costs”) for the 
generation facilities over the term of the Lease Agreement, generally up to predetermined 
annual amounts. This cumulative amount is not expected to exceed $148,000 over the entire 
25% year Lease Agreement. At the end of the lease term, Big Rivers is obligated to fund a 
“Residual Value Payment” to LEC for such capital additions during the lease, currently 
estimated to be $125,880 (see Note 1). Adjustments to the Residual Value Payment will be 
made based upon actual capital expenditures. Additionally, WKEC will make required capital 
improvements to the facilities to comply with a new law or a change to existing law 
(“Incremental Capital Costs”) over the lease life (the Company is partially responsible for such 
costs: 20% through 2010) and the Company will be required to submit another Residual Value 
Payment to LEC for the undepreciated value of WKEC’s 80% share of these costs, at the end of 
the lease, currently estimated to be $15,550. The Company will have title to these assets during 
the lease and upon lease termination. 

VIII. Big Rivers entered into a note payable with LEM for $19,676 (the “LEM Settlement Note”) to 
be repaid over the term of the Lease Agreement, which bears interest at 8% per annum, in 
consideration for LEM’s assumption of the risk related to unforeseen costs with respect to 
power to be supplied to the Aluminum Smelters and the increased responsibility for financing 
capital improvements. The Company recorded this obligation as a component of deferred 
charges with the related payable recorded as long-term debt in the accompanying balance sheets. 
This deferred charge is being amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

IX. On the Effective Date, Big Rivers paid a non-refundable marketing payment of $5,933 to LEM, 
which has been recorded as a component of deferred charges. This amount is being amortized 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

X. During the lease term, Big Rivers will be entitled to certain “billing credits” against amounts the 
Company owes LEM under the power purchase agreement. Each month during the first 55 
months of the lease term, Big Rivers received a credit of $89. For the year 201 1, Big Rivers will 
receive a credit of $2,611 and for the years 2012 through 2023, the Company will receive a 
credit of $4,111 annually. 

In accordance with the power purchase agreement with LEM, the Company is allowed to purchase 
power in the open market rather than from LEM, incurring penalties when the power purchased from 
LEM does not meet certain minimum levels, and to sell excess power (power not needed to supply its 
jurisdictional load) in the open market (collectively referred to as “Arbitrage”). Pursuant to the New 
RUS Promissory Note and the RUS ARVP Note, the benefit, net of tax, as defined, derived from 
Arbitrage must be divided as follows: one-third, adjusted for capital expenditures, will be used to make 
principal payments on theNew RUS Promissory Note; one-third will be used to make principal 
payments on the RUS ARVP Note; and the remaining value may be retained by the Company. 

Management is of the opinion that the Company is in compliance with all covenants of the Lease 
Agreement. 
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3. UTLITYPLANT 

The following summarizes utility plant at December 3 1: 

Classified plant in service: 
Electric plant-leased 
Transmission plant 
General plant 
Other 

Less accumulated depreciation 

Construction in progress 

Utility plant-net 

2004 

$1,494,222 
192,601 
1 1,629 

67 

1,698,519 

172,938 

925,581 

15,068 

$ 940,649 

2003 

$1,422,084 
205,795 

11,810 
67 

1,639,756 

754,301 

885,455 

61,503 

$ 946,958 

Interest capitalized for the years ended December 31,2004,2003 and 2002, was $221, $145, and $42, 
respectively. 

The Company bas not identified any legal obligations, as defined in SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset 
Retirement Obligations. In accordance with regulatory treatment, the Company records an estimated net 
cost of removal of its utility plant tbrough normal depreciation. As of December 3 1,2004 and 2003, the 
Company had a regulatory liability of approximately $20,796 and $17,967, respectively, related to non- 
legal removal costs included in accumulated depreciation. 

- 

4. SALE-LEASEBACK 

On April 18,2000, the Company completed a sale-leaseback of two of its utility plants, including the 
related facilities and equipment. The sale-leaseback provides Big Rivers a $1,089,000 fured price 
purchase option, at the end of each lease term (25 and 27 years), which, together with future contractual 
interest receipts, will be fully funded. 

This transaction has been recorded as a financing for financial reporting purposes and a sale for Federal 
income tax purposes. In connection therewith, Big Rivers received $866,676 of proceeds and incurred 
$79 1,626 of related obligations. Pursuant to a payment undertaking agreement with a financial 
institution, Big Rivers effectively extinguished $656,029 of these obligations with an equivalent portion 
of the proceeds. The Company also purchased two investments totaling $146,647 to fund the remaining 
$135,597 of the obligations. These amounts are reflected as restricted investments under long-term lease 
and obligations related to long-term lease in the accompanying balance sheets. Interest received and paid 
will be recorded to these accounts over the life of the lease. Currently, the Company is paying 7.57% 
interest on its obligations related to long-term lease and receiving 6.89% on its related investments. The 
Company made a $64,000 principal payment on the New RUS Promissory Note with the remaining 
proceeds. The $75,050 gain was deferred and will be amortized over the respective lease terms, of which 
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the Company recognized $2,824, $2,785, and $2,744, in 2004,2003, and 2002, respectively. Principal 
payments begin in 2009. 

Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position related to the sale-leaseback as of 
December 3 1 are as follows: 

2004 2003 

Restricted investments under long-term lease $174,695 $168,859 
Obligations related to long-term lease 164,704 158,597 
Deferredgain on saleleaseback 62,118 64,941 

Amounts recognized in the statement of operations related to the sale-leaseback for the years ended 
December 3 1 are as follows: 

2004 2003 

Power contracts revenue (revenue discount 
adjustment, see Note 6) $ (3,680) $ (3,680) 

Interest expense 11,548 11,140 
Interest on obligations related to long-term lease: 

Amortize gain on sale-leaseback (2,823) (2,785) 

Net interest on obligations related 
to long-term lease 8,725 8,355 

Interest income on restricted investments under 
long-term lease 11,278 10,894 

Interest income and other (CoBank patronage allocation) 661 655 

2002 

$ (3,680) 

10,747 
(2,744) 

8,003 

10,527 

727 
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5. DEBT AND OTmR LONG TERM OBLIGATIONS 

A detail of long-term debt is as follows at December 3 1: 

2004 2003 

New RUS Promissory Note, stated amount, $839,071, stated 
interest rate of 5.75%, with an interest rate of 5.81%, 
maturing July 202 1. 

RUS ARVP Note, stated amount $256,301, no stated interest rate; 
with interest imputed at 5.81%, maturing December 2023. 

LEM Settlement Note, interest rate of KO%, payable in monthly 
installments through July 2023. 

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, variable interest rate 
(average interest rate of 1.27% and 1.06% in 2004 and 2003 
respectively), maturing in October 2022. 

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, variable interest rate 
(average interest rate of 1.27% and 1.06% in 2004 and 2003 
respectively), maturing in June 2013. 

Total long-term debt 

Current maturities 

Voluntav prepayments 

Total long-term debt-net of current maturities and prepayments 

$ 834,601 $ 821,156 

85,814 81,143 

17,603 17,999 

83,300 83,300 

58,800 58,800 

1,080,118 1,062,398 

43 0 396 

- 8,404 

$1,079,688 $1,053,598 

The following are scheduled maturities of long-term debt at December 31: 

Year Amount 

2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
Thereafter 

Total 

$ 430 
29,102 
31,140 
39,182 
39,234 

94 1,030 

$1,080,118 
I___ 

RUS Notes--On July 15, 1998, Big Rivers recorded the New RUS Promissory Note and the RUS 
ARVP Note at fair value using the applicable market rate of 5.81%. The RUS Notes are collateralized by 
substantially all assets of the Company. 

-13-  



Pollution Control Bonds-The County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $83,300 of Pollution Control Periodic 
Auction Rate Securities, Series 2001, the proceeds of which are supported by a promissoty note from 
Big Rivers, which bears the same interest rate. These bonds bear interest at a variable rate and mature in 
October 2022. 

The County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $58,800 of Pollution Control Variable Rate Demand Bonds, 
Series 1983, the proceeds of which are supported by a promissory note from Big Rivers, which bears the 
same interest rate as the bonds. These bonds bear interest at a variable rate and mature in June 2013. 

The Series 1983 bonds are supported by a liquidity facility issued by Credit Suisse First Boston, and 
both Series are supported by municipal bond insurance and surety policies issued by Ambac Assurance 
Corporation. Big Rivers has agreed to reimburse Ambac Assurance Corporation for any payments under 
the municipal bond insurance policies or the surety policies. 

LEMSefflement Note--On the Effective Date, Big Rivers executed the Settlement Note with LEM. The 
Settlement Note requires Big Rivers to pay to LEM $19,676, plus interest at 8% per annum over the 
lease term. The principal and interest payment is approximately $1,822 annually. This payment is 
consideration for LEM’s assumption of the risk related to unforeseen costs with respect to power to be 
supplied to the Aluminum Smelters and the increased responsibility for financing capital improvements. 

Other Long-Term Obligations-During 1997, Big Rivers terminated two unfavorable coal contracts. In 
connection with that settlement, the Company paid $351, $351, and $351 during 2004,2003, and 2002, 
respectively. At December 3 1,2004, the Company has a remaining liability of $789 payable over the 
next four years, of which $35 1 is included in current maturities of long-term obligations. 

Notes Payable-Notes payable represent the Company’s borrowing on its line of credit with the 
National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation. The maximum borrowing capacity on the line 
of credit is $15,000, and there were no amounts outstanding on the line of credit at December 31,2004. 
The line of credit bears interest at a variable rate. The average interest rate on the line of credit in 2004 
was 2.90%. Each advance on the line of credit is payable within one year. 

6. RATEMATTERS 

The rates charged to Big Rivers’ members consist of a demand charge per kW and an energy charge per 
kwh consumed as approved by the KPSC. The rates include specific rate designs for its members’ two 
classes of customers, the large industrial customers and the rural customers under its jurisdiction. For the 
large industrial customers, the demand charge is generally based on each customer’s maximum demand 
during the current month. The remaining customers demand charge is based upon the maximum 
coincident demand of each member’s delivery points. The demand and energy charges are not subject to 
adjustments for increases or decreases in fuel or environmental costs. Big Rivers’ current rates will 
remain in effect until changed by the KPSC. 
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Effective since September 1,2000, the KPSC has approved Big Rivers’ request for a $3,680 annual 
revenue discount adjustment for its members Uuough August 31,2005, effectively passing the benefit of 
the sale-leaseback transaction (see Note 4) to them. The extent to which Big Rivers requests KPSC 
approval to continue the adjustment depends upon its planned environmental compliance costs and its 
overall financial condition. In March 2005, Big Rivers plans to request the KPSC’s approval to extend 
the adjustment through August 3 1,2006. 

7. INCOMETAXES 

The components of the net deferred tax assets as of December 3 1 were as follows: 

2004 2003 

Deferred tax assets: 
Net operating loss carryforward 
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards 
Sale-leaseback 
Lease agreement 

$ 88,875 $ 96,996 
3,965 3,582 

124,755 119,241 
(9,145) (2,915) 

Total deferred tax assets 208,450 216,904 

Deferred tax liabilities: 
Fixed asset basis difference 
Other accruals 

Total deferred tax liabilities 

(18,143) (27,403) 
1,727 1,146 

(1 6,416) (26,257) 

Net deferred tax assets (pre-valuation allowance) 192,034 190,647 

Valuation allowance (188,069) (187,065) 

Net deferred tax asset $ 3,965 $ 3,582 

Big Rivers was formed as atax-exempt cooperative organization described in Internal Revenue Code 
Section 501(c)(12). To retain tax-exempt status under this section, at least 85% of the Big Rivers’ 
receipts must be generated from transactions with the Company’s members. In 1983, sales to non- 
members resulted in Big Rivers failing to meet the 85% requirement. Until Big Rivers can meet the 85% 
member income requirement, the Company is a taxable cooperative. Big Rivers is also subject to 
Kentucky income tax. 

Under the provisions of SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Tares, Big Rivers is required to record 
deferred tax assets and liabilities for temporary differences between amounts reported for financial 
reporting purposes and amounts reported for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
determined based upon these temporary differences using enacted tax rates for the year in which these 
differences are expected to reverse. 

At December 3 1,2004 and 2003, Big Rivers had a non-patron net operating loss carryforward of 
approximately $216,771 and $236,576, respectively, for tax reporting purposes expiring 2005 through 
2013, and an alternative minimum tax credit carryforward at December 31,2004 and 2003 of 
approximately $3,965 and $3,582, respectively, which carries forward indefinitely. 
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Big Rivers has a net deferred tax asset, against which a valuation allowance has been provided, in part, 
based upon the fact that it is presently uncertain whether such asset will be realized. The resulting net 
deferred tax asset at December 3 1,2004 and 2003 is approximately $3,965 and $3,582, respectively, that 
represents the alternative minimum tax credit carryforward, against which no allowance has been 
provided. 

8. POWER PURCRASED 

In accordance with the Lease Agreement, Big Rivers supplies all of the members’ requirements for 
power to serve their customers, other than the Aluminum Smelters. Contract limits were established in 
the Lease Agreement and include minimum and maximum hourly and annual power purchase amounts. 
Big Rivers cannot reduce the contract limits by more than 12 MW in any year, or by more than a total of 
72 MW over the lease term. In the event Big Rivers fails to take the minimum requirement during any 
hour or year, Big Rivers is liable to LEM for a certain percentage of the difference between the amount 
of power actually taken and the applicable minimum requirement. 

Although Big Rivers will be required by the Lease Agreement to purchase minimum hourly and annual 
amounts of power from LEM, the lease does not prevent Big Rivers from paying the associated penalty 
in certain hours to purchase lower cost power, if available, in the open market or reselling a portion of its 
purchased power to a third party. The power purchases made under this agreement for the years ended 
December 31,2004,2003, and 2002 were $89,696, $79,136 and $73,905, respectively, and are included 
in power purchased and interchanged on the statement of operations. 

9. PENSION PLANS 

Big Rivers has non-contributory defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all employees who 
meet minimum age and service requirements. The plans provide benefits based on the participants’ years 
of service and the five highest consecutive years’ compensation during the last ten years of employment. 
Big Rivers’ policy is to fund such plans in accordance with the requirements of the Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. 

The following is an assessment of the Company’s non-contributory defined benefit pension plans at 
December 3 1: 

2004 2003 

Projected benefit obligation 
Fair value of plan assets 

$ (15,931) $ (13,164) 
11,982 10,106 

Funded status $ (3,949 $ (3,058) __- 
The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $I 1,359 and $9,087 at 
December 3 1,2004, and 2003, respectively. 
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Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position at December 3 1: 

2004 2003 

Prepaid benefit cost $239 $ 351 

$ 239 - $ 351 Net amount recognized 

Net periodic pension costs, which are calculated based on actuarial assumptions at January 1, were as 
follows for the years ended December 3 1 : 

__J____ 

Benefit cost 
Employer contribution 
Benefits paid or transferred 

Assumptions used to develop the projected benefit obligation were: 

Discount rates 
Rates of increase in compensation levels 
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 

2004 

$ 954 
843 
103 

2004 

5.15 Yo 
4.00 
7.50 

2003 

$ 995 
823 
93 I 

2003 

6.25 % 
4.00 
7.50 

2002 

$ 735 
809 
426 

2002 

6.75 % 
4.00 
7.50 

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for determining net periodic pension cost for each 
fiscal year is chosen by the Company f?om a best estimate range determined by applying anticipated 
long-term returns and long-term volatility for various asset categories to the target asset allocation of the 
plans, as well as taking into account historical returns. 

Using the asset allocation policy adopted by the Company noted in the paragraph below, we determined 
the expected rate of return at a 50% probability of  achievement level based on (a) forward-looking rate 
of return expectations for passively-managed asset categories over a 20-year time horizon and (b) 
historical rates of return for passively-managed asset categories. Applying an approximately 80%/20% 
weighting to the rates determined in (a) and (b), respectively, produced an expected rate of return of 
7.38%, which was rounded to 7.50%. 

The general investment objectives are to invest in a diversified portfolio, comprised of both equity and 
fixed income investments, which are further diversified among various asset classes. The 
diversification is designed to minimize the risk of large losses while maximizing total return within 
reasonable and prudent levels of risk. The investment objectives specify a targeted investment 
allocation for the pension plans of up to 55% equities. The remaining 45% may be allocated among 
fixed income or cash equivalent investments. Objectives do not target a specific return by asset class. 
These investment objectives are long-term in nature. As of December 3 1,2004, the investment 
allocation was 54% equities and 46% fixed income. 
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Expected retiree pension benefit payments projected to be required during the years following 2004 are: 

Year Amount 

2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 - 2014 

Total 

$ 584 
675 
598 

1,342 
678 

7,521 

$ 11,398 

In 2005, the Company expects to contribute $923 to its pension plan trusts. 

10. POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS 

Big Rivers provides certain poswetirement medical benefits for retired employees and their spouses. As 
of July 1,2001, Big Rivers pays 85% of the cost from age 62 to 65 for all retirees. For salaried 
employees who retired prior to December 3 1,1993, Big Rivers pays 100% of Medicare supplemental 
costs. For salaried employees who retire after December 3 1, 1993, Big Rivers pays 25% plus $25 per 
month of the Medicare supplemental costs. 

On December 8,2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 
(the “Medicare Act”) was enacted. The Medicare Act introduces a Medicare prescription drug benefit, as 
well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at 
least “actuarially equivalent” to the Medicare benefit. The underlying determination of whether an 
employer’s plan qualifies for the federal subsidy is still subject to clarifying federal regulations related to 
the Medicare Act. When this guidance is issued, the Company will reassess if its plan qualifies for the 
subsidy. However, the Company currently believes that the benefits provided under the plan do not meet 
the definition of actuarially equivalent. 

The discount rate used in computing the postretirement obligation was 6.25% for 2004 and 6.75% for 
2003. A health care cost trend rate of 11.0% in 2004 declining to 5.5% in 201 1 was utilized. 

The following is an assessment of the Company’s postretirement plan at December 3 1: 

2004 2003 

Total benefit obligation 
Unfunded accrued postretirement cost 

$(3,440) $(3,122) 
(3,662) (3,541) 

The components of net periodic postretirement benefit costs for the years ended December 3 1, which are 
calculated based on actuarial assumptions at January 1, were as follows: 

2004 2003 2002 

Benefit cost 
Benefits paid 
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Expected retiree benefit payments projected to be required during the years following 2004 are: 

Year Amount 

2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 - 2014 

Total 

$ 212 
209 
228 
240 
264 

1,496 

$ 2,649 

In addition to the postretirement plan discussed above, in 1992 Big Rivers began a postretirement 
benefit plan which vests a portion of accrued sick leave benefits to salaried employees upon retirement 
or death. To the extent an employee’s sick leave hour balance exceeds 480 hours, such excess hours are 
paid at 20% of the employee’s base hourly rate at the time of retirement or death. The accumulated 
obligation recorded for the postretirement sick leave benefit is $259 and $23 1 at December 31,2004 and 
2003, respectively. The postretirement expense recorded was $28, $51 and $32 for 2004,2003 and 2002, 
respectively, and the benefits paid were $-0-, $21, and $-0- for 2004,2003, and 2002 respectively. 

11. BENEFIT PLAN4010 

Big Rivers has two defined contribution retirement plans covering bargaining and salaried employees. 
Big Rivers matches up to 60% of the first 6% of eligible employees’ wages contributed. Employees 
generally become vested in Company matching contributions based upon years of service as follows: 

- 

Years of Vesting Service 

1 

3 
4 
5 or more 

Vested 
Percentage 

20% 
40% 
60% 
80% 
100% 

Employees are also permitted to make pre-tax contributions of up to 75% of eligible wages. Big Rivers’ 
expense under this plan was $168, $160, and $155 for the years ended December 31,2004,2003, and 
2002, respectively. 

12. RELATED PARTIES 

For the years ended December 3 1,2004,2003, and 2002, Big Rivers had tariff sales to its members of 
$105,004, $103,118, and $108,440, respectively. In addition, for the years ended December 31,2004, 
2003, and 2002, Big Rivers had certain sales to Kenergy for the Aluminum Smelters and Weyerhaeuser 
loads, of $43,017, $26,327, and $7,581 respectively. I 

At December 3 1,2004 and 2003, Big Rivers had accounts receivable from its members of $12,128 and 
$1 1,359, respectively. 
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13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Big Rivers is involved in litigation arising in tbe normal course of business. While the results of such 
litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, management, based upon advice of counsel, believes that 
the final outcome will not have a material adverse effect on the financial statements. 

* * * * * *  
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST 

FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

tern 12) 

lig Rivers to seek or otherwise accept the Unwind Transaction and Lease Agreement 

:mination which is the subject of this proceeding. Discuss each such listed material fact 

nd purpose. 

State each material fact and purpose which incents or otherwise motivates 

lesponse) 
naterial facts that incent the Unwind Transaction, including the $623 million from E. 
IN, are listed in Exhibit CWB-2 and described in the testimony of C. William 

3lackbum, Exhibit 10, pages 12 through 14. Additional information as to the $327 

nillion of present value compensation in cash and increased power purchase payments 

iom the Smelters is further explained in the answer to AG question 67. 

In addition to answers provided to the AG’s questions 1 and 43 the 

Witness) Michael H. Core 

Item 12 
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST 

FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

tern 13) 
sr capital investments necessary to meet “clean air” requirements, emission standards 

nd any other environmental rules and requirements. 

Under the existing Lease Agreement, state the entity which is responsible 

a. 
vhich entity pays for such costs. 

State how the costs of those investments are recovered, and 

tesponse) See E.ON’s response. 

Witness) E.ON. U.S. 
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST 

FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

tern 14) 

or incurrence of operating expenses necessary to meet “clean air” requirements, 

mission standards and any other environmental rules and requirements. 

Under the existing Lease Agreement, state the entity which is responsible 

a. State how the costs of those operating expenses are 

ecovered, and which entity pays for those costs ultimately under the Lease Agreement, 

ind how that entity pays for such costs. 

Cesponse) See E.ON’s response. 

Witness) E.ON. U S .  
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST 

FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

February 14,2008 

tern 15) 
ease Agreement under its present terms. Also, state any necessary revisions to the 

.ease Agreement that would make it such that it could be continued in the public interest. 

State the reasons why it is not in the public interest to simply continue the 

!esponse) 
lembers and Western Kentucky generally. That being the case, it is not in the public 

iterest to continue in the existing transaction, which is less advantageous to that group. 

‘here is no conceivable amendment to the arrangements with the E.ON entities under the 

,ease Agreement and the Power Purchase Contract that can provide the advantages to 

lig Rivers, its Members and Western Kentucky that are available through the Unwind, 

uch as providing an acceptable wholesale power supply source for the Smelters. See the 

:sponses to AG questions 1 and 43. See also E.ON’s response. 

Big Rivers believes the Unwind is advantageous to Big Rivers, its 

Vitness) Michael H. Core 

E. ON. U S .  
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[tern 16) 

'urchase Power Agreement under its present terms. Also, state any necessary revisions 

o the Purchase Power Agreement that would make it such that it could be continued in 

he public interest. 

State the reasons why it is not in the public interest to simply continue the 

Response) See answer to Item 15, immediately above. 

Witness) Michael H. Core 
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February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

tern 17) 
ilumiiium commodity markets and aluminum smelting that have been reviewed and 

:onsidered by Big Rivers. 

Provide any available and current market and industry research on 

tesponse) 
nonthly average price of aluminum for the United States market over the last four years. 

3ig Rivers is prohibited from providing these reports due to the copyright laws. 

Big Rivers is a subscriber of Metals Week, and we have tracked the 

3ig Rivers has general knowledge from multiple publications and reports concerning 

netals demand growth projections. See attached. 

Witness) C. Williani Blackburn 
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Jim Miller 

From: Mudge, Robert [RMudge@crai.com] 
Sent: 
To: 

- - ~ ” ~ - , - ~ ~ ” ~ ~ - -  ___---~ l__l-l ~ - ~ - ~ ~  .----*--,__I_.. ~-~ “” 

Tuesday, July 31,2007 3:27 PM 
Lyon, Carl; mcore@bigrivers.com; mbailey@bigrivers.com; dspainhoward@bigrivers.com; 
bblackburn@bigrivers.com; Jim Miller; Drefke, Kyle; Michel, Robert; jgainesajdg-llc.com 

Subject: RE: WSJ article 

Here it is: 

PAGE ONE 

COMMODITY KING 
Aggressive Swiss Giant 
Rides Resources Boom 
Sua:ca!ssor .to Marc 
G8encoi.e Gairss Power 
As “8;i“:3der, Prctlucer ’roo 
By ANN DAVIS 
July 31,2007; Page A1 

BAAR, Switzerland -- When the fugitive commodities dealer Marc Rich sold his 
trading firm 13 years ago, it was best known for doing business with pariah 
nations. 

- 

DOW JONES 
REPRINTS ..,. ,” ,.,.. ,, . , , 

d q  This copy is for your 
personal, non-commercial 
use only. To order 
presentation-ready copies 
for distribution to your 
colleagues, clients or 
customers, use the Order 
Reprints tool at the bottom 
of any article or visit: 
W W W . ~ ~ ~ I ~ ~ S . C O ~ I .  

See a sample reurint in 
PDF format. 
* Order a reurjnl-ofthji 
article now. -~ Since he left, the intensely private company -- renamed Glencore International 

AG -- has leveraged itself into an industrial colossus, with a stronger grip over 
more individual markets for the earth’s riches than almost any other single company. 

TRADE SECRETS 

Glencore, successor to Marc Rich 
trading firm, is a leading dealer in 
many commodities. 
* Getting More Corporate: 
Glencore has publicly traded debt 
and owns large chunks of publicly 
held producers such as Switzerland’s 
Xstrata PLC. 

Bottom Line: In commodities 
boom, little-known giant plays an 
influential role, including helping to 
spur recent consolidation in the 
metals industry. 

Background: Closely held 

Glencore is one of the world’s largest suppliers of aluminum, nickel, 
zinc and lead. It is a major seller of oil, grains and sugar as well. 
Along with its affiliates, Glencore says, it ships more coal on the high 
seas than any other competitor. 

Glencore also has played a behind-the-scenes role in the recent 
extensive consolidation of the commodities industry. The takeover 
battle for Canada’s aluminum leader, Alcau Inc., arose after Glencore 
combined assets with Russian companies to create a giant that 
knocked Alcoa Inc. off its perch as the largest producer. In a bruising 
fight over nickel, Glencore helped an affiliate win a lengthy, 
multisided battle for Canadian miner Falconbridge Ltd. 

The story of Glencore’s evolution from rogue trader to one of the 
most powerful private companies in the world was pieced together 
from interviews with people with intimate knowledge of the company 
and from documents such as bond prospectuses. The firm has long 
been willing to deal in virtually any commodity around the globe, 

from cobalt in war-ravaged Congo to crude oil from Saddam Hussein’s Iraq. Its longstanding knowledge and 
connections in isolated or unstable regimes sometimes give Glencore access to resources at good prices 
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because it can tap opportunities that not everyone is going after. Glencore has said its policy is to require its 
companies and their employees to comply with any economic sanctions in force in countries where they do 
business. 

Its trading prowess and a drive to acquire production assets like mines and smelters have made Glencore one 
of the biggest winners in the commodities boom. Its revenue last year was $1 16.5 billion, besting by about 
30% the largest private company in the U.S., Koch Industries Inc. Glencore's profits of $5.3 billion were more 
than triple the fiscal '06 net of the far-better-known private commodity merchant Cargill Inc. 
,... . .. ,.. , .... , . . . 

1 m m   MAR^ ~c~ T O ~ ~ ~ ' ? ' ' l  A small number of people share these riches. The top 12 Glencore 
! executives saw the value of their stakes in the emolovee-owned . , .. . i 

! . "  
~ company soar an average of$87 million each last year -- more than 

atch a video2 in which Mr. ~ three times the stock-related pay of Goldman Sachs Group's chief 
. executive. And the top 67 people at Glencore reaped other pay and 
~ benefits averaging $8 million. 
I Rich accepts an honorary 

1 degree awarded to him in Israel, 
1 posted on his firm's Web site3. 
L _llll-_ll_,llllll_ ---I As Glencore moves more into the corporate mainstream -- floating 

billions of dollars worth of publicly traded debt -- the company still 
struggles to convince some skeptics it's a different animal from the krm Mi. Rich founded and left ion, ago. 
Not helping is a 2005 report from a United Nations investigative committee saying Glencore paid millions of 
dollars in kickbacks earlier this decade to gain access to Saddam Hussein's petroleum under the oil-for-food 
program. Glencore told the U.N. it didn't sanction any bribes. 

The evolution of the Swiss company owes much to its chief executive, Ivan Glasenberg, 50 years old, a skilled 
coal trader and onetime South African race-walking champion. He operates from the home offices in Baar, in 
a low-tax Swiss canton, to which employees from around Zurich travel in purple vans bearing a logo in gold 
letters swimming in black oil. The firm's white-and-glass headquarters contrast with some old-world touches: 
receptionists in immaculate suits, fine china to serve guests lunch, and tingling cowbells in Alpine pastures 
outside. 

One of Mr. Glasenberg's moves has been to package production assets the trading firm owns into affiliated 
publicly traded companies, much of whose output Glencore then markets. The result i s  to amplify its market 
power. Glencore moves so much metal that it at times holds 50% to 90% of the nickel and aluminum 
scheduled for delivery in London Metal Exchange warehouses, according to traders who know who holds 
positions on the exchange. 

- 

Such aggressive moves aren't illegal: Commodities markets allow producers 
considerable trading leeway to manage their price risks. Glencore bas been able to 
counter occasional probes into suspected market manipulation, swh as in the aluminum 
market, by arguing that its production operations led it to do what seemed like heavy 
buying or selling. 

"There is no other company like Glencore that plays in so many fields. In these markets, 
suppliers are in the driver's seat," says Markus Moll, a metals industry analyst in Austria 
who advises specialty steelmakers. 

Glencore's history traces to 1974, when Mr. Rich founded a trading firm of his own after 
a fractious departure from Philipp Brothers, a storied metals and oil trader. In 1983 the 

r'vctn Flaseflberg U.S. Justice Department charged Mr. Rich with tax evasion and with buying oil from 
Iran while it held US.  hostages. He fled to Switzerland, where his firm was based. It and its former US. unit 
later pleaded guilty to some of the charges and agreed to a nearly $200 million settlement, but Mr. Rich 
remained a fugitive. 

His status hung over Marc Rich & Co. AG until 1994, when some of Mr. Rich's lieutenants bought him out 
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for about $500 million and the firm took the name Glencore. They raised the money partly by selling a 15% 
stake to a pension fund of Swiss pharmaceutical giant Roche Holding AG, several former partners say. Roche 
says it doesn't comment on investments. Glencore bought back the interest a few years ago. As for Mr. Rich, 
he set up other trading firms bearing his name, some of which he still owns. President Clinton pardoned him 
upon leaving office in 2001. 

At the time of the buyout, Mr. Glasenberg was among the trading firm's rising stars. He had gained a 
reputation as a relentless negotiator who, among'other things, was able to find buyers for coal from his native 
South Afi-ica when it was widely boycotted because of its apartheid racial policy. 

Glencore has a network of some 50 outposts in more than 40 countries, manned by field officers. Among their 
roles is to meet with commodity suppliers and consumers, trying to gauge inventory levels and estimate local 
demand. The network has sometimes drawn comparisons to the Central Intelligence Agency. Beyond 
gathering information, the job may involve practical chores like imploring civil servants for an industrial 
permit or even going down to the docks to yell at longshoremen so a shipment of metal or grain gets out of 
port, veterans of the system say. 

ployees in the "traffic" department work with these agents -- chartering 
sels and sometimes diverting them to more valuable assignments. Both 
Id officers and the traffic crew are alert for signs of local shortages or 
rsupplies, information that gives Glencore traders an advantage. 

ers are the stars around which the system revolves. The common trader 
e is of a person glued to a computer screen making rapid-fire bets on 
es. But Glencore's traders are frequently on the road. They focus on 

tters like whether coal can be delivered more cheaply by shipping it 
one location than from another, or whether the firm could sell a 

ed metal more profitably if it owned the raw ore instead. 
- 

hen Mr. Glasenberg was running the coal division in the 199Os, he 
termined that rather than just trade coal, the firm should buy coal mines. 

Depressed coal prices made mines easy to buy. Mr. Glasenberg persuaded his partners to spend a couple of 
hundred million dollars to acquire mines in Australia and South Africa. He told the engineers running them to 
focus on costs and production and leave the selling to him. He then set the firm's ferocious marketing machine 
to work. 

Mr. Glasenberg became chief executive in 2002. That year, amid another beaten-down commodities market, 
Glencore folded its coal mines into a small producer of zinc and alloys that it partly owned. This company, 
Xstrata PLC, agreed to buy the coal assets for $2.5 billion and simultaneously listed its shares on the London 
Stock Exchange. Glencore's chairman, Willy Strothotte, is also chairman of Xstrata. 

That company then went on an acquisitive tear, quickly becoming the world's fifth-largest mining company. 
Xstrata's soaring stock has hoisted the value of Glencore's 35% stake in it to $21 billion. 

Xstrata is just the most visible of Glencore's public affiliates. Beginning in 1987, Glencore bought interests in 
several aluminum-production plants. In 1996 it combined some of them into Century Aluminum Co., which it 
floated on the Nasdaq Stock Market. Century now is North America's third-largest aluminum producer. 
Glencore, which owns 29% of it, sells it raw materials and buys part of its aluminum output. 

In such deals, when the affiliated companies later acquire more assets, Glencore's command of the market 
often rises as well. One Glencore customer, Max Crosland, head of fuels and logistics at a British coal-fired 
power station, says he buys from the company partly because he knows Glencore has deep access to supply. 
"The more confident we are in our coal supplier, the less inventory we can hold," he says. 
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Glencore also gets fees for its marketing efforts. At Xstrata, Glencore takes a cut of 3.5% to 5% of most sales 
of ferrochrome and vanadium, a metal used to strengthen steel. Glencore gets 50 cents for every ton of South 
African and Australian coal Xstrata exports, in exchange for its advice and market intelligence. In nickel, 
Glencore shares profits when it gets Xstrata prices above a certain level. 

The Glencore-Xstrata relationship has stirred concerns about their collective market clout, particularly in 
thinly traded markets where there aren't transparent futures exchanges. For instance, in 2002, bond filings 
show, Xstrata controlled 24% of the market for vanadium and Glencore was Xstrata's exclusive marketer of 
the metal. With Glencore's early input, Xstrata had launched a vanadium mine in Western Australia. 

Soon after the costly mine opened, a vanadium surplus led to rock-bottom prices. This was bad both for 
Glencore, which had agreed to buy some ofxstrata's production elsewhere at prices that were now too high, 
and for Xstrata, which had sunk money into a money-losing mine with operational problems. 

Xstrata halted the mine's production in early 2003 and permanently shut it in 2004. It dismantled the 
equipment, making the mine hard to restart, and it closed another vanadium mine elsewhere as well. With all 
this production taken out, the metal's price soared -- quintupling by the end of 2004, according to price 
provider Ryan's Notes. 

Western Australia officials, incensed at the mothballing of a mine that taxpayer funds had helped develop, 
launched an investigation. A disgruntled local partner on the mine project told the investigators that Glencore 
was sitting on a stockpile of vanadium and had a motive to push the price up. 

Xstrata told the officials no one could manipulate the price of vanadium because some of the metal always 
gets produced regardless of demand, as it's a byproduct of steelmaking. Xstrata argues that it wouldn't have 
abandoned a mine costing hundreds of millions of dollars to help Glencore reverse far smaller losses. It also 
notes that a corruption probe later revealed that its disgruntled mine partner had helped script the eventual 
investigative report. That report said Xstrata's actions were a €actor in higher prices but it didn't allege market 
manipulation. 
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Glencore is known for overcoming obstacles to delivery. Last year it was able to get coal to Israel despite 
problems gumming up shipments from Russia. "They will always find a way," says Moshe Bornstein, head of 
Israel's National Coal Supply Corp. 

One of Glencore's most far-reaching moves was in aluminum. In 2004 it won an auction for Jamaican 
properties that mine and refine bauxite, a raw material for aluminum, that were also coveted by a company 
controlled by Russian oligarch Oleg Deripaska. Over two years, as Mr. Deripaska and another Russian 
aluminum producer discussed a combination, Mr. Glasenherg offered to link up with them by contributing the 
Jamaican assets and some others to a joint enterprise. 

The result was the formation this year of the aluminum giant known as United Co. Rusal, of which Glencore 
owns 12%. After the deal closed, Alcoa, which had been the largest producer of primary aluminum, tried to 
keep up by acquiring Alcan, only to be outbid by the Anglo-Australian Rio Tinto. 

Glencore's relationship with the well-connected Mr. Deripaska may serve it well. One of his companies is 
poised to take control of a Russian oil producer from a businessman who fell out of favor with the Kremlin. 
Glencore has managed to keep its large stake in many of that Russian oil producer's assets, people familiar 
with the deal say. 

Distancing itself from its Marc Rich past has been a challenge for Glencore at times. The 2005 U.N. report on 
Iraq oil-for-food abuses accused Glencore and a firm then controlled by Mr. Rich of separate but similar 
kickback schemes to get access to Iraqi oil. The report, which also implicated other companies, said that in the 
early 2000s, Glencore made cash payments to one of its agents, and this agent made cash payments to an Iraqi 
diplomatic office in Geneva. Glencore called the payments a "success fee," the U.N. report says. Glencore told 
the U.N. panel that "if it turns out" anyone paid bribes, that person violated instructions not to do so. 

The onetime Marc Rich entity cited in the U.N. report denied wrongdoing. Mr. Rich's current investment firm 
says it isn't aware of any investigation of him. Based largely on the U.N. findings, the Swiss attorney general's 
office is conducting a criminal investigation into a number of companies, which it won't identify. 

Even Glencore's publicly held affiliates sometimes are dogged by its history of trading with pariah nations. 
Xstrata recently encountered questions about Glencore when Xstrata sought to buy a uranium miner in 
Australia. The government there said it could do so but imposed a requirement to consult authorities before 
allowing anyone else to market the uranium. Ultimately, Xstrata didn't do the acquisition. 

Glencore officials "are under pressure to prove they're respectable" as they deepen their ties to banks and issue 
debt, says Mark Pieth, a Swiss law professor and one of the three U.N. panel members who investigated the 
Iraq oil-for-food arrangement. Glencore has sold more than $5 billion in bonds since 2003. Mr. Pietb says it is 
working to strengthen its compliance systems, though "it's coming a bit late." 

Bond investors focus on Glencore's thriving business. In its latest debt offering earlier this year, in London, 
bond investors offered to lend Glencore 10 times what it initially sought. 

At Loomis Sayles & Co., a money manager that bought Glencore bonds in 2004, Diana Monteith, a fixed- 
income analyst, says bondholders' interests are aligned with those of Glencore's shareholders. "Everyone [at 
Glencore] is really incented to make sure there are good controls," she says, because if someone makes a bad 
bet, "everybody's net worth will go down rapidly." 

Glencore employee shareholders, who number 417 in all, can't access their equity unless they leave the 
company. Departing employees must sell their stakes back to the company. 

This arrangement can require Glencore to lay out big cash payments when some executives who have 
accumulated tens or hundreds of millions of dollars ofwealth look to cash out. Rating agencies say there's a 

- 
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risk Glencore could face a run for the exits during the current good times. Mr. Glasenberg has told investors 
that shareholder turnover is planned and orderly. 

-Glenn R Simpson, Paul Glader and David Gauthier-Villars contributed to this article 

From: Lyon, Carl [mailto:clyon@orrick.com] 
Sent: Tuesday, July 31,2007 422 PM 
To: mcore@bigrivers.com; mbailey@bigrivers.com; dspainhoward@bigrivers.com; bblackburn@bigrivers.com; 
jmiller@smsmlaw.com; Drefke, Kyle; Michel, Robert; jgainesajdg-llc.com; Mudge, Robert 
Subject: WSJ attlcle 

There is a lead article in the Journal on Glencore. Mentions Century as 3rd largest producer in North America. Can't send from my 
BB. 

Sent from my BlackBerry Wireless Handheld (www.BlackBerry.net) 

IRS Circular 230 disclosure: 
To ensure compliance with requirements imposed by the IRS, we inform you that any tax advice contained in 
this communication, unless expressly stated otherwise, was not intended or written to be used, and cannot be 
used, for the purpose of (i) avoiding tax-related penalties under the Internal Revenue Code or (ii) promoting, 
marketing or recommending to another party any tax-related matter(s) addressed herein. 

- 
NOTICE TO RECIPIENT: THIS E-MAIL IS MEANT FOR ONLY THE INTENDED RECIPIENT OF THE 
TRANSMISSION, AND MAY BE A COMMUNICATION PRIVILEGED BY LAW. IF YOU RECEIVED 
THIS E-MAIL IN ERROR, ANY REVIEW, USE, DISSEMINATION, DISTRIBUTION, OR COPYING OF 

RETURN E-MAIL AND PLEASE DELETE THIS MESSAGE FROM YOUR SYSTEM. THANK YOU IN 
ADVANCE FOR YOUR COOPERATION. 
For more information about Orrick, please visit http://www.orrick.com/ 

THIS E-MAIL IS STRICTLY PROHIBITED. PLEASE NOTIFY US IMMEDIATELY OF THE ERROR BY 

2/5/2008 

mailto:clyon@orrick.com
http://www.orrick.com




I i  

Ms. Renee. J. Jenkins 
Secretary of the Commission 
Public Utilities Commission of Ohio 
180 East Broad Street 
Columbus, OH 43215-3793 

American Elsario Power 
1 RNsnidePlsls 
b l u m b u r . ~ ~  4m.nn 
.%ep.com 

Marvin I. Rwnlk 
Aaistant General Couilsel~ 
Regulatory s@MCeS Re: Case No. 05-1057-EGCSS 
(614) 716-1606 
(614) 716-2950 (fax) 
miresnik@aep.mm 

Dear Secretary Jenkins: 

The Commission’s Supplemental Opinion and Order in this docket, dated 
November 8,2006, directed that an executed copy of the electric service agreement 
between AEP Ohio and Ormet shall be filed in this docket within 15 days after 
execution of the agreement. To that end AEP Ohio is filing copies of the 
agreement which was exwated on November 8,2006, 

- 

Very truly yours, 

Marvin I. Resnik 

m 1 1 g  
Attacbments 

cc: Parties of Record 

http://ep.com


Attachat 1 1 1 .  L_( I '  Nwemder 
j Thh contract e n t d  into this && Of- 2006, by and between Columbus Southem Power Company and Ohio 

Power Company, he& called AEP ofiio, and Ormet F'dmary Ahnninmn Corporation, 1233 Main See% Wheelin& West 
Virginia 26003, baeafier called the Customer, 

i 

Wifnesseth: ? .  

For andm consideration of the mulnnl wvenank and agreements herejnaRer contained, the parties hereto agnx? with 
tach other a$ follows: . . .  

AEP Ohio agrees to &b to the Customer, during the term'of this &i& and the Customer agiees to take fiom 
AEP Ohio, subject to AEP Ohio's sbuidard Terms and Conditions of Service as legniarly filed with the Public mes 
Commission of Ohio (Commission) and the tams and conditions as set for& in the Stipulation and Reconrmendation m Case 
No. 05-1057-ELCSS as approved by &e Comrn&on *ch is attarbed hereto and bereby made a part ofthis Conliact, all 
the electric energy ofthe character specified herein that shall be purchad by the Customer m the pmmips iocated at the 
Customer's H a d i  Ohio facilities. In the event the regnWy tiled T m  and Coplitions of Service conflict with the tams 
and conditions set forth in thc Slipulation and Rewmmendation,'the latter terms and conditiom will be wntpfig.  

AEP Ohio isto I%DIM and the Customer is to fake eIeClri0 energydertbe &rms . .  ofthis contsaetlbr a pexiodof up 
to 24 monmS from the , b e  such service is wmenced and ending at midnight on I)ecember ' 3 1,iOOS. &e date that service 
shall be. deemed to have wmmenced &der this C!~oimf shall be the later of January 1,2007 M the effective date of the 
StipMatipn m Case No.. 0~1057-FiLCSS. 

The electric energy delivered hereuader shallbe al- &z at appro&&Iy 138,OG vole, 3-vdrc,'3-phase 
and it shall be delivered at the mwwection of AEP Ohio's two doublpcirmit. 13S-k~:Steeltower &sion lines with 
the Customer's twp doublecircuit 138W sted tower framm ' sion lines .cie.,in 06iO ~o&Lip, ~ o m ~ e ~ ~ m t y , .  ohio at 
TOWH 39 on doubie circuit Lme #1 and &Tower 38 on double &&it Line #2), which SbaIl constiMethe.po&.of dezivery 
undw this CZhmt. The said e l d c  eaergy shall be &livered at reasonably close maimnauce to &tant potential and 

, &quency, and it W be m d  by a meter or meters owned and instan& by AEP Obi0 agd.located at the Kammer 
swan . .  

The customer's wntnrct capacity is bereby fixed at 520,000 kW&VA ' 

:billingdemandfsithisCon~shallbe312,000~W~VA. 
There are 110 nnwrken undemhdbgs or agrfkments relating lo the stp ice  herein above pmvideh This'Contrat? 

sh;?l be @ fau force and effect wha si@ by the authodzed rqmsentaiives of the &es hereto, subje&to the approval of 
&.Public Utilities Comr&sion of Obi0 in Case NO. 05-1057-B&X2SS. : 

The hstonier agrees thit i s  elecnical fa&id&iia~ not 

, 

. .  

.jdy I ,  2 0 0 7 ; : t & ~ m  
I.. 

. ,  : i  

' 

- 
f..jj+ m& hO*t ion ig &&sa fmmAEP'&O. ,~.:; 
, .  < . . .  

. . . . . .  . .  

. . .  
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l[n the Matter of the CompIaint of 
Ormet Primary Aluminum Corporation 
and Ormet AIuminam Min Prodnets 
Corporation. 

Complainants 

V. 

South Cen&al Power Company and 
Ohio Power Company 

Respondents 

i 
1 

Case No. w:1057-ELCSS 

i i 
STIPULATION AND RECOMMENDATION 

Rule 4901-1-3O, Ohio Administrative Code"("OAC'~,p~vides.that'any two or more 

k.. ~ 

' '\ . .  

. .  . _  . ' I .  

. .  
. .  

' Vtilities.Commission of Ohio (the "Commission") approve and adopt, as p e  ofits Opinion and '. 

Order in this proceeding, this Stipulation and Recommendation (the 'St ip~Won' j  resolving the 

issues in the above-captioned proceeding. This Stipulation is'fully supported by data and 

info&ation @n*ed in the evidence in the,recotdh'this p m c k g ;  represaifi '. a . .  jyt a& 
) 

t 

. .  . .  

. . . . . .  
. .  . ' .  , .  . .  . " . , . .  . .  

' 
' reasdnable.r$olution of such issues in this prpceeding, ,$alates no regulate@ 

. . . .  " .  , . .  . .  . .  , . i . ,  .~ . .  

, .  

, . , . . . .  . .  
, .  . . . .  

. .  ... - . . . .  . ,  . . .  . .j . .  

. . . .  
. . . . . . .  . . .  
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. . .  
. . .  
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. .  . .  . ,  
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lengthy, serious bargaining among knowledgeable and capable parties in a cooperative process 

undertaken by the Signatory Parties to settle this case. While this Stipulation is not binding on 
i 

the commission, it is entitled to careful considemtion by the Commission, where, as here, it is 

sponsored by p d e s  representing awide mge of ktemfs, including the Commission’s Staff. 

For the purpose of resolving all issues raised by this proceeding, the Signatory Partia stipdate, 

agree and recommend as set forth below. 

This Stipulation is entered into by and among Columbus Southem Power Company 

(CSP) and Ohio Power Company (OPCO) (collhvely, “AEP Ohio“), both of which are electric 

u!Zty operating companies of the American Electric Power (“AEP”) system, Ormet Primary 

Aluminm Corporation and Onnet AlnminUm Mill ProdncS Corpodon (collectively, 

‘‘Onnet‘‘), South Central Power Company (“SCP”), United Steel, Paper and Forestry, Rubber, 

-. M&dacttning, hergy, A l l i e d  Industrial and Service Workers International Union (WSW”), 

Ohio Energy Group (“OEG”) and the Commission’s Staff. Intervenor Ind&al F.nergy Users- 

ohio C~EV), while got a Sigmio~ party, has agreed not to oppose thi CommiSsion’S approvd. 

of this Stipdation. Au.Signatory Parties Nly support this Stipulationmd urge the Commission ’ 

to accept and approve the terms hereof. 

L.. 

. .  

, . 

WHEREAS, in,Case No. 96-999-ELAEC, OPCO applied to the Commission for 

’, . approval of a special contract arrangement with Ormet (the ‘‘I.riterim Agreement”) which would 

become effective upon the November 30,1997 termination of the then-cnrrent service agreement 

b&& OPCO and b e t ,  and would terminate at midnight on Dedember 31,1999; 

. .  

WHEREAS, in Case No. 96-1OoO-EL-PpB, OPc0,and Sclp jointlypetitioned the 

Commission for reallocation oftheir certified service territories so that &et, then a customer 

of OPCO, would become a customer of SCP upon termination of the Interim Agreement; 
<- 
7 
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"[ERE(\s, by Finding and Order in Case Nos. 96-999-ELAEC and 96-1OOO-EbPEB, 

dated November 14,1996, &e Commission approvedthe Interim A m a t  and the reqaest of 

OPCO and SCP to reallocate their certified territorial boundaries so that b e t  would become a 

customer of SCP upon termination of !he Interim Agreement; 

(- 

WHEREAS, p m t  to the terms of a Curtailmeat and Indemnity Agreement, wbich 

was an exhibit to the joint petition in Case No. 96-1006-EL-PEB, &ex Onnet became a customer 

of SCP and Ormet's load was removed from the AEP system's control area, OPCO and the AEP 

system no longer had either the right or obligation to resume control a m  responsibility for 

Orm&s lo* 

WHEREAS, Ormet and SCP entered into a service agreement which provided for the sale 

by SCP of a maximum 20 Mw of elactric power and e n ~ g y  to Om& (5 MW h, 15 MW 

I 

- interruptible) and for Ormet to obtain &om third parties in the market the remaining eIectriCity to 

service the load for its fkilities in fiiannibal, Ohio; 
\ 

WHEREAS, the initial SCP/Ormet service agreement was modified to terminate any 

obIigation of Ormet to buy, and of SCP to sell to Onnet, elecbic power and enerm, 

WHEREAS, subsequent to the modification of the initial SCP/Ormet service agreement, 

Onnet filed for Chapter 1 1 badmptcy protection and emerged from bankruptcy m Apd 2005; 

WHEREAS, Ormet curtailed operations at its Hannibd, Ohio f$ciIities in January 2005 

and those operations have not been rest&: 

WHEREAS, oh August 25,2005, Ormet filed in this docket a petition to transfer rights to 

furnish electric service and/or to reallocate certified service territories, along with a Complaht 

against OPCO alleging that OPCO was proposing to impose.mjust, unreasonable and 
.. 

discrimjnatory rates if Ormet were to return to OPCO's certified service temtory; 
_- I , 
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WEEREAS, on June 14,2006, the Commission issued an Opinion and Order in this 

docket which, among other things: 
l!” 

1. found that the badmptcy court authorized the rejection of the senice agreement 
between SCP and Ormet and which deferred to that determination 

found that SCP is legally obfigakd to serve Ormet’s 520 MW load 

fonnd that, m the context of s d c e  to Ormet, SCP does not provide, or propose to 
provide, physically adequate senice 

directed that a second hea&g should be held regarding: whether SCP’s fdw to 
pmpose to provide physically adequate service has been corrected or can be 
corrected under reasonable operating conditions; whether the Commission should 
authorize mother supplier to serve Ormet; or whether the commission shouId 
order such other remedy authorized by law 

directed that the issue of an appropriate rate to be charged by OPCO for seryice to 
Onnet should be addressed &er the Commission completes its proceedings under 
4933.83@), Ohio Rev. Code, and determines whether anoiher electric supplier 

should be authorized to serve Ormet. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

- 
WHEREAS, on July 14,2006, SCP and OPCO each filed rehearing applications < .  

regarding the June 14,2006 and Order; 

WREREAS, on August 9,2006, the Commission issued an Entry on Rehearing in this 

docket which Wed &e rehearing applications filed by SCP and by OPGO, 

WHEREAS, on August 25,2006, SCP filed a second rebearing application which the 

Commission denied in its September 13,2006 Second Entry on Rebearing; 

WHEREQS, on October 6,2006, SCP filed aNotice of Appeal to the Supreme Court of 

Ohio ( h e  No. 06-1866) regarding the Commission’s June 14,2006 Opinion and Order, August 

9,2006 &try on Rehearing and September 13,2006 Second Entry o~Rehearhg; 

WHEREAS, according to Ormet Ex. 4 

. .  1. . ‘when Ormet’s Hannibal facities are operatkg it employs appm&tely 

‘L* 
1,000 people with total annual wages of about $40,000,000 

’ 4  



.. I . I  ' .  

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

. 7. 

Ormet covers approximately 3,300 of its employees and family members' health 
care at a cost exceeding $10,000,000 per year 

Onnet pays about $1,000,000 annually in taxes to Monroe County, Ohio and its 
school district 

Onnet purchases about $15,000,000 to $18,000,000 of goods and services every 
year in the Mome County area 

Ormet has been one of Southeastern Ohio's largest employers, p&&ly of 
smed workers such as those who comprise the USW 

If Ormet is unable to resume operation of its Hannibal facilities there will be no 
jobs to which the USW laborers can remrn 

Ifthe Hmnibal, Ohio region loses the significant tax revenues and capital 
spending Ormet historically has brought to that region, the economy in that region 
will become M e r  depressed 

WHEREAS, as reflected in Onnet Ex. 2, Ormet has characterized its load at f i ~ U  

operation as 520 MW at a 99% load faetor; 

NOW, THEREFOM, the Signatory Parties stipulate, agree and recommend that the 

Commission make the following findings and issue its Opinion and Order in these proceedings j, 

accordance with the following: 

1) 

2) 

, 
\ 

. .  

CSP shall be permitted to intervene in this docket. 

Based upon the anticipated acceptance by the Commission of this Stipulation, 

without modification, the Commission should consider the Stipulation as 

presenting a joint petition submitted by CSP, OPCO and SCP under 5 4933.83 

(E), Ohio Rev. Code, which statute. in p-ent part, provides that: 

. 

any two or more elffitic suppliers may jointly petition the 
commission for the realIocation of their own territorh 
and electric load centers among them and designating 
which portions of such temtories and electric load centers 
are to be served by each of the electric suppliers. 

5 



Further, the Commission should find that approval of such joint petition is not 

contrary to the public interest and, therefon, meets the standard of 6 4933.85, 

Ohio Rev. Code, for approval of the joint petition. 

The Commission will reallocate the service tenitoris of CSP and OPCO and SCP 

such that Ormet’s Hannibal facilities will be Located in a joint CSPlOPCO 

certified service territory effective January 1,2007. SCP shall have no obligation 

3) 

to provide electric service to Onnet’s HamibaI facilities prior to 3anumy 1,2007. 

Provided, however, that SCP will retain its service obligation prior to, on, and 

after January 1,2007 with respect to: 

1. Flashing fight and sign for the Ormet Plant on Route 7 to the west of the 

4/6/1998. 

Ormet employee park just to the south of Route 7 and to the east of the 
Ormet Plant (South Central Account No. 846-153-001). Instded 
6/1/1982. 

met Plant (South Central Am& NO. 846-201-006). htd led  

2. 

3. Sign for the Ormet Plant on Route 7 to the east of the Ormet Plant (South 
Central Account No. 846-151-001). Installed 8/1/1965. 

4) As part of this Stipulation, Orma has entered into an electric service contract 

(Contract) which reflects the provisions of this StipuIation.wbich are applicable to 

the Contract. The Contract, a copy of which is attached as Attachent I, shall be 
, 

deemed to have been approved by the Commission as part of the Commission’s 

approval of the Stipuiation. 

Generation, transmission and distribution service will be supplied by AEP Ohio. 

Such service will meet Ormet’s peak demand of approximately 520 MW at a 99% 

5) 

load factor (fidl operation). AEP Ohio’s generation sewbe (which will be 

6 



( - -  

! 

... . .  ., 

supplied one-half(50%) by CSP and mehalf(SO%) by OPCO) will be supplies 

only for consumption at Ormet's M b d ,  Ohio facilities and such power and 

energy win not be resold or transf~med by Ormet, regardless of  any opportunities 

for such transactions. 

This Stipulation will become effective upon approval in a finaI order of the 6) 

Commission. Should the Commission's finaI order be appealed to the SupRme 

Court, or become involved in some other judicial process, tbis Stipulaton and the 

related contract will be suspended for the dtkation of Such appeal or other p r m s  

and/or during any remand to ~e Cormhission. Prior to January 1,2009, Onnet 

shall not Switch to service h m  a Competitive R e a  Electric Senice Provider. 

Ormet cannot initiate any pmceediqg or otherwise petition the Commission or any 

court of competent jurisdiction to require eithex CSP or OPCO, or both, to provide 

generation service under any estabIishedpte schedule of either CSP or OPCO or' 

. .  - .  

at a rate lower than such schedules without the express Written consent of A E P  

Ohio. 

7) ' For the period Jan- 1,2007 through December 31,2008, Onnet will pay $43 

per megawatt-hour for generation sew@. .This price is agreed upon based on 

Omiet's representationifthat after a brief rap-up period i t  will operate at a fhll 

load of approximately 520 M W  a 99% Ioad %tor. In addition, Ormet wilI pay 

tariff rates and all applicable riders to AEP Ohio for &asmission and distn^buton 

service. Such tariffrates and riders will be equivalent t15 OPCo's Schedule GS-4 

for onehalf (50%) of Ormet's load and CSP's Schedule GS-4 for onehalf(50%) 

of Onnet'sload. A list oftbe currently existing tariff rate components and riders, 

.I 

' . 
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and their location in CSP's and OPCO's Commission-approved tasiffs, is attached 

to this StipUtation as Attachment IL In addition, to the extent rqnked by law, 

Ormet will self assess the Ohio kwh tax. 

8)  ' The Contract wiU not be transferable by Ormet to any other party without the 

consent of AEP Ohio. In the event ofa  cbange in contml of Ormet, and assuming 

the continued o p d o n  of the Hanui~al facilties, Ormet agrees that it will 

maintain substantially the same level of operations (approximately 520 MW at a 

99% load factor), employment (approximately 1,000) and local purchasing 

practices (about $15,000,000 to $18,000,000 per year in the Monroe County area). 

Onnet will provide AeP Ohio a deposit equivalent to 1300h of the anticipated 

monthly b s i g  for Ormet's Hannibal facilities at N 1  opemtion. Dtning the 

rampup period which is expected to occur after Ormet reopens its EIannibal 

fwilities, not to exceed six (6) months, Ormet shall provide a deposit equivalent 

to 130% of the anticipated next montb's billing for the HannibaI facilities. The 

generation- and transnission-related portion of the deposit will be refunded to 

Ormet upon Onnet's election to take generation and tmnsmission service &om 

another electric supplier after December 31,2008, provided that Ormet does not 

have any outstanding balance with AEP Ohio. Ormet agrees to b d a t e l y  

reestablish a deposit equivalent to 130% of the anticipafed monthly generation- 

and kinsmission-relakd billing for the Hanniial facilities at 1 1 1  operation should 

Onnet return from such other electric supplier to once again take generation- and 

transmission-reIated service h m  either CSP or OPCO, or both All deposits 

9) 

under this Stipulation sMI be made by Electronic Funds Transfer not Iater than 

8 



five (5) business days before the beginning of the next month. Should Ormet fail 

to provide its deposit in accordance with these terms, Ormet agrees that Amp Ohio 

has the unilateral right to disconnect service to Ormet three (3) days after 

providing written notice of disconnect to Ormet. This provision shall remain in 

effect for so long as Ormet takes any service fbm either CSP or OF‘CO, or both. 

Ormet will prepay, by Electronic Funds Transfer, its monthly bill for genedon, 

transmission, and dkbiiution senice by &g payments three (3) business days 

prior to the start of each month (December 27,2006 for the first service manth of 

Jmuary 2007) and prior to the ISm of each month in an amount equivalent to one- 

half (50%) of the anticipabd billing for that month for the Hannibal facilities. 

Except €or during the rampup period, theanticipated monthly billing will be 

based upon full operation. ShouId Ormet fail to make a payment within two (2) 

business days of when it is due, Ormet agrees that AEP Ohio has the unilateral 

10) 

- 
i.. ‘ 

right tc disconnect senrice to Ormet three (3) days after providing written notice 

of disconnect to Ormet. This provision shall remain in effect for so long as Ormet 

takes any service fbm either CSP or OPCO, or both. 

AEP Ohio will make a SIing prior to the start of 2007 which wiIl set a market rate 11) 

for generation service to Ormet’s M b d  facilities for 2007. AEP Ohio will 

make a filing prior to the start of 2008 which will set a market rate for generation 

sefvice to Ormet’s Hannibal, Ohio facilities for 2008. Such market rate, which 

will be subject to the Commission’s review, shall reflect aIl generation-related 

sentices, including but not limited to the market for capacity, energy (on-peak 

9 



,-&nd off-peak), losses to the metering point and load following to meet the 

re&ements of Ormet’s khmibal facilities. 

For the purpose of compensating AEP Ohio for the dif€emitiaI between s.ervice af 

the -ket . ,  rak by & Ohio’s &gs under Paragraph 1 I and the $43 

per megawatt-hour charge for generation service under Paragraph 7, AEP Ohio 

will be pe.rmitted 

dthout  reducing rates, their Ohio kanchise Tax phase+ut regulatory liability, 

totaling $56,968,000. 

amortize to income, in the amomt of such differential, 

13) In the event that the amortization of the Ohio Franchise Tax phase-out regulatory 

liabitity does not fi~IIy compensate AEP Ohio for the di@ermtial between service 

at the market rate established by AEP Ohio’s filings under Paragraph 11 and the 

$43 per megawatt-hour charge for generation service under Paragraph 7, AEP 

Ohio wi l l  be permitted to recover that differentid under the “Additional 4 %  

provision of the current Rate Stabilization Plan. See Section 3, pages 8 and 9 of 

AEP Ohio’s February 9,2004 application in Commission CaseNo. 04-169-EL- 

UNC. In the event that AEP Ohio recovers the entire differential between service 

at the market rate estabiished by AEP Ohio’s w s  under Paragraph 1 I and the 

$43 per megawatt-hour charge for generation service under Paragraph 7, without 

having to amortize the entire Ohio Franchise Tax phase-out regulatory liabaty, 

AEP Ohio will retain the unamoaized portion on its books and the treatment of 

that balance will be determiued by the Commission in AEP Ohio’s next base rate 

proceediug. AEP Obio’s recovery of the differential through either the 

amortization of the Ohio Franchke Tax phase-out regulatory liability and, if 

10 



.. 

necessary, the “Additional 4%”provision will be accomplished in a manner 

which matches the. projected differential and the recovery in the same accounting 

( ” .  

. .. .. 
period. 

’ ’ 14) ’ In’the event Ormet files a petition for relief under theBankn?ptcy Code or ‘an 

involuntary petition for ’relief under Bankn~p%y Code is filed against Ormet, 

Ormet achowledges and agrees that 

a. The payment arrangement specified in Paragraph 10 above, with payments 

made in advmw of usage will main in effect as specified in this 

S tipdatiox 

Ormet will not file a pleading with the applkable bankruptcy court that 

seeks to l i t  or avoid its obli@on under the deposit or advance payment 

b, 

provisions of this S t i p ~ l & ~ ~  See Paragqhs 9 and 10 above, 

respectively. 

c. Ormet M e r  agrees that in the event of  a bankruptcy AEP Ohio has the 

first claim on my deposit held under this Stipulation for any &ou& 

owed and any future costs to be incurred as result of Ap9 Ohio’s service 

to Ormet. 

In the event that the bankruptcy court does not permit the pmvkions of either 

Paragraph 14 a, b., or e. to be implemented, Ormet wilt provide AEP Ohio, 

within twenty (20) days of  the petition date, with a post-petition security deposit, 

8s adequate assurance under fr 366 ofthe United States BanEovptcy Code (1 1 

U.S.C. § 366), in the amount quivalent to 130% of the anticipated monthly 

biUing for the plant at full operation 

11 



15) All necessary waivers of Commission rules shall be considered granted by the 

Commission’s adoption of this Stipulation. 

16) SCP will withdraw its Notice ofAppeal in Supreme Court Of Ohio Case No. 06- 

1866 &a the Commission adoption of the Stipulation and the latex of the time for 

administrative or appellate review of the Commission’s order adopting the 

Stipuiation has expired or, if such review is pursued, such review is completed 

Upon the Commission’s adoption of the Stipulation, CSP, OPCO and SCP wiU 

submit to the Commission modified temtorid maps consistent with the provisions 

27) 

oflhis Stipdation. 

I ’ 18) . , Si& the Signatory Paities are waiving their rigkts to appeal the factdand legal . ’ ., 

Conclusions contained in the June 14,2006 Opinion and Order, thcy agree to not 

rely on such conclusions in any fi~ture piweeding. M e r ,  the Signatory Parties 

urge the Commission to indicate in its order adop&g this Stipulation that such 

conclusions were &que to the facts and c%cumstanCes in ulis proceeding an& do 

- c 
< 

,’. 

not provide any precedent for any future pro6eeding. 

Nothing in this Stipulation sbaU be used or construed for any purpose to imply, suggest or 

otherwise indicate that the results pmduced through the compromise reflected herein represent 

fuUy the objectives of any Signatory Party. 

No Signatory Party will challenge or directly or hdirectly support any challenge to the 

reasonableness or lawfulness of the provisions of this Stipulalion. 

This Stipulation is submitted for purposes of this proceeding only, and is not deemed 

binding in any other proceeding, except as expressly pmvided herein, nor is it to be offered or 

relied y o n  in any other proceedings, except as necessary to enforce the terms of this Stipulation. 
. 

12 



In fact, noni ofthe Sigriatory parties have submitted the entirety of the case they would have 

otherwise filed or will hle ifthis Stipulation is mjected. 
c- 

The agreement of the Signatory Parties reflwted in this document i s  expressly 
. .  

conditioned T o n  its acceptance in its entirety and without alteration by the kommission. 

The Signatory Parties agree that: 

A. ifthe co&sionrejecp all or any part ofthis stipulation, or o t h d  

materially modifies its tams, any adversely affected Signatory Party shall 

have the right, within thirty (30) days of the Commission's order, either to 

' 

Stipulation by filing a notice with the CommissiOn;. 

if an application for r e h e  is filed, and ifthe Commission does not, on ' . B. 

u n l a m ,  or if any law is enacted which prohibits the continued 

application of any tern of this stipulation, any Signatory Party adversely 

affected by any such judicial de&on or statutory enactment may 

withdraw its support for this Stipulation by sling a notice to that effect 

with the Commission within t13iay (30) days of such judicial decision 

becoming final or such law becoming effective. 

. .  13 
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E a  Signaiory Party pursues any action provided for in parts A, B or C above, a hearing shall go 

forward, and the parties shall be afforded the oppol.tunity to present evidenw through witnesses, 

to cross-examine all witnesses, to present rebuttal testimony, and to iile briefs on all issues and 

pursue all remedies available in a court of competent jurisdiction. 

cr 

The Signatory Parties agree and intend to support the reasonableness and legality of this 

Stipulation before the CommiSsion, and in any appeal h m  the Commission's adoption and/or 

enforcement of this Stipulation. 

14 



.. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Stipulation and Recommendation bas been agreed to as 

of this 20" day o f  October, 2006. The undersigned partiff r e s p d y  request the Commission 

- 1- 

and adopting this St ipWoa  

Ohio Power Company 

d! Q.U 
Columbus Southern Power Company 

\ 

Ornet AI& MU Produc& Corporation 

(. . 

Staff of the Public 
h 0' 

Unitxi Steel, Pber and Fore&, 
Rubber, Manufhcturing, Energy, AUied hdustrial and 
Service Workers htmational Union 

15 



Attachment 1 

This C O n h C t  entered into this - day of October 2006, by and between Colmnbns Southern Power Compam, and Ohio 
POwer Company, herealter called AEP Ohio, and Ormet Primary Ahnuinuu~ CorporatiOn, 1233 Main Street wheclin& West 
Virginia 26003, hereafter called the Customer, ( 
Witnesseth: 

For and in consideration of the mtual covenants and agreemts heretnaffer contained, the paties hereto agree with 
each other as follows: 

AEP Ohio agree3 to furnish to the Chstomer, during the tern of this Contract, and the CLIStomr agrees to take &om 
AEP Ohio, subject to AEP Ohio’s slandard Tern and Conditions of Senice as pgnlarly filed with the Public Utilities 
Commission of Ohio (Cormhsion) and the te.m and conditiom as set for& m the $?dation and Recommendation in Case 
No. OS4 OS7-Et-CsS as approved by the Commission which is anached he to  and hcseby made a pakt of this Contract, all 
ihe electric energy of the chatacter specified herem that shall be purchased by the Customer in the premises lwated at the 
Customer’s Hanniiai, Ohio facilities. In the even! the regnlaily tiled Terns and Conditions of Service condict with the taans 
and conditions set forth in the Stipulation and Recommendalion, the latier terms and conditions will be controlling. 

AEP Ohio is to furnish and the Qstomer is to take electric energy under the terms of this Contract for a period of up 
to 24 months fiom the time such s&ce is commenced and ending at midnight on December 31,2008. The date that service 
shall be d e e d  to have commenced under this Contract shall be the lam of January 1. 2007 or the effective date of tbe 
Stipulation in Csse No. 05-1057-ELCSS. 

Tbc eIccnic energy delivered hereunder shall be altanating cnrtent at a p p m x h d y  138,000 volts, 3-Wire, 3-phase 
and it shall be delivered at the interconnection of AEP Ohio’s two double-circuit 13X-kV steel tower transmission lines wilh 
the Customer’s two doublo-cirmit 138-kV steel towcr transmission hues @e. m Ohio Township, Monroe County, Ohio at 
Tower 39 on double circuit Line #1 and at Tower 38 on double circuit Line #2). which shall constitute the point of delivery 
undcr this contract The said electric energy ShaIl be d e l i v d  at reasonably close mainte~ance to constant potential and 
eequency, and it shall be measured by a meter or meters owned and installed by AEP Ohio and located at the Knmmer 
Substation. 

The Customer‘s cunlracf capaciry is hereby b e l l  rir 520,000 kWkVA. F k g h h g  July i ,  2007, the minlinurn 
billing demand for this Conmct shall be 312,OOO kWkVA. 

There are no unwritten ~ ~ ~ d e m d i n g s  or agreements relating to the s n v i o e  herem above provided This Contract 
shall be in full force and eEect,when si@ by the authorized representatives of the panies k e t o ,  subject to the appruval of 
the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio m Case No. 05-1057-ELCsS. 

The Customer agrees that its electrical facilities shall cot be interconnected with any facilities other thdn AEP Ohio’s 
facilities unIess written authorization is received from AEP Ohio. 

__ ‘. ’ 
Colmbns Southern Power Company 
Ohio Power C o q a n y  

Ormet Primary A l b  Corporation 

By: BY 
(Signahup) (sipnaanr) 

(Printed N m )  (PrintedNm) 
Title: Title: 

Date: Date: 
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BEFORE 

THE PUBLIC uTILUES COMMISSION OF OHIO 

In the Matter of the Complaint of ) 
&met Primary Aluminum Corporation ) 
and Ormet Aluminum Mill Products ) 
Corporation, 1 

1 

) 

) 
) 

Ohio Power Company, 1 
) 

Respondents. ) 

CompMnants, ) Case NO. 05-1057-EL-CSS 

V. 

South Central Power Company and 

S m m A L  OPINION AND ORDER 

The Commission, considering the complaint, the evidence of record, the arguments 
of the parties, and the applicable law, and being otherwise duly advised, hereby issues this 
supplemental opinion and order. 

APPEARANCES: 

&more & Shohl LLP, by John E. S e n t  and Edward T. Depp, 1400 PNC Plaza, 
500 West Jefferson St., Louisville, Kentucky 40202, and Brian S. Sullivan, 255 E. 5th St., Suite 
1900, Cin-ti, Ohio 45202, on behalf of Ormet Primary Aluminum Coiporation and 
Ormet Aluminum Mill Products Corporation. 

Thompson &e LLP, by Robert P. Mone, William R Case, Thomas E. Lodge, Kurt 
P. Helfrich and Carolyn S. Flahive, 10 W. Broad St., Suite 700, Columbus, Ohio 432153435, 
on behalf of South Central Power Company. 

Marvin I. Resnik, American Electric Power Service Corporation, 1 Riverside Plaza, 
29& Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215, on behalf of Ohio Power Company. 

McNees, Wallace & Nurick, LLC, by Samuel C. Randazzo, Lisa G. McAliiter and 
Daniel J. Neilsen, 21 East State Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215, on behalf of Industrial 
Energy Users-Ohio. 

This i s  to certify tbat the h g r s  agwwiag are an 
accurate and c w l e t e  regroduation of a case f i l e  
document delivered in the regular course o bu inese 
r e c h a i c i a n L  Data PrDaesaea i!AL?h 
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Nathaniel Hawthorne, 27600 Chagrin Boulevard, Suite 260, Cleveland, Ohio 44122, 
on behalf of the United Steel, Paper and Forestry, Rubber, Manufacturing, Energy, Allied 
Industrial and Service Workers hternational Union. 

Boehm, Kurtz & Lowery, by David F. Boehm and Michael L. Kurtz, 36 East Seventh Street, 
Suite 1510, Cincinnati, Ohio 45202, on behalf of Ohio Energy Group. 

Jim Petro, Attorney General of the State of Ohio, by Duane W. Luckey, Senior 
Deputy Attorney General, by Thomas W. McNamee and William Wright, Assistant 
Attorneys General, 180 East Broad Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215, on behalf of the staff of 
the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio. 

Janine L. Migden-ostrander, Ohio Consumers' Counsel, by Jeffrey L. Small, 
Assistant Consumers' Counsel, Office of Consumers' Counsel, 10 West Broad Street, 
Columbus, Ohio 43215, 'on behaif of the residential consumers of Columbus Southern 
Power Company and Ohio Power Company. 

OPINION 

I. Historv Of This Proceeding - 
On November 14, 1996, in Case NOS. 96-999-EL-AEC and 96-10OO-ELPi33, the 

Commission approved a joint petition by Ohio Power Company (Ohio Power) and South 
Central Power Company (South Central) to reallocate their service territories such that, 
effective December 31,1999, all of the facilities of Ormet Primary A l d u m  Corporation 
and its affiliates in Hannibal, Ohio (Hamibal Facilities) were reallocated to South Central's 
service territory. In the Finding and Order, the Commission also approved an Interim 
Agreement and a Curtailment and Indemnity Agreement between Ohio Power and Ormet 
Primary AIuminum Corporation. 

In addition, Ormet primary Aluminum Corporation and South Central executed an 
"Ageement for Electric Service," (Service Agreement) which provided for the sale of a 
m u m  of 20 MW of electric power and energy to Ormet Primary Aluminum 
Corporation from South Central (Joint Ex. 1 at 5). Under this arrangement, Ormet would 
obtain the remaining electricity to serve the Hannibal Facilities' load from the market 
(Joint b. 1 at 4). This agreement was amended effective January I, 2004, with the 
execution of the ''Fxst Amendment to and Modification of Agreement for Electric Service" 
(First Amendment) in which South Central and Ormet Primary Aluminum Corporation 
agreed to terminate in total any obligation of Ormet to buy, and of South Central to sell to 
Ormet, electric power and energy (Joint Ex. 1 at 5-6). 

, 

* 
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Subsequent to the execution of the First Amendment, Ormet Primary Aluminum 
Corporation and Onnet Aluminum Mill Produds Corporation (Ormet) filed for Chapter 
11 bankruptcy protection in the Untied States Bankruptcy Court (Joint ’Ex. 1 at 6). On 
January 25,2005, Ormet curtailed operations af the ?3anni%al Facilities. Operations at the 
facilities have not been restarted (Joint Ex. 1 at 7). 

On August 25, 2005, Ormet filed a petition to tramfe.r rights to furnish electric 
service and/or reallocate certified electric service territories, a complaint for inadequate 
service against South CentraI and a complaint for unjust, unrmonable and discriminatory 
proposed rates against Ohio Power. This pleading requests that the Commission: transfer 
South Central’s rights to serve Ormet‘s facilities to Ohio Power or reallocate the service 
territories of Ohio Power and South Central such that all of Ormet‘s facilities are part of 
Ohio Power’s certified territory; and order Ohio Power to serve h e t ,  upon such transfer 
or reallocation, at rates in accordance with Ohio Power’s unbundled standard tariff GS-4 
rate schedule.’ 

Ohio Power and South Central both filed answers to the complaint on 
September 20,2005. In addition, South Central and Ohio Power filed motions to dismiss 
the complaint on September 20,2005. The motions to dismiss were denied by the attorney 
examiner on October 27,2005. 

Section 4933.83@), Revised Code, provides for a two-step process under which: (1) 
the Commission must find that an eledric supplier has failed to provide, or propose to 
provide, physically adequate service and order that such failure be corrected within a 
reasonable time; and (2) if such eledric supplier fails to comply with the Cortunission’s 
order, the Commission may authorize another supplier to serve and shall amend the 
certified territories of the respective electric suppliers. Therefore, on February 14,2006, the 
Commission held an evidentiary hearing to determine whether South Central provided, or 
proposed to provide, physically adequate service to Ormet. 

On June 14, 2006, the Commission issued its Opinion and Order. In the Opinion 
and Order, the Commission determined that South Central did not provide, or propose to 
provide, physically adequafe service and the Commission ordered further hearings in this 
proceeding regarding whether the failure to propose to provide physically adequate 
service had been corrected by South Central and whether the Commission should 
authorize another supplier to serve or shouId order such other remedy authorized by law. 

j 

On July 14, 2006, South Central and Ohio Power each filed applications for 
rehearing. On August 9,2006, the Commission issued its Entry on Rehearing, denying the 
’ h Novanber 29,2005, after the commencement of Case No. 05-1057-ELX3, Ormet filed motions to reopen Case 

Nos. 96-999-EL-AEC and 96lOaO-EGpEB and h, -fer its fadlities back to the Oertised territory of Ohio Power. 
The Commission denied Ormef’s motions to reopen Case Nos. 96-99pmcAEC and 96-1OWELPEB and to transfer 
its facilities back to the certified territory of Ohio Power in its June 14,2006 Opinion and Order. 
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applications for rehearing filed by South Central and Ohio Power. On August 25,2006, 
South Central filed an application for further rehearing, which was denied on 
September 23,2006. 

On October 5,2006, the evidentiary hearing in this matter was held pursuant to the 
Commission’s June 14, 2006, Opinion and Order. However, on October 20, 2006, Ohio 
Power, Columbus Southern Power Company (Columbus Southern Power), Onnet, South 
Central, Ohio Energy Group (OEG), United Steel, Paper and Forestry, Rubber, 
Manufacturing, Energy, Allied Industrial and Service Workers International Union (USW) 
and the Commission Staff filed a stipulation (Stipulation) to resolve all issues in this 
proceeding uoint Ex. 2). The hearing continued on October 26,2006, at which t ime  Ohio 
Power and Columbus Southern Power presented a witness supporting the Stipulation. No 
party to this proceeding opposed the adoption of the Stipulation by the Commission 

E. Summary of the Stipulation. 

The Stipulation was intended by the signatory parties to resolve all outstanding 
issues in t h i s  proceeding. The Stipulation includes, infer a&, the following provisions: 

1) The Stipulation should be considered a8 a joint petition, submitted by Ohio 
Power, Columbus Southern Power, and South Central pursuant to Section 
4933.83, Revised Code, to reallocate the service territories of Ohio Power, 
Columbus Southern Power and South CentraI such that Ormet’s Hannibal 
Facilities will be located in a joint Columbus Southern Power/Ohio Power 
service territory effedive January 1,2007. South Central Power shall have no 
obligation to provide eledric service to the Hannibal Facilities, except that 
South Central Power shall retain its service obligation prior to, on and after 
January 1,2007, with respect to three facilities enumerated in the Stipulation. 

As part of the Stipulation, Ormet has entered into an electric services contract 
with Ohio Power and Columbus Southern Power. The contract will not be 
transferable by Ormet to any other party without the consent of Columbus 
Southern Power and Ohio Power (An> Ohio). 

~ 

2) 

3) Generafion, transmission and distribution service will be supplied by AFP 
Ohio. Such services will meet Ormet‘s peak demand of approxknately 520 
M W  at a 99 percent load factor. AFP Ohio’s generation service will be 
supplied only for consumption at Ormet’s Hannibal Facilities and will not be ’ 
resold or transferred by Ormet. 

Ormet shall not switch to service &om a competitive retail electric service’ 
provider prior to January 1, 2009. Ormet cannot initiate any proceeding to 
require either Columbus Southern Power or Ohio Power, or both, to provide 

. ,  

4) : 

. .  . .  
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.. 

generation service under any established rate schedule of either Columbus 
Southern Power or Ohio Power or at a rate lower than such scheduled 
without the express written consent of AEP Ohio. 

For the period between January 1,2007 and December 31,2008, Ormet will 
pay $43 per megawatt-hour for generation service. In addition, Ormet will 
pay tariff rates and all applicable riders to AEP Ohio for transmission and 
distribution service. Such tariff rates and riders will be equivalent to Ohio 
Power's Schedule GS4 for one-half (50 percent) of Ormet's load and 
Columbus Southern Power's Schedule GS-4 for onehalf (50 percent) of 
Ormet's load. 

Ormet will provide AEP Ohio a deposit equivalent to 130 percent of the 
antiapated monthly billing for the Hannibal Facilities at full operation. 

Onnet w i U  prepay, by electronic funds transfer, its monthly bill for 
generation, transmission and distribution services by making payments three 
business days prior to the start of each month and prior to the 15th of each 
month in an amomt eqnivalent to onehalf (50 percent) of the antiapated 
monthly b&g for that month for the Hannibal Facilities. Should Ormet fail 
to make papen t  within two business days of when it is due, Onnet agrees 
that AEP Ohio shall have the unilateral right to disconnect service to Ormet 
three days after providing written notice of disconnect to Ormet. 

AFP Ohio wiII make a fling, prior to the start of 2007, which wiII set a 
market rate for generation service to Ormet's Hannibal Faalities for 2007. 
F h e r ,  AEP Ohio will make a filing prior to the start of 2008 which will set 
a market rate for generation service to Ormet's Hannibal Facilities for 2008. 
Such market rate should reflect all generation-related services and will be 
subject to the Commission's review. 

For the purpose of compensating AEP Ohio for the differential between 
service at the market rate and the $43 per megawatt-hour charge for 
generation service provided for under the Stipulation, AEP Ohio will be 
permitted to amortize to income, h the amount of such differential, without 
reducing rates, their Ohio Franchise Tax phase-out regulatory liability, 
totaling $56,968,000. 

In the event that the amortization of the Ohio Franchise Tax phaseout 
regulatory liability does not fully compensate AEP Ohio for the differential 
between service at the market rate and the $43 per megawatt-hour charge for 
generation service provided for under the Stipulation, AEP Ohio wiII be 
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permitted to recover that differential under the "Additional 4%" provision of 
the current rate stabilization plan, Case No. 04-169-EL-UNC. 

III. Intervention. 

The Stipulation provides that Columbus Southern Power be permitted to intervene 
in this proceeding. Under the terms of the Stipulation, the Hannibal Facilities would be 
located in a joint Columbus Southern Power/Ohio Power service territory and Columbus 
Southern Power will provide one half of the generation service to the Iknnibal Facilities. 
Therefore, the Commission finds that Columbus Southern Power should be permitted to 
intervene in this proceeding. 

Further, on October 26,2006, the Ohio Consumers Counsel (OCC) filed a motion to 
intervene in the proceeding. No party to the proceeding opposed the motion to intervene. 
In the motion to intervene, OCC notes that a motion to intervene, even when submitted 
out of time, may be granted under "extraordinary circumstances." At the hearing, OCC 
stated that it does not oppose the Stipulation and that its interest in this proceeding lies in 
the implementation of the Stipulation in subsequent proceedings. Therefore, the 
Commissions finds that OCC's intervention wiU not unduly delay proceedings or unjustly 
prejudice any existing party. OCC's motion to intervene should be granted. 

VI. Evaluation of the Stipulation. 

Rule 4901-1-30, Ohio Administrative Code, authorizes parties to Commission 
proceedings to enter into stipulations. Although not binding on the Commission, the 
tenns of such agreements are accorded substantial weight. See Consumers' Coznsel v. Pub. 
Ufil. Comrn., 64 Ohio State M 123,125 (1992), citing Akron v. Pub. Util. Comm., 55 Ohio St. 
2d 155 (1978). This concept i s  parti&Iy valid where the stipdation is supported or 
unopposed by the vast majority of parties in the proceeding in which it is offered. 

The standard of review for considering the reasonableness of a stipulation has been 
discussed in a number of prior Commission proceedings. See, e.g., Dominion Retail z1. 
D q f o n  Power and Light, Case Nos., 03-2405-EGCSS et al., Opinion and Order (February 9, 
2005); Cincinnati Gas U Electrk Co., Case No. 9141QELAIR, Order on Remand (Aprif 14, 
1994); Ohio Edkm Co., Case Nos. 91-69E-EL-FOR et al., Opinion and Order (December 
30,1993); Cleveknd Ele&c nlum. CO., Case No. 88-179-EL-AIl7, Opinion and Order clanuary 
31, 1989). The ultimate issue for our consideration is whether the agreement, which 
embodies considerable time and effort by the signatory parties, is reasonable and should 
be adopted. In considering the reasonableness of a stipulation, the Commission has used 
the following criteria: 

' 

(1) Is the settlement a product of serious bargaining among capable, 
knowledgeable parties? 
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(2) Does the settlement, as apackage, benefit ratepayers and i h e  public interest? 

(3) Does the settlement package violate any important regulatory principle or 
practice? 

The Ohio Supreme Court has endorsed the Commission’s analysis using these criteria to 
resolve issues in a manner economical to ratepayers and public utilities. M u s .  Energy 
Consumers of Ohio Power GI. v. Pub. Util. Comm., 68 Ohio St. 3d 547 (1997)(quoting 
Consumers‘ Counsel, supra, at 126). The Court stated in that case that the Commission may 
piace substantial weight on the terms of a stipulation, even though the stipulation does not 
bind the Commission. 

(1) Is the settlement a product of serious bargaining among . capable, 
knowledeeable . ~ar t ies?  

In considering whether there was serious bargaining among capable and 
knowledgeable parties, the Commission evaluates the level of negotiations that appear to 
have o c m e d  and takes notice of the experience and sophistication of. the negotiating 
parties. In this case, it is dear from the record that all parties, at the time the Stipulation 
was Bed, partiapated in negotiations. The signatory parties routinely participate in 
complex cases before the Commission and are represented by counsel who practice before 
the Commission on a regular basis. Moreover, the signatory parties represent a diversity 
of interests including the utility and industrial consumers as well as the Commission Staff 
(Joint Ex. 2 at 2). Therefore, the Commission finds that the first prong of the test is met by 
the Stipulatiox 

(2) 

The Stipulation fully resolves the complex legal issues raised by Ormet in its 
petition filed on August 25,2005. Further, the record in this case demonstrates that their 
Hannibal Facilities, when fully operating, employ approximately 2,000 people with total 
annual wages of $4B,OOO,OOO and health care benefits costing over $10,000,000 per year. In 
addition, Ormet pays approximately $1,000,000 annually in taxes to Monroe County, Ohio 
and its school district (loint Ex. 2 at 4). These extensive economic benefits can only be 
obtained through the resumption of operations at the Hannibal Facilities, and the 
Stipulation will facilitate the resumption of those operations. Therefore, upon careful 
consideration of the record in this proceeding, the Commission finds that the stipulation, 
as a package, benefits ratepayers and the public interest. 

Does the settlement, as a packape, benefit ratepavers and the public interest? 

. 

/ I  
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o l u m i n i u m  

modest production growth in !he United Slates and western Europe 
In lhe United States and western Euiope, new contracts for the supply of power will aflow 
three smelters with a combined capocily of around 490 000 tonnes lo be restarted in 
2007 However. giowth in aluminium capocity in Euiope and the United States i s  expected 
to be constrained over the medium ! e m  06 relatively higher energy costs and oging tech. 
nology reduce the prolitability of oluminium production. 

new smelters in Iceland, the Russian Federation a n d  the Midd le  East 
Over the medium term, the development of new aluminium capocity will occur laigely in 
countries where companiescan secure long lerm, competitive power tontia~ts. Refiecling 
this. a oumbei of aluminium producers am moving production to areas that hove access to 
relatively low cast eoergy, such os the Russian Fedemlion, iceland ond the Middle E a t .  
A common feature omong these projects is the concusient development of integiated 
electricity generolion facilities. The Russian Federation ond iceiand have considerable 
low cost hydroelectric power sources [icelond olso hos geothermal power] that con be 

aluminium smelting techno logy  

Aluminium is produced by dissolving oiumiw in o m o l i e ~  liquid cryolite soluiio~ (01 oround 
1000"Cl in large sleel fu(noce6 (poisl iined wilh ielioctory bricks and coniaining corbon 
mlhodei and anoder. These fuwoces become electiic ceils wher on etectiic current $ 3  
possed ihiovgh tile ciyolde liom 0 coibon onode (poritive elecliodel loo carbon colhode 
inegolive electrodel. The electdyltc reaction reduces oiumino to aluminium. 

Ihe produclion of olurntcium is exliemeiy energy i~tensive. requiring arourd 15 mego- 
wotti of powei to produce one tonne 01 &minium. Electricity typicolly C~CCOW~S for oround 
o third 01 ihe lot01 cos! of pioducing alurninium..Reflecling ihis, sigrificont reseoich iz being 
conducted IO find methods thot will reduce the use of electricity and hence the morgina 
COPI 01 producing &minium 

use of ionic liquids 
Curie01 production processes require o rvbrfontial omount of elecliicity to enswe lhol the 
tempeiatuie io !he luinoce is high enough to keep the cryoiite In liquid loim. The use of ionic 
liquids moy reduce the omounl of electiicily used in &minium smelting. Ionic liquids 10 lorn 
of molten s d t l  typicolly meli 0 1  tempetaiuier below lOO"C, and os such require o lowel 
temperalure IO iemoic in liquid lorm. I/ ionic liquids con be subslituted lor eiyolile. the energy 
needsof o smeller could be reduced diomaticoliy. Curreni roseaich indicoter thot the use 01 
ionic iiquidr moy reduce the clectricity u r d  in oluminiurn pioduction by 20-30 pei cenl. 

drained cothode cell lechnolegy 
The use 01 eleclricily in Ihe productior of olurninium con oiso be reduced by minimising the 
dislonce between the cathode and Ihe anode in ,he cell. With o smotlei diilonce 10 IICIYBI 
lhiough ihe ciyolile rolviion. eieciricol iesi~turce ond hence energy consumption con be 
(educed. However, if the dirtonce i s  io0 small, !he strong magretic lieldr in the cell ctin 
CQUSC woves io Ihe pool of molten olurninium. If Ihe liquid oluminivm maker COPIOC~ with pn 
onode. i t  can foim o shod &cui1 or cause ihe soIutioo IO reoxidire which reduces oluminivm 
production. Droined cothode cells c m  be used to prevect this problem. 

Dmined cathode cells hove o tilonium diboiide/carbon composite coating. Titanium 
diboride has higheleclricalconduclivity, lowsolubilityin aluminium ond ciyolile ondcao be 
wetled by oluminlum. which avoids the problem of rhoit circuils and reoxidolion Rereoich 
irdicoier tho1 thir technology hos she poleotiai IO increase (he liie of cells ond reduce eiec 
~uvc;ty use by 01 le061 IO per cent. 
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alumino 

3 ,,red to piowde ielaiively low cost base b o d  electricity to plonned odditions lo oluminium 
smeiling copccity. 

in iceland, odditionol copocity is expecled to come lrom Alcoo's Fioidaol smeller 
(344 000 tonnes a yeoi) ond Norduic l i  Grundoitongi smelter exponsion 140 000 
tomes o year) os they romp up to full production ofier scheduled commissioning in mid 
to late 2007 In addition, Alcon's ISAL smelter exponsion 1280 000 tomes a year) is 
expected to be commissioned in 2010, 

In the Russion Federation, aluminium production is expected to increase significontly. 
Rusal, the Russian Federation's largest aluminium producer, has announced plans lo 
iociea5e to101 production to 5 million tonnesof aluminium by 2013 (from 2.7 million tonnes 
in 2005). Rusal's additional capocity is expected to come Isom upgrodes lo existing 
imelteis ond the commissioning of new smellers in the Kiosnoyarsk ond lrkuisk regions 
[both 600 000 lonnes o yeor) in 2 0 0 9  and 2010 respectively. 

The Middle East is also expected to contribute significantly to growth in aluminium 
c a p a c q  ovei the outlook peiiod. The region hosobundant, relatively low cost natural gas 
and oil resources that locilitote the development of electricity generation facilities thot are 
integioted with new smelter projects. One example is Mo'oden's Az Zobiroh Aluminium 
Pioiect 1620 000 tonnes o yeoil in Soudi Aiobio thot is being developed concurrently 
with on oil k e d  1800 megawatt power starion. 

In 2006, the Middle Eost accounted for on estimoted 6 per cent of  world aluminium 
production. Over the medium term, combined new capacity approaching 3 million tomes 
(see toble) i s  expected lo be commissioned. increasing the regionishare olworld produc- 
tion copocity to around 8 per cent in 2012. 

I 
projects to be commissioned in the Middle Eort over the outlook period 

.,.. ~ ,_.........____I_._______._,-_-_.--- 

O""Y(1t 

company . copo'cily 

Oil Company 1onner 
Atcon. Omon 350000 

and Ab" Ohobi 
Wori ood Elec!riciy 
Aaihomy 

Hydio Al~w-inivm 570 000 
andOator l0"l)BS 

Pe,roleum 

Dubai Aluniinivm 700 000 
ond I4ubodala :onnes 
Dr"eto"men Cornpory' 

Maadeo 020000 
tonne$ 

IrOko 130000 
:onner 

1104 olhw 

2008 rhe rmslferviill hovetongiermaccers 
80 01 dedicoted w& oieiectiicily 
through iheronrirvciion oionew 
too0 MW power ptont. with paieniiai 
lor o second phose expaniion to 
dovblc capacity 

tote the meiier will have 0 dedcated 901 
2009 p o w <  pion) wilh on inrroiled copocity 

01 1350 MW 

phose t iheprajeciwilt hove aninitiol capacity 
2010 oi7000001onrer. with :he pocenw 

$0 double copocily 

2010 power. stem and desaltnolad w o w  
wdliie provided bya 1800 MWail 
hied power miion 

addi-ion 01 number 0 poliine will be 
poc~~otty oiiie- by >be iioiwe of !he I:ZSI 
ihiee poiiiner ine'chonge 01 00000 
tonned 

2008 
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a l u m i n a  

Australia's expo i t  earnings io ease over the medium ierm 
Ausirolio's production 01 oluminium is  foiecosi to be liiile chonged in 2006-07 os no new 
smelting capociiy is enpecied io come on line. However, the value 01 aluminium exports is 
lorecost lo increme by 15 per ceriito $5.5 billion in 2006-07. iellecting increased expoii 
volumes and piices. 

Over the medium ieim, there are no commiited expansions to Avdralio's aluminium 
pioducrion capacity. Siiidies are curienily being conducted into the construciion o f 0  fourih 
poiline 01 both the Parilond smeller in Vicioiio ond ihe Kuiri Kurd smeller io New Sovih 
Woler. In oddiiion, Rusol is considesing the construction of o new smelter in Queensland 
[with o dedicated power 5iotion). Howevei, Papuo New Guinea has emerged os a poieo. 
iiill compeiiior io Ausirolia for ihe coniiruction of ihe new smelter, portly because 01 iis 
abundant reserves 01 naiural gas and ihe poieniiol for the developmeni ol hydropower. 
In 201 1-12, export earnings in real terms [2006.07 dollars) are proiecied to decline by 
oround o third from their 2006.07!evel io $3.7 billion, lorgelybecouse of expecied lower 
export prices. 

alumina 

. katc pennny 

After reaching o high of US$650 i) tonne in eody 2006, spol olomina prices declined 
sharply to mound US$200 a tonne in December 2006 os ihe fight global demand- 
supply situation eased. increosed woild production of alumina jpoiiicularly in China, 
Austrolia ond Brazil) confribuled substontioily to meeiing the burgeoning demand in Chino 
in poriicular. For 2006 as a whole, the spoi alumina piice declined by on estimoied 2 per 
ceni io aveioge US$435 a tonne. 

In 2007. the alumino spot piice is foiecosf io overage US$236 o ioone, oiound holf 
what ii was in 2006. The lower prices refleci fhe effects of higher production in Chino. 
indio and Greece. In China, expansions oi Chalco's Pingguo ielinery [of 800 000 ionner 
a yeoil, Guizhou refinery 1400 000 ionnes a yeotl and Coalmine Alumina Sanmexia 
Cornpony's refinery 11.2 million tomes a yeoil ore expected to be completed by mid. 
2007. In oddition. expansions 01 Mytilineos Holding's Disfomo relineiy [of 275 000 
ionnes CI year) in Greece and Hindolca's Muri alumina relineiy [of 290 000 tonnes) in 
indio m e  olso expected io be commissioned in 2002 

Declining spot ond conitoct oiumino prices hove forced CI numbei o i  refineries (a shut. 
down or reconsider expansion plans lthoi weie mode when prices ye ie  considerably 
higher). For example, Oimer's Burnside alumine refinery (800 000 lonnis a yeoi) in the 
United Siotei and Alcoa's Poinl Comfoort alumina refinery 12.3 million tonnes a year), also 
in the Uniied Sioies, commenced closure ai ihe end 01 2006, An overage olumina ielinery 
requires on Qlumino piice of around US$230-240 o tonne lo cover operating cosis. Any 
further capaciiy  closure^ will lend to limit ihe decline of spoi alumina prices. 

Ovei ihe iemoindeiofthe projeciion peitod. growih in demondforalwnina isexpecied 
to iemain sirong, reileciing exponsions IO aluminium smelting copocity. in iespanse. olumina 
capaciiy expansions me expecied to occur in Brazil, Chino. Guinea and Aurtialio. 
However, with piices projected io cemain close io piaduciion costs in the nexi few yeors, 
some iefineiies moy close higher cost copociiy 01 deloy expansion plans. 

Rellecting these developmenis, spot aliimino prices ore projecied to inciease mode,. 
ately iowoid ihe end of ihe ouilook period, but remain below piicer in 2005 and 2006. 

w s t r o i i m  commodifies > (jo~. 14 I quovie, xm 138 



alumina 

in 2012, spot olumino prices in real terms (2007 dollorsl ore lorecart tooverage US$212 
o tonne. less than halfwhat theyweie in 2006. 

output of alumina to increase in Australia 
Amtiolio's olumino production is lorecast to inciease by 6 per cent lo oiound 19 million 
tonnes in 2006-07. driven loigely by the expected completion of the Gove iefinery expan. 
sion [of 1.8 million tonnesj in the Northern Territory. In 2006-07. Australia's export earn. 
ings are lorecost to inciease by 22 per cent to oround $6.4 billion, driven lorgely by 
higher enpoit volumes, 

Further exponsioni IO Austrolia's alumina ielining capocity ore expected over the 
medium leim. BHP Billiton's Woriley Efliciency ond Growth pioject /an expansion of 
700 000 lonnesj in Western Avsliolia is expected lo begin production in 2010. in oddi- 
tion. CHALCO is considering constructing a 2.1 million lonne refinery io 201 I ot on unde- 
termined location in north Queeniland to process bauxite Itom the Auiukun mine. Wiih 
limited giowth in Austiolioi aluminium production copocity over Ihe outlook period, it is 
expected thot the majority of the projected increase in olumino output will be exported. 
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DJ UPDATE:Rio:China Aluminum Smelter Expansions Seen 
Constrained 

Last Update: 7:Ol AM ETAug 2, 2007 . .,. . 

LONDON, Aug 02,2007 (Dow Jones Commodities News via Comtex) - 
(Updates an item timed at 0946 GMT with additional company comment.) 

Aluminum smelter expansions in China are iikely to be constrained by a lack of 
surplus capacity as well as tight raw materials and power supplies, Rio Tinto 
PLC (RIO.LN) Chief Executive Tom Albanese said Thursday. 

"It's no longer clear that China can add smelting capacity in 2007 as it did in 
2004," he told an analysts conference call for the company's interim results. 

Noting that China's growth in aluminum smelting capacity over the last several 
years has been absorbed by strong demand, Albanese said consumption is 
consensually pegged at 30% a year in 2007 and an average 15% for the next 
five years. "China's (aluminum smelting) capacity utilization rate is running at 
90%, so there's little surplus lefl in the system," he said. 

Around 60% of China's raw material needs are imported, Albanese said, either 
through direct imports of alumina or the import of mined bauxite. which is refined 
into alumina. 

"China has limited bauxite supplies ... and is reliant on imports, particulariy from 
Indonesia," Albanese said, although he noted issues with sustainability of this 

~ 

supply. 

With a backdrop of marginal electricity prices as the country's demand for power 
rises and less is being consumed by more, Albanese said "marginal aluminum 
smelting costs might rise." He said Chinese production costs support current 
aluminum prices. 

"When smelting hits head on with industrialization. you find that urbanization's 
use of power pushes smelters away," Albanese said. This creates "more and 
more of a shift away from incentive pricing." and tests marginal costs against the 
London Metal Exchange price, he said. 

Albanese said stranded power sources are the key to aluminum smelting and 
said there are very fow available globally. 

Russia has very' strong stranded power supplies, but ihe lack of available local 

[ 

http://www.marketwatch.comlnews/storyidj-updatenochina-aluminum-smelter-exp~sions ... 8/15/2007 
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bauxite and alumina has an impact on marginal costs, 

The Gulf region of the Middle East is also a key area for "stranded gas," and 
both Rio Tinto and Alcan are already "chasing after that," Albanese said. "We 
hope to be a bigger part of that in the future," although there is regional 
competition in the Gulf for liquified natural gas, he said. 

"Stranded power will be clearer in the future rather than available," he added 

Rio's exposure to aluminum will total soma 25% of its earnings once its proposed 
deal to buy Canada's Alcan Inc (AL) is complete. Rio Tinto currently has 
aluminum operations in Australia, New Zealand. Sardinia and the U.K. 

-By Andrea Hotter, Dow Jones Newswires; +44 (0)20 7842 9413; 
andrea.hoIter@dowjones.com 

Order free Annual Report for Rio Tinto PLC 

Visit http:/ldjnweurope.ar.wilink.com/?ticker=GBOOO7188757 or call +44 (0)ZOE 
391 6028 

(END) Dow Jones Newswires 

08-02-07 0700ET 

Copyright (c) 2007 Dow Jones & Company, Inc. 
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general resistance to so-called ”globalization”, 
meaning in the minds of classical economists 

resistance to wealth creation through optimization 
of resources and markets according to the eternal 

dogma of the Market‘s “Invisible Hand”, happens 
not because the world opinion is really turning 
against Adam Smith’s famous theories, but 
because so-called “Capitalism” is seen as 
degenerating into ”Stock-Optionism”. Stock- 

Optionism being the system creating a link 

between the shutdown of a faraway plant, the 

anticipated cost reduction supposedly resulting of 
it, the anticipated increase in profits, and the 
anticipated increase in stock prices, this in turn 
benefiting insider trading and stock option holders 
who can cash in now on these cumulated 

anticipations. This link has a name: the strategy 
aiming at stockholders’ value creation as a goal in 
itself, instead of as a consequence of a successful 
competitive strategy. Whatever can be your 
opinion about Stock-Optionism, it triggered a 
resistance to Globalization which impacted on 
investments in energy capacity whether new 

capacity or refurbishing. 

Energy prices had to go up first to force public 
opinions to concentrate on the real issues and 
approve the following measures: 

0 <!-[if !supportLists]--> <!--[endifl-->The world 

economy needs to keep growing if underdeveloped 
countries will achieve a decent living standard; this 

means more energy generation. 

<!-[if !supportLists]-> <!--[endifj-->Growth can be 

http://enalnewsletter.comieditorials/2OO~/O7/unce~ainties-in-world-of-aluminum. html 811 7/2007 



sustained with a more optimal use of energy; 
various energy savings measures will be 

encouraged. Energy consumption per capita, today 
of 20-50 GigaJoulesNear in developing countries, 
of 150-200 in Europe and of 350 in North America, 

should progress to around 150GJ throughout the 
world. Even such modest goals mean a total 
generation capacity multiplied by about 4 in 2050. 

<!--[if !supportLists]--> <!-[endifl-->ThermaI and 

nuclear power plants will supply the bulk of new 
capacity during the next 30 years; 

. <!--[if !supportLists]--r <!--[endifj-> CO2 emissions 

do impact on global warming, and they must be 
controlled, eventually eliminated; this will trigger 

higher energy costs. World emissions reached 7.8 
Gigatonnes of carbon in 2002. If nothing is done 

they will reach 12 Gt by 2030 which may not yet 
provoke major climate changes, but would mean 
that unavoidable future growth will lead to such a 

situation. A reasonable plan in the context of the 
Kyoto Protocol aims at a peak of 11.5 by 2025, then 
a downtrend leading to a figure of 9 Gt by 2050. 
Massive reforestation will be pursued, which will 
both help solve the CO2 problem (trees and some 

high-fiber plants consume C02 to generate 
cellulose through the chlorophyllian conversion), 

help the pulp & paper industry and reclaim soil in 
arid lands. 

<!--[if !supportLists]-> <!--[endifj->Natural gas, a 
noble form of energy that can be and is more and 
more used as motor fuel as well, generates half less 
CO2 than coal. It is getting cheaper to ship. It will be 

http://enalnewsletter.com/editoriais/2006/07/unce~a~ties-in-wor1d-of-~~inum.h~~ 8/17/2007 



favored, but for these very reasons its market prices 
will increase further. 

<!-[if !supportLists]--> <!-[endifl-->The share of 

electrical energy in total energy consumed by 
industry and consumers has been growing and will 
continue to grow, from 18% in 2002 to around 50% 

in 2050: 

<!--[if !supportLists]--> <!--[endifl-->Renewable 
energies (wind, solar, biomass, photovoltaic, others) 
will take a bigger share in capacity (perhaps 50% in 
2050) but conventional energies will keep growing 

in capacity in absolute terms if only to reach the 
above goals. They will all represent high-cost 

energy, even when subsidized; not suitable for 
aluminum smelting. 

<!--[if !supportLists]--> Consumers and industry 
must prepare for generally higher energy prices. .. 

On top of that, political considerations impact on 

energy markets: The Middle-East is part of the 
Arab World, considered more and more as hostile 

to the United States, to other "Anglo-Saxon" 
countries and to many European countries. It also 
controls some 40% of world oil production, which 

in theory constitutes a political risk. War situations 
in the Middle East have, since 1948 onwards, put 

growing pressure on oil availability and prices. 
There is a stronger incentive for the US, and also 

for Japan and Europe, to encourage self 
sufficiency in energy generation. 

Aluminum producers must adapt therefore, not 
only to a general increase of energy prices and to 
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a gradual vanishing of “Power Islands” offering 
excess energy at discounted prices, but also to a 

higher differential between long term energy 
costs and energy prices. 

However since aluminum prices and demand are 

increasing, all this should constitute a generally 
favorable context for aluminum investment. And it 
is. Yet, one can wonder why so many large 

greenfields keep being delayed. One can also 

wonder why supposedly obsolete Soderbergs are 
now revamped and extended, when everyone 

knows that they pollute more and they are less 
efficient; and why many older, smaller prebakes do 

the same. 

i 

Reasons are: 

<!--[if !supportLists]-->a) The bigger the 

greenfield, the bigger is the IO-year energy 
contract to negotiate. Energy suppliers do 

not have excess capacity anymore. They 
prefer smaller contracts, easier to handle in 
case of big shifts in demand. 

<!--[if !supportLists]-->b) The bigger the 
greenfield, the more it will be dependent on 

export sales to faraway destinations of 
ingots, billets or sows. Also bigger will be 
the energy lost in casting, then shipping and 
remelting the metal. That factor was 
negligible when energy costs were low. 
Now it is not. 

<!--[if !supportLists]-->c) <!--[endif)--> The 
bigger the greenfield, the higher is the risk 



of capital cost over run. 

<!-[if !supportLists]-->d) Capital costs per tpy in 
a revamping or extension are roughly half 
the ones in any greenfield. 

<!--[if !supportLists]-->e) <!--[endif]--> There are 
more and more opportunities for an older, 

smaller smelter, to invest in the casthouse 
to move into high added value semi- 
products for a local market. 

<!--[if !supportLists]-->f) Shifting to Lithium 
Bath, thus increasing conductivity and 

reducing temperature, means often the 
fastest way to increase the bottom line for a 
minimal investment. 
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INTRODUCTION 
European Aluminium - A rurtainable industry for future generations 
In 2002 the European Aluminium Association (EAA) and its member companier embarked on a pioneering 
joutoey towards mearuring sustainability. Through the Aluminium for Future Generations programme the 
European Aluminium Industry, iws partners the Wuppertal Institute for Climate. Environment & Energy; Veriaiiier 
University and an additional peer group of inteinal and extemal siakeholderr developed 34 mearurable 
Sustainable Development Indicatos (SDI) to be systematically tracked and transparently reported by the 
European aluminium industry. 

Decoupling growth from environmental and Social impact is the driving principle behind a succersfui sustainable 
development Strategy. Progress needs to be benchmarked against a clear and realistic perception of the internal 
and external business rcality, Reliable measurement i i  ersential to guarantee continued monitoiing. careful 
evaluation. committed implementation and tangible resuhr. These are the cornwrtone principles behind the 
European aluminium industry's SDI mp011. 

The first reporl war issued in 2004 and showed an industry that had significantly improved since 1997, The data 
clearly showed a committed industry making good progress towards our target of becoming a more runainable 
industry. This 2006 report, i s  the European aluminium industry's second benchmarking exercise and the data 
show further improvements. such as emissions down. natuial resource use down. worker safety up, recycling 
rates up, worker training up. 

This pragmatic and transparent approach has been key in encouraging all levels of the European Aluminium 
industry, from large integrated companies to mail and medium sired companies. to become involved in the 
WWey. 

In 2007. the industry will be asking its rtakehoiders ior hanest feedback on Ihe progress. the process and the 
future pathway towards Sustainability for the European aluminium indurtry. As the industry's Mission Statement 
outlines. iontinuou$ improvement is the aim. input from dakeholderr will be activeiy encouraoed to ensure we 
continue to implement best practices and report the rewits accurately and tranrparently. 

01 come  it is important to consider the European aluminium industry within the larger context. lo see the big 
picture and not only facur on the regional sitmtion. For this rearon we also include the competitivenerr of the 
aluminium industry to enable readerr to evaluate the aluminium industry's situation tn Europe in relation to other 
regions. 

Sustainability is more than just an initiative it is a philosophy that runs right through the industry influencing 
every activity and decision. The European Aluminium industry is committed to this philosophy and committed to 
continuous improvement on the pathway to ruitainabilily. 
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Aluminium Smelters Cost Report 

AME's Aluminium Smelter Costs report examines and analyses the cost 
structures of 182 smelters worldwide. Costs in 2004 were well above 
industry trends, due mainly to a spike in alumina prices affecting 
particularly those plants that rely on the spot market. These high 
feedstock prices were ultimately the result of unexpectedly rapid 
economic growth in China, a phenomenon that also had its impact on 
some of the other drivers of smelting cost, parlicularly energy, coke and 
alumina shipping prices. 

Around the world older-style Ssderberg anode technology is 
progressively being replaced by the use of prebaked anodes. This 
historic change is demanded to improve the working environment and 
reduce emissions. But there are positive cash cost benefits because the 
changeover is usually accomplished with a plant expansion, more 
efficient cells and labour savings. 

In recent years, new power supply contracts that deliver less electricity at 
considerably higher prices have threatened the continued viability of 
those United States smelters that survived the 2000-01 Pacific North- 
West power crisis. The devaluation of the US dollar against the 
currencies of many competing countries has now thrown a lifeiine to the 
US smelting industry. 

The past two years have seen a tug-of-war over the pace of smelter 
development in China On one side, provincial governments and wealthy 
entrepreneurs are promoting new smelting projects to capture the 
country's enormous appetite for aluminium. But the central government 
is desperate to control the pace of investment, wary not only of the 
potential waste of capital, but also of the limitations that flow from the 
country's shortages of the two essential ingiedients, alumina and 
electricity. The reporl includes analysis of 53 major Chinese smelters 
and projects. Many of the proposed new plants are associated with the 
forced closure of small inefficient smelters, but if all were to proceed, 
the voracious Chinese Dragon would be afflicted by severe indigestion 
with repercussions throughout the global industry. 

Aluminium Cost Trends 
19Y9 - 2009 
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BODY: 

Most mirrors are glass, sprayed with a coating of aluminium ~ a fitting reminder to investors contemplating the 
London listing of Rusal, pencilled in for November, to take a good long look at themselves fust. The Russian company 
is the world's biggest producer of aluminium, with an estimated equity value of Dollars 30bn. Even offering just 25 per 
cent of the company would make it one of the largest POs of the yeas. 

It is commendable that Rusal is gunning for a full listing on the London Stock Exchange - Russian companies often 
prefer issuing global depositary receipts, which require them to jump through fewer hoops. But shareholder comfort on 
corporate governance must be matched by confidence that prices for aluminium will stay strong. The price has doubled 
since 2003, but an inability to break through Dollars 3,000 a tonne this year reflects concerns that conditions may be ___ deteriorating. 

High prices have meant that inefftcient producers are keeping their smelters running, particularly in China, which 
now represents about 40 per cent of global production. Neither rising input costs nor export taxes have prevented 
China's rampant production from overflowing abroad. Only a domestic slowdown, it seems, might moderate production, 
But signs that the "China story" was softening would bit all commodity prices bard. 

erating in developing economies due to the strong conelation between a countryk wealth and its use of aluminium. 
China and India, which combined are expected to account for about 30 per cent of consumption by 2010, have output 
per capita less than a sixth that of developed countries. In addition, prices of substitute metals such as copper and zinc 
have risen taster than aluminium over the past five years. That also spurs demand, although the situation could quickly 
reverse. 

All well and good, but Rusal's challenge will be to persuade investors that even the most optimistic outlook is not 

Bulls, however, reckon demand for aluminium will swamp short:term womes over supply. Consumption is accel- 

c 
already discounted in the aluminium price. 
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China giveth and China taketh away. That certainly resonates with those taking a punt on aluminium. The metals 
market is focused on one huge long position built up recently. It is thought to be equivalent to between 50 and 80 per 
cent of all the aluminium sitting in London Metal Exchange's warehouses, just over 800,000 tonnes. There is also an 
unusually large number of March 2007 aluminium calls at strike prices of Dollars 3,000 a tonne or more outstanding. 

Yet in spite of several nms UP towards Dollars 3,000, spot aluminium has not breached that level and now sits at t- I Icjs than Uoilars 2,800. 'The squrcze means e w i  high-cost producers can keep thrir srnclters m i n & a n d  metal has 
c been f.ooding into LME warehouses, with inventories rising by almost 70,000 tomes in the past month alone. Producer 

stocks, held outside the LME, have also seen a big increase across the world. 

high energy prices would crimp Chinese production has proved unfounded. China continues to export aluminium. In 
January, the country imported more than 1.6m tonnes of critical raw materialbauxite - more than five times the amount 
landed in January 2006. Beijing's efforts to cnrh mmpant production offer little comfort. Export taxes have so far proved 
ineffective. China now accounts for more than 40 per cent of global aluminium production. If taxes did lead to lower 
output, world prices would rise, incentivising Chinese producers to export regardless. Yet if the authorities did manage 
to slow the economy's expansion, that would hit all manner of risky asset classes, with commodities in the front line. 

Commodities hulls have long trumpeted the fact that China is simply too big to ignore, but its impact is not a one- 

__ 
The hopes and fears of aluminium traders largely rest on China. The view that tight supplies of raw materials and 

way street. 
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Alcoa's hostile Dollars 33bn bid for Alcan is the latest step in the rapid consolidation of the aluminium sector. 

If the audacious hid is successful, it will form a company almost twice as big as its nearest rival and the aluminium 
industry's equivalent of steel giant Arcelor Mittal. 

But it is by no means a done deal. In spite of talking to Alcoa intermittently for two years about a possible tie-up, 
Alcan has resisted a deal and Alcoa has been forced to go hostile. 

Alain Belda, Alcoa's chairman and chief executive, said yesterday the talks got as far as discussing the name of the 
new company and its management structure, but then broke down Alcan said yesterday it would consider Alcoa's offer 
but shareholders should "defer making any decision". 

The hostile nature of the bid raises the possibility that another metals group, such as BHP Billiton or Rio Tinto, 
could step in as a white knight. 

There are also antitmst issues. The aluminium industry is already very concentrated, and a combination of Alcoa 
and Alcan would have a skanglehold on certain markets, such as supply of specialised aluminium to the aerospace sec- 
tor. 

~ 

Analysts yesterday interpreted Alcoa's bid as defensive and said the group was a candidate for a takeover. 

Alcoa's stock has underperformed peers for some time. There has been intense speculation that BHP, Rio Tinto, or 

Last month, Alcoa put its packaging and consumer divisions up for sale and said it would refocus on its core metals 

The deal also reflects increasing competition *om Russia. Last year, Rusal, the privately owned Russian aluminium 

even private equity buyers intended to launcha bid. 

operations in an attempt to boost its share price. 

group controlled by Oleg Deripaska, declared a takeover of smaller Russian aluminium producer Sua1 and the alumin- 
ium assets of Glencore, Swiss commodities trader. 

sider ways to recover its crown. 

188,000 employees; annual revenues of Dollars 54bn; and capacity to produce 7.Xm tomes of aluminium and 21.5m 
metric tons of alumina, the raw material for aluminium, each year. 

Rusal has now overtaken Alcoa as the world's largest producer of aiminium, It is not surprising Alcoa would con- 

Alcoa said yesterday the deal would give annual & savings of about Dollars Ibn. The enlarged Alcoa would have 
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Alex Gorbansky, managing director at Frontier Strategy Group, said the combination of Alcoa and Alcan would 
give the group more negotiating power when talking to governments about new e projects, especially the Middle 
East - a fast-growing hub of the aluminium industry thanks to its cheap energy supplies. 

term, low-& supplies of electricity, as the production process requires great energy. 

est companies, for example Alcan's 2003 takeover ofPechiney of France. 

which have risen sharply on strong demand ffom China and India. 

consolidation. Shares in Norsk Hydro, Norwegian aluminium group, reached an historic high yesterday. Analysts 
pointed out, however, that the Norwegian government's 44 per cent stake in the companymight make it difficult to take 
over. 

LOAD-DATE May 7,2007 

Aluminium smelters are multi-billion dollar investments and their future profitability depends on securing long- 

That means size is important in the industry. The last decade has seen many smaller players snapped up by the larg- 

Mr Gorbansky added that the deal reflects optimism on the part of Alcoa about the outlook for alumininm prices, 

Excitement about Alcoa's bid prompled traders to ask which aluminium companies might be caught up in further 

i: 
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have been at the forefront of the sector, accounting for most of production and doing most of the deais. 

can's takeover of Pechiney of France in 2003, which gave it a leading position in smelter technology. 

The geography of the aluminium industry is shifting. For decades companies in western Europe and North America 

Alcoa'of the US and Alcan of Canada have been dominant in the industry for years, and this was reinforced by Al- 

But the aluminium industry is increasingly looking east. 

China has risen to be the largest aluminium producer in the world, as it has done in steel, from being the fowth- ___ 
largest producer 10 years ago. This rise has taken place against a backdrop of rapid expansion in the global aluminium 
industry, making China's growth even more impressive. 

to 3.6m tomes for the US - then world number one. For this year, China is expected to produce 9.3m tomes of alumin- 
ium, while the US, which has slipped to fourth place, will produce only 2.3m tonnes. 

US companies are still important, but they are rapidly closing down their US smelters in favour of international ex- 
pansion. While Alcoa produced 3.7311 tomes of metal last year, more than Im tomes came from its smelters outside the 
US, in countries including Canada, Brazil and Australia. 

According to CRU Analysis, the metals consultancy, China produced 1.Sm tomes of aluminium in 1996, compared 

In corporate terms, the focus of the aluminium market is also shifting eastwards. 

Rusal and Sual of Russia had been making noises ahout their global ambitions and pipelines of expansion projects 
for a couple of years, but last month the companies made their most decisive move yet. Sua1 agreed to be taken over by 
Rusal, its larger rival, to form United Company Rusal, the world's largest aluminium producer. 

The negotiations for the deal between Russian oligarchs Oleg Deripaska, who owns Rusal, and Viktor Vekselberg, 
who owns Sual, were long-winded and opaque. The two sides had talked before, and had failed to agree. 

But the industrial logic for Russian aluminium consolidation was strong, and the fact that Vladimir Putin, Russia's 
presidcnt, had blessed the combination meant that this time the two businessmen came to an agreement. 

Rusal and Sual together produced 3.8m tomes of aluminium in 2005, putting them only slightly ahead of Alcoa. 
The Russian companies have an impressive pipeline of new smelter projects, however, which could put more space be- 
tween them and their competitors in the future. 

the fall of the Soviet Union. It is working on plans for a new smelter at Boguchansk, near Krasnoyarsk in Siberia. which 
could have a capacity of up to 600,000 tomes per year. 

c 
Rusal is soon to open its new Khakassia smelter in southern Siberia, the first smelter to be opened in Russia since 
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Rusal has also talked ahout teaming up with Rosatom, Russia's nuclear power organisation, to help build a new nu- 
clear plant in the far east of Russia. The company would build an aluminium smelter nearby, and then export the metal 
from one of Russia's eastern polts to customers in Asia. 

One concern that aluminium producers have outside Russia ahout the Rusal takeover of Sua1 is that the creation of 
such a dominant national champion will make it harder for foreign groups to break into the Russian mark$ "You could 
envisage that other players will not have access to any Russian projects," says Torstein Dale SjA[#xl92]A,tveif. vice- 
president of aluminium metal at Hydro Aluminium of Norway. 

Whether there is a future for aluminium production in the western world is a question that many in the industry are 
currently asking. Smelting aluminium is very energy-intensive and higher energy costs have been one the main factors 
driving aluminium prices up over the last few years. If producers cannot negotiate low-cost electricity supply contracts 
at home, they will move production to a region of the world blessed with abundant energy resources. 

The decline of the US as an aluminiumsproducing nation, along with many in western Europe, reflects the fact that 
new capacity is being built in regions with lower energy costs, such as the Middle East and Russia. I 

Hydro has closed down two of its Norwegian smelters over the last 12 months, as they were not competitive, while 
Alcan has closed a Swiss smelter and plans to close a French plant next year. 

Alcan said in recent weeks that it was reviewing the future of its 200,000 tome-a-year Vlissingen plant in the Neth- 
erlands after two years of 

talks with the energy supplier over a new supply contract failed to yield the desired result. Vlissingen's current en- 
ergy contract ends next year. 

MI Sj.&[#xl92].&,tveit at Hydro says high metals prices, plus a drop in the price of alumina, a raw material for alu- 
minium, "is keeping some smelters going for longer than expected". But he thinks that the shift away from North Amer- 
ica and Western Europe is irreversible. 

"In the future you will not find big smelters in highly populated places with high energy prices," he says. "The loca- 
tion of smelters will move further away from the consumer." This has implications for the transportation of aluminium, 
adds Mr SjA[#xlBZ]&tveit, and may mean more smelters are built close to ports, to ease import of raw materials and 
the export of finished metal. 

Canada is one western country that seems to have a healthy aluminium industry, thanks to its hydroelectric power 
supplies. In I996 it  produced 2.3m 10tme~ of aluminium) and this year its output is predicted to be 3m tomes. 

Alcan plans to spend USDollars 1.8bn on expanding its Kitimat smelter in British Columbia by 63 per cent to pro- 
duce 400,000 tomes a year. The group says that, after the expansion, Kitimat will he one of the world's lowest cost 
smelters. 

Wherever the metal will he produced, it is clear that there will be more of it around. "Growth in global aluminium 
production is set to hit a record 2.7m tomes next year as new capacity comes on stream in Russia, China and Iceland, 
while (smelter) restarts take effect in Oermany, the US and China," says Ross Strachan, a consultant from CRU Analy- 
sis. 

Demand for aluminium is also forecast to remain robust, which should suppon a high metal price. Aluminium cur- 
rently costs just under Dollars 2,800 a totme, compared to Dollars 2,000 a tonne 12 months ago, and analysts have pre- 
dicted that this will fall only slightly in 2007. 

The key areas of demand for aluminium are from the aerospace, automotive, construction and packaging industries. 

Alcan says that demand overall is likely to slow in North America, but is still "quite strong". Europe has demon- 
strated surprisingly strong demand, but Alcan has found this mainly coming from eastern Europe, where the construc- 
tion and consumer goods industries are booming. 

There has has been a shortage of around 300,000 tomes of aluminium in the global market this year, one of the rea- 
sons that the price has risen so much, touching a peak of Dollars 3,300 a tome in May. 

Dick Evans, chief executive of Alcan, says: *'Supply and demand will he approximately in balance in 2007." He 
says the fall in alumina prices and the grounh in metal supply will depress prices slightly, hut the market will be less 
cyclical than it has been in the past. "Our mid-term outlook is that we don't see a bust," he says. 
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MI Evans adds that, if the aluminium price did fall significantly, China's leading position in metal production could 
be threatened. "If prices were to fall to Dollars 2000 a tonne, we think quite a lot of capacity in China and Western 
Europe would come off line." 

LOAD-DATE November I, 2006 
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Dick Evans, chief executive and president of Alcan, the Canadian aluminium company, is sanguine ahout the 

changes taking place in the global aluminium industry 

The business has always been dynamic, he says, and the shift in production of primary metal away from North 
America and western Europe is nothing new. "The location of aluminium production has been shifting for the past 30 or 
40 years, there has been a dramatic decline (inNorth America and western Europe). The increase in production has 
come mainly from China and the Middle East." 

ber one producer in the world is unchallenged, he says. "I don't see that changing in the medium tern. They are still 
building capacity." 

Mr Evans, who was promoted to the top job at Alcan in March following the d e p m e  of previous chief executive 
Travis Engen, thinks there is a future for some aluminium production in North America and Western Europe, however. 
"There are pockets of production that have actually grown considerably, such as Iceland." 

Russian aluminium production is set to expand rapidly in the coming years, hut as yet China's position as the num- 

r - dro-electric energy. Canada is also well-endowed with hydro-electric generating capacity, and the two countries account 
for more than half of Alcau's metal production. The group is cwently considering building a second smelter in Iceland, 
says Mr Evans. 

One of the main ways to he competitive in aluminium smelting is IO control your energy supplies, he says. "In Can- 
ada, we own 100 per cent of our energy in British Columbia and 80 per cent in Quebec. 

"Worldwide, we are between 50 and 60 per cent covered in ow energy needs, and we have long-term contracts on 
another 35 per cent. Less than 10 per cent of our energy is supplied on short-term contracts." This has led to a signifi- 
cant drop in Alcan's production costs over the last two years. 

In August Alcan announced it was to invest USDollars 1.8hn in expanding and modernising its Kitimat smelter in 
British Columbia, which runs on hydro-eleclric power. When the work is finished in 201 I ,  production will rise from 
245,000 tonnes to 400,000 tonnes a year, and Kitimat will be one of the three lowest cost smelters in the world, says Mr 
Evans. It will also he one ofthe three largest smelters in North America. 

Alcan has always tried to own its own energy resources, and this is now the deciding factor in the location of the 
company's new smelter projects. "When you build a smelter you need to secure energy supplies for at least 20 years. 
But this is very difficult to do now, energy assets are expensive," says h4r Evans. 

An example of this has been the m g l i n g  over the Coega smelter project in South Africa, which Alcan inherited 
from Pechiney when it took over the French company in 2003. A decision on whether to build the smelter has been de- 

The key is energy supply. Iceland has access to both geothermal energy, using heat from the earth's core, and hy- 
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competitive in smelting, the Canadian company's chief tells Rebecca Bream in a wide-ranging rev 

layed for several years while Alcan and Fskom, the South African power supplier, have negotiated tern of an energy 
contract. 

Mr Evans is optimistic that these taks will be concluded "soon", and that the Coega project Will finally get started. 
"Once we get the power contract secured, we will start an increased emphasis on the design of the facility, and on part- 
ners." 

Alcan does not need to bring in a partner, he says, hut the group is considering selling a stake of 30 per cent to an- 
other aluminium producer. "All the major players have said they would be interested," says Mr Evans. "It will be an 
attractive project." 

Smelter technology-watchers will be disappointed to hear that the Coega project is.uulikely to include Alcan's cut- 
ting edge APSO equipment, as Pechiney had originally intended. AP50 is regarded by many in the industry as the most 
advanced smelting technology around; its bigger pots mean it is more efficient in terms of capital and labour. 

The plan is for Coega to use AP35 technology, says Mr Evans, as AP50 is not ready for commercial application 
yet. The group plans to build half a AP50 pot-lie near an existing smelter as a trial "in the next few years". 

Alcan has not neglected the AP50 technology since it bought Pechiney, says Mr Evans. "We have continued to de- 
velop it, the technology has improved since we acquired it. As other (companies) catch up we are pushing the technol- 
ogy fuaher ahead, and making further strides in energy efficiency." 

One fcalure of the current market that does bother the usually unflappable Mr Evans is the underperlomance of 
aluminium company shares. Alcan and Alcoa stock have not risen as fast as the price of aluminium on the metals ex- 
changes. "It is the biggest gap I have seen in 37 years in the industry between what the commodities market is telling 
me, which is bullish, and what the equity market is telling me, which is bearish." 

Mr Evans says the lacklustre trading of aluminium stocks has been caused partly by speculators and hedge fimds 
shifting their money out of the sector, and partly by investor concern about the affect a US recession or a Chinese crash. 
But this is "an overreaction" he says. "What is being missed by the equity markets is that demand for aluminium in 
China continues to grow by 20 per cent per year, and we see no slowing in this, while growth in production capacity is 
declining." 

Mr Evans says his group hoped to stimulate Alcan's share price by buying buying back shares. Alcan said last 
month that it would buy up to USDollars 750m worlh of its own stock over the next three to six months. "It is a sign that 
we think our shares are considerably undervalued." 

deal. Although the group is looking for acquisitions in the downstream market, such as packaging, Alcan intends to 
grow organically upstream by building its own smelters rather than buying them. 

tongxia smelter in the Ningxia region of central China since 2002. The 130,000 tonne-a-year smelter was built in 1999 
and uses modem prebake technology. 

Alcan has also moved into Russia in recent years, buying rolling mills from Rusal. Mr Evans says he views the 
takeover of Sua1 of Russia by larger compatriot Rusal as positive for the aluminium market, as there will be no short- 
term impact on the amount of metal being produced, but it should lead to hener corporate governance and environ- 
mental standards in the Russian industry. 

~ 

On the subject of mergers and acquisitions, Mr Evans says Alcan is not looking for a huge, company-transforming 

"China is a possibility for further acquisitions," says Mr Evans. Alcan has owned a 50 per cent stake in the Qing- 

"Ultimately they want to go public, so they will want to meet western standards," he says. 
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HEADLINE Long-term issues to resolve NORTH AMERICA Alcoa and Alcan are shrugging off the threat from 
Russia, says Daina Lawrence 

BODY 

North America's huo biggest aluminium companies are shrugging off a mounting threat from their fast-growing and 

"They are confined to Russia so far," says Michel Jacques, head of Alcan's primary metal group. "And I think we 
have excellent costs." 

But this was not the case five years ago. With the cost of operations, particularly power costs in the north-western 
US, on the rise in the last few years, there have been gradual closures of smelters all over North America. 

In 2001, Alcoa was forced to cut its smelter production by 150,000 tomes a year in the American Northwest due to 
these rising energy costs. In 2005, the company announced it would close its Frederick, Maryland smelter and it remains 
idle today. 

The past few years have been shaky for Alcan's North American smelters as well. The company also announced 
several smelter closures, including its Jonquiere Soderberg smelter in Anida, Quebec in 2004. 

Rusal, soon to merge with smaller rival Sual, has several smelters located in Siberia with access to cheaper power 
and operating costs. This may give the Russian group a clear advantage, hut both Alcan and Alcoa say they are not 
looking at this as a major threat. 

ducers. But Carlos De Alba and Mark Liinamaa from Morgan Stanley warn that thinking too short-term may he a dan. 
gerous option. 

According to Mr Liinamaa, Russia may not he a powerhouse just yet, but there is still time to improve. "They have 
old technology and maybe not the most efficient (production)," he says. "But once they gain access to fmancial markets 
and raise capital then they'll become a much more important threat." 

These analysts say Alcan's location in Canada may work to its advantage in the future. Alcan operates the majority 
of its smelters in Canada, and Quebec in particular. Producing its own power in its plants and accessing hydro electricity 
at cheaper rafes, has kept !he company's costs down. 

has access to it," says MI De Alba. "So they are better prepared to deal with this new threat" 

may give the impression that business is not looking good for No& America. But some of the closures and reductions 
have not been permanent. 

Just this past summer, Alcoa announced that plants in Wenatchee, Montana and Ferndale, Washington would r e  
sume production. Alcan and Alcoa, despite baving to close smelters in the past, say they are both willing to invest in 
North America and are already planning new smelter projects there. 

low-cost Russian rivals. 

Analysts agree that the Russian aluminium sector may not represent an immediate threat to North American pro- 

~I 
iT 

[ "Longer term, Russia is a more important threat to at least the US smelters, Canada has cheaper power and Alcan 

Closing older smelters in favour of investing in places with cheaper power, such as Iceland and parts of Europe, 

c 
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Alcan recently reported it plans to spend USDollars 1.Sbn on expanding its Kitimat smelter in British Columbia by 

Alcoa has also been investing in its North American smelters for the past few years to help the company stay on top 

63 per cent to 400,000 tonnes. Construction is expected to start in the second quarter of next year. 

of the global market. Throughout 2006, work continued on environmental upgrades at the company's Wanick, Indiana 
smelter which will help secure its power generation self-sufficiency. At the Intalco smelter in Ferndale, Washington - a 
smelter once hit by reductions - the company will be starting up a second potline which will produce an additional 7,500 
tonnes per month beginning in the first half of 2007. 

In May 2005, the aluminium giant announced it would be investing Dollars 45m to buy equipment and the rights to 
mine coal for its aluminium smelter in Wamck, Indiana. The idea behind all this, explains Kevin Lowery, Alcoa's direc- 
tor of corporate communications, is that the company wants to invest in its smelters at home, make them more self- 
sufficient and work at ways to reduce logistical costs. 

tions in an attempt to boost its aluminium output. 

this time. For now the two companies plan to concentrate on securing a long-term, competitively priced, energy source 
to help reduce their power costs. 

At present, Alcan and Alcoa may be more stable than a few years ago, in t e r n  of energy costs. They have invested 
in building the capabilities for self-sufficient power or are securing contraqts with power suppliers, but this may not last 
forever, says Mr De Alba at Morgan Stanley. 

"They could he relatively safe for the next few years. However when those contracts come Lo an end and they have 
to renegotiate, that's when we will see this become an issue," he says. 

Rusal, currently third in the world in aluminium production, has also been investing funds into its Russian opera- 

But Alcoa is taking a similar approach to Alcan, and saying it cannot concern itself with the activity in Russia at 

- 





May 14.  2007 

Americas: Metals & Mining 

. ........................................... __ 

We see above consensus metal prices on improving fundamentals 

We are making changes t o  our metals 81 mining primary coverage 
Oscar Cabrera is assuming coverage of Aicoa, Alcan. Century Aluminum, 
Freeport McMoran, Antofagasta, Southern Copper and Grupo Mexicofrom 
Hongyu Cai. We now retain a single Base Metal coverage group. 

Copper best positioned in our upgrade to base metals sector 
We are upgrading our coverage view for the base metal sector from 
Neutral to Attractive. Freeport McMoran (FCX) is our top pick in our base 
metal coverage universe. We re-iterate our Buy rating on FCX and see a 
30% upside to our new 12-month target price of $95 per share (raised from 
579). which is based on NAV, EBiTDA and PIE-based valuation analysis. 
The key risk is lower capper prices. However, we see improving copper 
fundamentals, supported bv re-stocking in China, an improving 2008 
global economic outlook and continuing supply disruptions. Thus, we 
project above-consensus 2007-09 copper prices at $3.20, $3.40 and $3.00 
per ib, respectiveiy. We also remain buliish on gold and re-iterate our CL- 
Buy rating on Barrick. We believe a super-spike "phase -2" in crude oil and 
gasoline provide upside potential to our estimates (see our May 6 note). 

Sustainabifty is  the  source of the opportunity 
Our upgrade is premised on sustainable above-consensus metal prices for 
2008-09, not on a short term spikes following increased metal demand in 
1Q07. We favor copper fundamentals over nickel. zinc and aluminum. Our 
2008E EPS estimates for copper equities are 30% above consensus (with 
Freeport at 45% above); we see improving balance sheets and greater 
potential for increased cash returned to shareholders. Base metal 
companies trade at a 2008E P/E of 9.1x and EVIEBITDA of 5.4~. compared 
to historic forward PIE ranges of 8-17x and 3.5-8.0~ EV/EBITDA. Target 
prices for our base metals universe reflect an average 2008E 9 . 6 ~  P/E and 
5.7~ EVIEBITDA, compared to copper equities 9 . 1 ~  PIE and 4 . 4 ~  EV/EBiTDA. 

Catalyst 
The key catalyst for the sector, specifically copper levered equities, is the 
significant positive EPS revisions we expect to consensus 2007E and 2008E 

~ 

Risks 
The key risk to our buliish view would be an unexpected sharp 
macroeconomic slowdown, leading to lower base metal prices. 
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changes, as well as risks to these target prices can be seen in Exhibit 8. We remain Not 
Rated on Aicoa and Alcan. In addition we have lowered our target price for lndustrias 
Pefioles to P110 per share from P120 as we adjusted our zinc price estimates. 

Source: Goldman Sachs Research esiimales. 

Adjusting our 2007-08 EPS estimates and introducing 2009 EPS estimates: We have 
adjusted our 2007-09 EPS estimates for CVRD in order to account for higher copper and 
aluminum prices, while lndustrias PeRoles and Teck Cominco were positively impacted by 
changes in copper prices during the same period, offset by minor adjustments to our zinc 
prices in 2007-09. In addition we have adjusted our 2007-08 EPS and introduced 2009 EPS 
estimates for Alcoa, Alcan and Centuw Aluminum in order to account for said changes to 
aluminum prices. Similarly we have adjusted our 2007-08 EPS and introduced 2009 EPS 
estimates for Antofagasta, Southern Copper, Grupo Mexico. These companies estimates 
were positively impacted by our higher copper price estimates in 2007-09, offset by 
adjustment to our zinc price estimates. 

c 
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July 31. 2007 

COMMENT 
Alcan Inc. (AL) $96.80 

First-Take: Strong 2007 EPS, maintains positive aluminum outlook 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  ...................... 

News 
Alcan reported 202007 EPS of $1.64 (excluding $0.02 charge on 
derivatives). lower than our 51.69 estimate and consensus of $1.71. 
Business Group Profit IBGP) was 13% lower than our estimates as weaker 
results from the primary, engineering and packaging largely offset the 
strong results the alumina segment. Lower than expected operating 
results were partially mitigated by lower taxes and interest expenses. 
Alcan maintains its market balance forecast of a modest 200kt surplus, but 
remains positive on the outlook for aluminum. 

Analysis 
Alcan has demonstrated great execution and cost containment: however - - 
higner energy and raw materials prices, plus the strong appreciation of the 
CAD. EUH and AUD impacted our estimates. Aican continues to benefit 
from strenothenin0 a uminum orices. however cost oressures in the " " 

aluminum industry continue. In terms of aluminum prices, we believe the 
positive momentum could continue in the near term. However, we remain 
cautious longer term due to rapid alumina and aluminum supply 
additions. We maintain our Neutral rating on Alcan as we assign a high 
probability that Alcan shareholders will tender to Rio Tinto's (RTZ) 
$lOl/share offer. We believe Rio Tinto's offer is fully priced based in our 
aluminum price estimates as the bid places Alcan's 2008 EV/EBITDA at 
9 . 1 ~  EV/EBITDA compared to an mining and metals peer average of 5.8~. 
Alcan expects the transaction to close by 402007. 

Implications 
Watch for: ( 1 )  Alcan conference call today at 1O:OO am (EST). Dial in 
number: 877-421-3963. (2) Update on its project development pipeline, 
including the Gove alumina refinery expansion and its Kitirnat 
modernization. (3) Update of energy and raw material costs pressure. 14) 
Details on Alcan's aluminum market outlook. (5) Updates on Rio Tinto 
offer. Our estimates and price target are under review. 
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COMPANY UPDATE 
Century Aluminum Co. (CENX) 
Neutral 

lnline 2007 results driven by strong aluminum production 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . --- ........... 

What's changed 
Century Aluminum reported 2Q07 EPS of $1.69/share. in-line with our and 
consensus estimates, excluding after tax adjustments of $3.46/share 
(including a mark-to-market charge of $3.66, deferred taxes gains o 
early extinguishment of debt charge of $0.06). Shipments, revenue and 
costs were mostly in line, with higher SG&A offset by lower interest 
expense. (Exhibit 3.1 Further expansion of Grundartangi Iceland smelter to 

OIUn.,*s,Cli(*dU.I.O*,P..;(i,ai~~".srg* 
260kt is proceeding well. with completion expected by 4Q07. CENX 
previously announced a major breakthrough in securing power supply, hat 

alumina purchase, continued energy cost pressures and higher diluted 

. RaYlml*Rn"m *nc.*u, ~,or.mmClMdoli"m*,h. 
imm.ni P m , 6 l * M u r a  (M.,.m,.r* 
hDdiYlDlVia Icrion*,fihi.darun*"% 

should support 250,000 tonne5 of aluminum production. We are adjusting 
our 2007-09 estimates to factor lower interest expense, offset by spot 

shares outstanding. 

Implications 
We re-iterate our Neutral rating on Century Aluminum, however we have mlqNn a,, a07 6s 6.m 
increased our 12-month target price to $65/share (from $53), factoring 
higher 2007-08 estimates and a multiple re-rating i n  our base metal EVESWOAIXI s,o 5.3 6.6 4.7 

coverage. We believe the latter is warranted given the sustainability of the 
current metal price cycle. Thus, we have increased our P/E and EV/EBITDA 
multiples used in our target price analysis. 

Valuation 
Our 12-month target price for CENX is based on an average of P/E, 
EV/EBiTDA and Net Asset Value calculations. We maintain our Neutral 
rating, but believe speculation on industry consolidation, as well as short 
term strength in aluminum prices could support shares in the near term. 
CENX continues to trade at a discount to its aluminum peers at  a PIE of 
9 . 2 ~  and EV/EBITDA of 5.3~. based on our 2007 estimates. 

Key risks 
On the upside, an extended period of high aluminum prices and on the 

f h . n ~ u p * " " . r x . ( K l  snranh enan* llaD"h 
downside delays in the ramp up of Grundartangi. 
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July 24, 2007 

Operating EPS - $ish 

Ceniun, Aluminum Co. ICENX) 

$1.69 $1.69 ($0.01) 0% 

Solid 2007 results driven by high aluminum production .. ... .. . 
.- - . .. __.____. -. .... .. _. -.. ... - -. - 

S.G.&A. 
Operating income 
Net Interest Expense 
EBT 

Overall. results were in-line with our expectations for Century Aluminum. Shipments, 
revenue and costs were mostly in line, with slightly higher SG&A offset by lower interest 
expense. The company provided further updates on development projects, stating that the 
Nordural brownfield expansion is on-track for completion at the end of the year and that its 
necessary power contracts for their Greenfield expansion in Iceland should provide supply 
for 250,000 tonnes of aluminum production. 

Exhibit 1: CENX 2007 results summary 
lniine resuits driven by strong aluminum production 

. .  
$12 $14 $2 17% 

$105 $94 ($11) -11% 
($9) ($7) $2 -21% 
$98 $87 ($9) -11% 

Direct Production (US) 
Realized prioe - $Ab 
Shipments -mn Ibs 
Revenues - mn $ 

Tolling Production (iceland) 
Realized prioe - $Ab 
Shipments - mn Ibs 
Revenues - mn $ 

Income Statement (mnS) 
Revenues 
CMjS 
Gross Profit 

$1.20 $1.19 ($0.01) -1% 
291.9 292.1 0.2 0% 
$351 $348 ($3) -1% 

$0.97 $0.95 ($0.01) -2% 
0% 123.7 123.8 0.1 

$119 $118 ($2) -1% 

$470 $4M ($6) -1% 
1% $354 $356 $2 

$117 $108 ($8) -8% 

Source: Goldman Sachs Research errimmares, CompanvrWoifs 

Increasing our 2007-09 -. . - estimates and - target price 

We are adjusting our 2007-09 estimates for Century Aluminum. Debt reduction resulted in q 
J lower interest expense, offset by continued cost pressures 1i.e. eleclricityl. assumed spot f purchase of alumina due to aluminum production creep and an increased share count 

(40.9 million shares) following the completion of Century's secondary equity offering. 
Exhibit 2 provides a summary of these changes. 
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Metals & Mining: Base Metals 
High Yield 

Credit Research 

Aluminum: Demand and technicals trounce supply ... for now 
Aluminum prices ranged within a high, narrow band in 1H2007 
Aluminum prices remained lofty during the first half of the year, averaging 
approximately $1.24 per pound in fhe first quarter and $1.27 through the 
second quarter. While we had not previously forecast quarterly aluminum 
prices for 2007 lour full-year aluminum price forecast was $1.04). we had 
expected prices to trend down from their4Q2007 average of $1.23. This 
was clearly not the case Also interesting was the relative lackof volatility 
in aluminum prices versus other base metal prices in 1H2007: Aluminum 
fluctuated within a -$0.05/lb band; meanwhile, copper went from $2.64/1b 
to $3.70/lb and then back to $3.30/lb, nickel soared from just over $15/lb to 
$23/lb by the end of May, and zinc fluctuated between $1.50 and $l.SO/lb 

Why the solid, yet uneventful performance? We see two reasons (1) 
Strong demand - this was the same reason why prices were higher than 
we had expected during 2H06; and (21 technical factors related to trading 
within the base metals complex 

We continue to expect supply to overwhelm technical factors 
We probably sound like a broken record with this argument - and an 
incorrect broken record at that. However, while demand has surpassed our 
expectations for the last few quarters, we cannot help but feel uneasy 
about the significant amount of aluminum wpply set to enter the market 
this year and next year While we do not expect aluminum prices to 
decline much below $O.SO/ib, as that is around where the marginal cost of 
higher-cost production is, we continue to expect prices to decline as  
notable supply overwhelms strong demand. 

Downstream volumes in the US are floundering, but we see value 
in lndalex and Aleris 
Data from the US market have not been uplifting, with the likes of lndalex 
and Aleris forecasting weak US volumes through the remainder of 2007 
owing to the housing and transportation sectors. Even so, we calculate 
that these companies should have the liquidity to weather this year. With 
the recent widening in credit spreads, we think their bonds continue to 
offer value for high yield investors. We believe Indalex's bonds offer an 
attractive yield for secured debt, as for Aleris, we think weakness i n  the 
markets has unduly pressured its senior subordinated notes wider despite 
solid cash flows and the recently-announced Wabash Alloys acquisition 
[which we view as  a credit positive). 
Justha Firher 

Jaron Moloil 
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Exhibit 6 Aluminum prices have remained lofty 
(cents. lbsl 

Souice- AMM. 

As far as fundamentals in the market are concerned, we think aluminum prices were held 
higher by demand that was far stronger than our forecast - supply certainly did not do 
much to help the picture. 

Supply has not aided the price story, as it continues to increase 
rapidly 
Global aluminum production was up 11.6% year over year during 1Q2007, according to the 
CRU. We want to point out two outstanding supply trends. 

First, supply in the US has been increasing this year, as high aluminum prices have 
encouraged companies to re-start older, higher-cost capacity. Ormet and Alcoa have both 
re-started smelters this year. and we expect these and others to push US production up by 
4% to just over 5.5 million tonnes in 2007. 

Second, and certainly of no surprise, China has substantially increased its production. 
Chinese production in the first quarterwas up approximately 39% year over year, and we 
expect it to be up 30% for the full year 2007. 

I 

Goldman Sschs Credit Research 6 
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Century Aluminum Company 
Ratings: Bl/BB- 

Outlooks: StablelStable 
GS Rating: In-line 

Century Aluminum Company benchmark securities 

CENX IL $250 7 %  SrNls lSAug-14 BilsB- (03 750 15.Au909 iWZ% 7430 242 

Operations progressing solidly, CENX is one of the smaller primary 
aluminum players left 
Century Aluminum shouid benefit from the fact that LME prices remained high and stable 
through the first half of 2007. The company's new smelter in Iceland has ramped up to full 
capacity, and we expect the second quarter to have been another strong one operationally. 

More important for bondholders, Century raised approximately $416 million during the 
second quarter by selling equity. The company expects to use these proceeds to repay 
debt and to help finance construction of its second major Iceland smelter near Helguvik. 
We think attention to leverage is positive for the credit. 

Finally, we want to point out thai consolidation is proceeding at a rapid clip in the 
aluminum industry. Century remains one of the only smaller public producers lefl with 
access to raw materials (its 50% interest in both a bauxite mine in Jamaica and an alumina 
refinery in Louisiana). low-cost assets (the Iceland smelter), and several expansion projects 
in the works (Drimarilv the Heiauvik smelter, but also several memoranda of . 
understanding for new projects in places like Africa and China). Granted, Century's US 
smelters are relatively high-cost on a global scale, and much of the production from its 
Iceland smelter is already contracted under tolling arrangements. Neveaheless, we expect 
consolidation to be a topic of conversation on the company's conference call. 

We continue to rate Century's bonds In-Line as they trade at tight levels. But we think 
operations here are strong and we applaud the company's use of equity as currency to 
help keep ieverage down while financing growth. We expect positive sentiment 
surrounding industry consoiidation to help keep a cushion under the trading level of the 
bonds, despite our bearish outlook for primary aluminum prices. 

Goldman Sachr Credit Research 20 
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[miningmx.com] -- BHP Biliiton was in talks 
with South African power utility Eskom to 
supply more power to its Mozal aluminium 
smelter in Mozambique ahead of a 250,000 
tonne expansion, said Alex Vanselow, 
president of the group's aluminium division. 

Mozai produced 551,000 tonnes of 
aluminium in the 2005 financial year, record 
"lit"8it. 

R E l A l E f )  ARTICLES V 
n BHP Biiliton's SA coal O n  the line, 
), Chip Goodyear's bullish outlook on 
resources 
>> BHP Billiton lauded for WMC SWOOP 
................................................. 
SHARE PRICE > ................................................. 

1SE:BHP BILUTON PLC: 
2146Oc A 0% 

...... 
. . . .  

...~.. 

"We have finished a feasibility study On Mozal i l l  and we are In discussions with Eskom 
and Mozambique to source power, but there's nothing at this stage that we can disclose," 
Vanselow toid an analysts' briefing on aluminium. 

The pian is to add another potline, which wouid increase capacity by 250,000 tonnes, he 
said, deciining to reveal the costs because there was "still some work to be done." 

There are a number of brownfield expansions projects BHP Bliliton was considering to 
increase output, apart from employing higher amps at its existing smelters to boost 

____ 

production. 

A proposal to Increase output a t  the Aiumar smelter in Braiii has been taken to the board 
for consideration. However, there are some outstanding matters to resolve with its joint 
venture partner, Aicoa. The pian is to raise production to 3.5 million tonnes from the 
current 2 million tonneslyear. 

On a broader front, supplies of alumina, the raw material needed to 
make aluminium. are exoected to remain tiaht over the next COUDie 

View aichiv 
this sectioli 

tight 
"The market is extremely tight and utiiisation rates are a t  100%," he 

said, "Through the whole of 2006, utiiisation rates will stay a t  extremely high levels, 
which is effectively 100% of capacity." 

The tight market conditions are expected to ease slightly in 2007 

Any hiccup in production would be seen instantly in prices, he said. 

BHP Billiton sees primary aluminium consumption rising to 51 million tonnes per annum 
(mtpa) from 32 mtpa this year. Chinese demand 1s expected to more than doubie to 16 
mtpa in that period. 

Global use of primary aluminium will have increased fivefold from 1970 to 2015. The 
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na 
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whole aiuminium industry has a turnover of BlBObnIyear. 

Aluminium producers, pariiculariy those in Europe and the United States, face a tough 
ride, particularly because of increasing power costs as sky-high fuel prices are feit, said 
Rod Kinkead-Weekes, the vice-president of aiuminium strategy. 

"In general, what we're seeing is project deiays and the suppiy side struggiing to keep 
pace with demand," he said, explaining there were rising input costs of Power, coke and 
aiumina, which i s  made from bauxite. 

Economic bauxite deposits have been consumed, he 5aid 

"One could say the fat  rabbits have been caught. The remaining resources are in more 
challenging countries where things move more slowly and project risk is much higher ... 
Alumina supply will be stretched for some time," he said. The higher input costs are bad 
news for expensive aluminium smelters. 

"It's good for (aluminium) prices, ii's good for those at the bottom of the cost curve and 
those with locked iwor hedged inputs," he said. "This will be serious for some at the top of 
the cost Curve paiticulariy those with expiring power CUFlLldCL5.'' 

"We've aiready seen smelter ciosures in Europe and the US and there wiii be more to 
come and this is fundamentally because power prices wiii be StFUCtUraiIY higher in those 
regions than in the past." 

Matthys said an estimated 20% of EU smelting Capacity has to renegotiate Dower 
contracts before the end of 2007. 

Robin Bhar, a metals anaiyst at UBS in London, is reported by Dow Jones, t o  estimate 
that a million tonnes of European aluminium smelting capacity could be closed down 

r 

because Of high energy COStS. 
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Aluminium 2006 SDecial Edition 

Endurance Test for 
Europe's Aluminium Industry? 

I find surprising that in recent market reports on the 
European aluminium industry, everybody sounds 
positive and only talks about prosperity and growth 
prospects. Hardly any mention i s  made of the actual 
situation. 

But in reality, when someone talks with people 
froin within the industry itself, everyone i s  complain- 
ing dlmut  high costs and lack of raw materials. Who 
is rigli!! 

In fact both primary and secondary producers are 
facing significant problems of different nature. 

Primary aluminium industry 

In the primary aluminium industry it is  the energy 
costs that hurt the most. ___ 

On average, 35% of a smelter's operational cost is 
energy. Energy prices have sky- rocketed despite the 
fact that the EU expected their initiative to free the 
energy market in Europe would offer more competi- 
tive prices. 

l 
- 

However, swn alter the free energy market started 
operating we saw a 30% increase in energy costs that is 
creating existential problems lor the metals industry. 
Recent surges in the price of oil have not helped stabilise 
energy costs. Severai major operators of aluminium 
smelters in Europe have decided to pull out of this mar- 
ket now or in the near future, because the margins are 
tvo small tv allow any meaningful existence. 

The European smelters are trying tn compete with 
expanding smelters in places where cost effective 
energy is plentiful compared to Europe. Such areas 
inrlude Iceland, Scandinavia, South America, the 
CIS and Canada with their relatively cheap hydrv 
power, South Africa and Australia with coal, the Mid- 
dle East with almost unlimited gas and Russia with all 
three. We observe that new investment and capacity 

-expansion are both taking place at primary smelters 
mostly in these areas. 

The price of  alumina in the world market i s  an 
additional cause of concern. Prices may have 

By Frans Bijlhouwer, 
Quality Consultants, The Netherlands 

eased recently and some analysts expect them to 
soften further. But with so much new smelting 
capacity coming on stream soon and increasing 
demand for alumina in spite of new refining 
capacity, prices could rise strongly and subse- 
quently push the aluminium price further up. The 
price for alumina in 2001 was around 
$lSO/tonne; nowadays the price has gone up to 
$550 and experts believe that $650 is  within 
reach shortly. A significant fact is  that 55% of 
China's consumed alumina i s  imported, while 4 
years ago that share was no more than 18%. 
Although the capacity of alumina refiners is  
increasing, they can't keep pace with the expan- 
sion and the demand in  the world market. There- 
fore a significant decrease in its price is  not 
expected in the short term. 

I 
The rapidly expanding Asian countries with their 

1SO+ primary aluminium smelters, are causing 
increased competition for energy and raw materials. 
Their pace of growth i s  causing problems in Europe 
and North America. 

2 
I This means that Western Europe will no longer be 

able to sustain primary aluminium production and to 
a lesser degree, the same applies to the US. Based on 
such arguments, there are no strong reasons to have 
a primary aluminium smelter in China either. There 

APT ALUMINIUM. P r m e s ~  B ProducI Technology 
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are different reasons however to maintain activity in  
Western Europe, such as forward integration, infra- 
structure, niche markets, or the simple fact that the 
plant is  there (and the customer too), but the profit 
margins will be narrowing, certainly in the. longer 
term. 

Secondary aluminium industry 

This sector of the industry has always claimed low 
energy use at 5% of that of a primary smelter. Of 
course energy plays a rvle too, however not as criti- 
cal as with primary smelters. Indeed, energy costs of 
secondary smelting are not the biggest problem: 
however the 5% claim is  not entirely correct when 
someone counts the costs of dross and salt slag in the 
whole process. In reality this adds up to 12%. 

The prohlems in this industry seqor are relating to 
tough competition in a shrinking market, the lack of 
raw materials and the high cost of labour. Not to 
mention legislation in acquiring raw materials, pro- 
cessing them and processing by-products and waste. 
The secondary smelting is  divided into remelters and 
refiners. Remelters produce wrought alloys mainly 
from clean scrap and refiners use all kind of scrap to 
produce casting alloys. 

The market for castings has decreased signifi- 
cantly due to lesser demand from their largest cus- 
tomer, the Eurqpean automotive industry. The 
number of units built has gone down, some have 
gone bankrupt or moved away and this is  felt 
strongly at the refiners. Competition among them i s  
severe. According to the EAA market report of 
2004 there are 123 remelters in Europe and 150 
refiners. Many of them are small and subsequently 
their cost per tonne is loo high. 

At the same time the automotive industry is shifting 
away from Europe and North America and relocating 
their plants a l l  over the world where labour i s  cheap. 
This opens opportunities for local refiners and die 

casters and resulting in work flows away from 
Europe. 

The increasing presence of Asian car manufactur- 
ers in Europe does not help because they also buy 
parts from Asian suppliers. 

I 1  I 1  I 

The availability of scrap i s  under pressure. With 
Asia expanding so does it's secondary industry. 
Europe i s  losing large volume of manufacturing to 
Asia every year and this keeps high pressure on 
prices and i s  squeezing the margins even further. 
The scrap deficit wi l l  deepen in the next few 
years. 

On top of that, the EU has classified aluminium 
scrap as waste instead of raw material. This means 
red tape that increases the cost of treatment and 
transportation. 

Labour cost in Europe i s  one of the highest in the 
world. This affects the secondary industry more than 
the primary industry because this part of the industry 
i s  more labour intensive. 

The remelters, who are producers of wrought 
alloys such as slab and billets, are doing reasonably 
well. Of course they have the same problems with 
energy, labour costs and scrap availability, but their 
market i s  still pretty strong and there are no signs of 
weakening. Many of them are forwards integrated in 
large global operating organisations. 

The currently high and increasing metal prices are 
increasing the risk of substitution to other more cost 
effective materials. 

Is there a future for Europe's aluminium industry? 

As long as energy prices are high and on the 
increase, we will see that operators of primary 
smelters one after the other will shut down their 
operations. The EU should have acted long time ago. 1 

APTALUMINIUM - Process & Prodm Technology 20 
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So far there have been preliminary discussions only 
hut no action. 

The loss of the primary industry in  Europe wil l 
cause loss o i  capital and large number of jobs with 
unavoidable effects to the EU economies. 

But it will not affect the downstream industry 
because the aluminium industry i s  global and metal 
can be acquired everywhere at market price, even if 
Europe might not have its own primary industry any 
longer. 

On the other hand, this opens opportunities for the 
total restructuring of the secondary aluminium indus- 
try. This i s  a must. 

Europe requires a strong and pro-active secondary 
aluminium industry consisting of both refiners and 
remeltere, to recycle aluminium and be the main 
supplier of the European industry. 

The CARC initiative has estimated that the global 
aluminium inventory i s  roughly 51 5 million tonnes, 
the "metal bank" as some people call it. Our own 
research leads to an even larger iigure of 650 million 
tonnes o i  post consumer scrap that will become 
available in the next decades to the aluminium scrap 
market. 

This metal is presently in use in buildings, cars, 
packaging, planes, ships and many other applica- 
tions and has not reached the end 01 its liie yet. To 
.handle successfully this precious source of material 
as it becomes available in time we must put in place 
an adequate operating secondary aluminium indus- 
try for such enormous volumes of post consumer 
scrap. This quantity i s  on top ofprocess scrap that the 
process industry produces daily. 

The European secondary aluminium industry i s  
presently iragmented and in no position to handle 

this task efficiently and profitably. The need will arise 
soon for strong integrated organisations that ate 
backwards integrated in the collection of post con- 
sumer and process scrap, equipped with modern 
sorting systems, able to process the scrap efficiently 
and supply the European industry with the semis it 
needs, such as casting alloys, forgings, billets and 
slabs. Most likely they will be lowards integrated in 
rolling, extrusion and forging. 

This simply indicates that the industry is  on the 
brink of a large-scale consolidation, not only in pro- 
cessing plants but also among scrap collectors and 
dealers. No doubt the large integrated aluminium 
companies who announced several years ago their 
intention to reinforce their activities on the recycling 
market, wil l play an important role in such shake-out 
and restructuring. 

Such consolidation wil l solve environmental 
issues. The increased size of operations to above the 
critical mass of approximately 50.000 tpa, will 
increase profitability. This will ensure long term via- 
bility and enable investment in new technologies to 
optimise the scrap sorting and recycling process and 
revive the industry. The existing high labour costs 
will become less of a problem due to this consolida- 
tion and improved margins. Areas with lower labour 
costs within Europe and nearby exist and as they are 
in the vicinity of Europe they are controllable. 

After all, secondary aluminium is  the next best 
alternative to primary aluminium. APT 

Biography 

Frans Bijlhouwer has been MD at Alumax Recy- 
cling, KBM Affilips and VP of Ampco Metal, before 
setting up Quality Consultants in the Netherlands. 
His consultancy i s  operating in  the global non-ler- 
rous market, specialising in  strategy development, 
marketing issues and optimising results. 
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""> I ... n l e  issue of rising production costs in the base metals sector has been much talked 
about, with high erlergy prices the lead topic of discussion. Nevertheless, among the 
many influences on the price of industrial metals, their effect has k e n  dwarfed by 
powerful factors on the demand side 

Tile rising cost of oil and power are certainly pushing up production costs lor metais 
producers, but the efiect is one of many that producers face, not least of which is 
labour cost 

However, in the aluminium market the issue of rising energy costs has started to 
become clear, providing an indicator for other metals, should the current cycle of high 
prices Slait to turn itself around. 

" I ( .  you break down copper production costs, energy only accounts for around 14 per 

t-3 
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By Robert McNstt 

r mighr look like the parry is over in 
some secrws ot the metds .ind mining 
world. where ftilling prices in vccenr 

months have raised quesrions ahoin 
producers' long-rerm piarpecrs a n d  
credir qmliry. Bur  Standard & Poor's 
Raring Services hcl ieves the esseiiri.il 
message is rhlr healrhy fundamcnrals 
should cemain in plncc for :it leasr rlic 
nest couple of years, a i d  will sust:%in 

This fund.iniental sliifr should remuin 
in p l x e  for  the nrxr  sevrral years, tir 
lr3s1. and help sumin prices favornhle 
for credit qu:ility. "We believe the 
average price curves for rhe nexr five 
years should be meaningfully higher 
rhsn rhcy were for the prior five years 
ending 2004," says Mr. Warters. "That 
should oiiset iisinp cost prufiles for 
many of these  producers 2nd help 
inainrain B s tab le  ro positive credir 
qoaliry outlook. The key raring factors 
going forward will be how companies 
urilize cash f low and rhe cash that 
could potenrially be built up.'' 

Copper: Still Strong, 
But Sliding Off Its Highs 
%'liile capper  has re rurncd  IO e i i r t l i  
f r o m  its record price of 54.075 per 
pouiid~lasr Mav, rhe current price of 
B2.4.5 pet pound s t i l l  reniaiiic w e l l  
. I ~ I I V C  historical highs. Supply iiirriip- 
rioiis and ;peciil.irivc deni.ind had coin- 
lhined to . i c c ~ l r i i i i e  copper prices w3y 
Ihcyond .ippropriste levels. Thc wll off  
rivc1r rhe p;isr s e v e n 1  inionrhs h.is 
rcflecred .I graJoal iiicre.,rc in s i~pp ly~  J 

~ircliiic i n  thc  U.S. lhousiqg , n u r k m ,  
,ofrcr glolwl d c m n d  (coppev r lcni. ind 
in) i  r r o  rs' r i o  ii I >  iii ic :row tli 1. .I j n d  

J o r<d i i i>~ .  which  led I C ,  .> d r , i l i n r  i n  
( Ihiw\< iiiiporis d refind ci i j lpcr i n  the 
<cioiiJ lhdt d l i j oh .  

S c ~ c d i c l c ~ ~ .  wc  rcnuiii pmiiilc on 
u ~ ~ ~ p c r ' s  iicir- ill invdittn-rcrw ivw.pucr<. 
I-he C . h i n v v  I~cl i i io i i i i  A t w l d  rcnwiii 
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The credit quality o f  primary a l u -  
minum companies is also challenged by 
the  esc;dnrion i n  vnerpy cosrs oyer rhe 
parr few !e:irs. The sost of moving pro- 
dusrion to regions with Ion.er energy 
cosrs c m  be suhsrmtial. Indeed, on Jnn. 
19, 2007, Standard & Poor‘s lowered 
its ratings on Alciva Inc. ro ‘BBBc‘ from 
’A-’, reflecting these very conwins. 

ickel: PricesThat -I 
emTo Defy Gravity 

70 cents per pound rerriiory nnyr in  
soon,” said MI. Warrers. 

SI I 15 per pound. Although it liad par- 
ncip red in the bose metal rally, its has \ .:\ 

Aluminum: LateToThe Party, 
But Going Strong For Now 
While other metals prices rocketed io 
unsustainable levels, aluminum never 
really seemed io launch irom the pad- 
unril recently th3 r  is. After closing a t  
$1.03 per pound on Jan. 2, 2006, alu- 
minum touched a high of $1.34 per 
pound on Jan. 24, 2007. While some 
other hase rncrnl prices have dcclincd 
meaningfully, aluminum has lingered 
near rhis level,  closing at $1.28 per 
pound in recent trading, despite rofr- 
ening demand from end markers. 

Going forward, however, we d o  
believe thar the price of aluminum will 
follow suit with orher hase metal prices 
and hegin to fall. The chief proponenr 
supporring this notion has been the 
rapid decline in alumina prices to 
about $250 per metric ton from 
approximately $650 per metric ion 
early in rhe year, a decline spurred nn 
h y  a 60% increase in Chinese alumina 
capacity. The question remains how 
quickly China, given access to this 
cheap alumina, will be tempred ro 
ramp up its idled aluminum produc- 
tion and shifr the imarket into a sur- 
plus. China continues IO ramp up its 
smelters ,  w i t h  es t imates  of i o r a l  
smelter productiun i n  2007 o f  1 1 . 1  
mil l ion metric tons. As opposed t o  
2006, when aluniinum demand out- 
stripped supply and pushed up prices. 
nn augmenring aluminum cupply in 
2007 will , n o s  likely swing rho marker 
into a surplus. 

’ 

I 

Poor’s believes rhe outlook 

rhr tight supplyldcmand h a l a n c  
iniskc1 rhrriugh 2008. 

56 www.creditweek.com 
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The rash of consolidations and M&A mania 
that has been sweeping the metal and 
mining industries has not excluded steel. 

Steel: Pricing Taking A Ereather 
Although steel prices have ebbed 
somewhat, they remain robust com- 
pared with historical levels, and good 
for credit quality. Steel prices were 
pressured in the second half of 2006 
because of cooling demand from end- 
users, rising imports, and increased 
inventories, especially for flat-rolled 
products. Sreel service cenrers and pro- 
ducers, however, have made concerted 
efforts to rein in the inventory over- 
hang and lower production, which 
should establish a price floor and 
allow for a gradual price increase by 
the end of 2007. 

The rash of consolidations and 
M&A mania that has been sweeping 
the meral and mining industries has not 
excluded steel. The US. steel industry 

I_s__l 

should lead to less volatile prices as pro- significanrly since early 2006, 3 res 

and favorable conditions have allowed 

from the surcharge mechanisms, su 

enable them ro pass on  rapidly domestic ctrum is well 
increasing raw material and input costs, entrenched ant reserves and 
particularly for scrap. 

remain concerned about increasing 
global capacity. "The history of steel 
imporrs in the US. has taught us a valu- 

sonable weather pat 

source also supports this 
nger term fundamentals 

said Mr. Watrrrs. '' 
domestic industry will 
constant threat of im 
cant, ongoing ram 

the event of an economic 

competition and volatiliry. 

DownThe Chute? 

ducers will enjoy the party, Credir 
quality for Central Appalachia coal pro- 
ducers remains largely negarive, given 
the many issues faced by producers in 
that region. Exrremely difficult geologic 
and operaring .conditions, an inexperi- 
enced labor force, legacy liabilities, and 
onerous pcrmirting issues have com- 
bined to sharply increase operating 
costs, rendering many Central 
Appalachia producers , insolvenr. 
Moreover, utilities concerned about the 
long-term viability of this region's pro- 
ducers could turn to coal from 
Northern Appalachia, the Illinois Basin, 
or rhe Powder River Basin (the three 
other main coal producing areas in rhe 
US.), leaving Central Appalachia pio- 
ducers ro face pricing pressure and a 
classic margin squeeze. Needless to say, 
Central Appalachia coal producers 
rated by Standard & Poor's are at rhe 
low end of the credit spectrum. cw 

Analytical Contact: 

Thornrr W x w n  
Ncro York l l i  ?12-13,?-7818 

Sfa,idnrd& Poor's Creditweek I February 21. 2007 57 
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HEADLINE Metal Makers Go Far for Cheap Fuel --- Trinidad Draws Nucor, Mhers as Competition Spurs Cost- 
Saving Moves 

BYLINE: By Paul Glader 

BODY 

P O M  LISAS, Trinidad _ _  Les Hart pointed along the coastline of this sunny Caribbean shore the way a tourist 
might point out a dolphin. 

But he was indicating a series of fat pipelines bringing cheap, abundant ~ t u m l  gas from an undersea field to the 
iron refmery he manages. The fuel supply's economics are so compelling that Mr. Hart's employer, steelmaker Nucor 
Corp., cut the refinery into pieces and shipped it across the sea from its original home near New Orleans to take advan- 
tage of the lower costs. 

"These are the two reasom people set up shop here," said MI. Hart, the facility's general manager. "Natural gas and 
a port." 

Metal makers such as Nucor are flocking to Trinidad, a tiny island nation seven miles off the coast of Venezuela 
that is trying to capitalize on its natural-gas and oil resources. While Venezuela nationalizes industries and kicks out 
large multinational investors, Trinidad officials say they talk with three or four companies a month that want to join 
players such as Nucor and steel giant Mittal Steel Co. 

Western manufacturers, chemical makers and metal companies face intensifying competition from fast-growing 
companies in places like the Middle East and Russia that offer cheap sources of oil and gas. They also face growing 
competition from Asian companies with other 

cheap and abundant energy. Century Aluminum Co., of Monterey, Calif., is expanding its aluminum smelter in 
Grundartangi, Iceland. Alcoa Inc., based in both Pittsburgh and New York, would also like to expand in Iceland and 
build a second aluminum smelter there to take advantage of lower-@ energy generated by hydropower or geothermal 
power. I Rival aluminum maker Alcan Inc., of Montreal, has focused on gaining a presence in the energy-rich Middle East, 
recently pledging $7 billion toward a partnership with a government mining, refining and smelting operation in Saudi 
Arabia. The company already has a joint-venture smelter project under way in Sohar, Oman, that is slated to start pro. 
ducing next year. 

advantages, like labor. 

In response, they are flocking to countries such as Trinidad and Iceland, and to other places father afield with 
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Many of the markets bring their own sets of challenges. Environmental concerns and protests in Iceland could limit 
!%me development and add to costs. Alcan's joint-venture approach and minority stakes in the Middle East make it 
more d i f f h l t  to control a project and therefore difficult to maximize revenue and profit there. 

Meanwhile, companies locating in Trinidad face a labor shortage. And they must wony about the extent of the en- 
ergy reserves. Some estimate the country has only 30 years of natural-gas reserves left. Ken Julien, chairman of Trini- 
dad's Natural Gas Export Task Force, which makes decisions on how to use the countq's reserves, says more untapped 
deposits could be discovered. 

"The pattern in Trinidad is the more they use, the more they find," he said. Trinidad is the 23rd-largest producer of 
natural gas, according to Frontier Strategy Group of Cambridge, Mass. 

Nucor's plant is one of the new, large-scale metal-making operations valued at more than $3 billion that are either 
already running or on the drawing board for the island. Indian steel maker Essar Group PLC and Alcoa have plans for 

es that will cost more than $I billion each. 

Energy-intensive manufacturers also welcome Trinidad's relatively streamlined bureaucracy and stability. "Because 
we are a small country with a centralized decision-making process, companies get a quick decision," said MI. M e n ,  a 
former engineering professor. 

Nucor, of Charlotte, N.C., didn't have much in the way of overseas assets when it acquired the New Orleans refin- 
ery in 2004. Joe Rutkowski, an executive vice president at Nucor for business development, said the company couldn't 
find an efficient way to operate the Louisiana plant because of high natural-gas prices. It considered moving the refinery 
to the Middle East or Latin America, including Venezuela, but couldn't accept the risk. 

Rutkowski said. 

Hunicane Katrina struck New Orleans in 2005. Production at the reassembled plant began earlier this year and is ex- 
pected to reach two million tons a year of special iron-ore pellets, which will be shipped to Nucor's electric-arc furnaces 
in Alabama and South Carolina to be melted into steel. 

Trinidad boasted a 12.6% annual growth rate last year. That success has in turn created a skilled-labor shortage in a 

"Wages tend to increase at a higher rate than they do in the States because there is competition for these good peo- 

"You can talk about Venezuela, hut at the end of the day you are scared to death ofpolitical instability there," Mr. 

The company settled on Point Lisas, cutting up and moving the plant on 13 barges -- the last of it five days before 

__l_l_l 

country whose unemployment has dropped to about 5% from 10.5% in 2003, according to government data. 

ple," said Nucor's MI. Hart, noting that wages are going up 8% a year. "We are trying to recalibrate ourselves to what 
we need to pay our folks competitively so we don't actually lose ow folks to other companies." 

I t  is hard, too, he said, finding highly skilled workers that fit in WithNucor's culture, known for being fast-paced, 
lean and bonus-oriented, with extra pay tied to high levels of production. The company puts potential recruits through 
psychological screening to see if they fit the mold. 

and engineering. The university is joining up with companies to have students work on projects for industry and to 
make sure they learn the skills industries require. 

supervisor at the Nu-Iron plant. 

versity's Point Lisas campus. After high school, MI. Singh, now 35 years old, went to work for a string of industrial 
companies: an oil refinery, a methanol plant and a plant shipping liquefied natural gas. 

move further into management at Nucor. "I needed something a little more challenging." 

Three years ago, the country launched the University of Trinidad and Tobago, with a heavy focus on manufacturing 

MI. Hart said Nucor plans to team up more with the university and others to find workers such as Marcus Singh, a 

When he finishes his shift, MI. Singh often heads to class to complete his chemical-engineering degree at the uni- 

But after a dozen years as an entry-level worker, factory jobs "got pretty boring," said Mr. Sin& who aspires to 
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Inviting Shore 
Metals toapanics and others are 
artratled laTrinidad's hig natural-gas 
reserves and stable government. but a 
tight @mploynieiiI market is a concern. 

Natural-gas reserves in the AmKlCaS, 
trillions of cubic feet, 2006 

Trinidad and Tobagds unemployment rate 
, .  12: 
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IIEADLWE: Alcoa Net Soars, Easing Some Commodities Gloom 
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BODY 

suggesting that the wave of rising commodity demand is far from over, even as some commodity prices appear to have 
reached price ceilings. 

The Pittsburgh-based company, which has executive offices in New York, cited higher metal prices and strong de- 
mand for aluminum in products such as airplanes, heavy bucks and commercial construction for the profit gain. 

The latest figures included $386 million in charges related to a reshucluring, involving the spinoff of the soft-alloys 
business, plant closures and a 5% global work-force reduction, representing 6,700 jobs, all expected to occur in 2007. 

Excluding restructuring and impairment charges, the company earned $644 million, or 74 cents a share. The earn- 
ings results without the restructuring charges heat Wall Street expectations. On average, analysts polled by Thomson 
Financial forecast earnings of 65 cents a share. 

"As we enter 2007, market fundamentals remain strong," said Chairman and Chief Executive Alain Belda. He said 
the company is focusing on profitability, while reinvesting its cash building new plants and modernizing old ones to be 
poised for future growth. 

After-lax operating income in the latest quarter improved in five of the six major business units with flat-rolled 
products remaining even with the year-earlier period. Although AIcoa has been cutting costs for years, management has 
been frustrated that its fmancial performance and cost-cutting moves have had little impact on the companfs share 
price, which has fluctuated but not moved up as significantly as some rival aluminum producers or other metals and 
mining companies 

Alcoa shares traded at $29.87, up $1.35, or 4.7% after-hours, from their close of $28.52 at 4 pm. on the New York 
Stock Exchange. 

As Wall Street worries about the length and breadth of the global commodity boom and whether a downturn is 
weighing on metal-intensive American manufacturing, Alcoa's earnings indicate that global demand remains strong and 
a widespread commodity downturn isn't yet imminent. 

mand and prices for now. For example, while the Big Three auto makers in the US. are curbing production, foreign 

Alcoa Inc., the world's largest aluminum producer, kicked off the fourth-quarter earnings season with strong results, 
~ 

In some cases, weakness in certain end markets is marked by pockets of strength that appear to be supporting de- 
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auto makers with new plants in the U S .  are strong. And while the residential construction market is weaker, nonresi- 
dential construction has been solid. 

half of 2006 in the U.S., it remained strong in developing regions and looks to be well above 3% in parts of Asia, Africa 
and Latin America in 2007 according to some economists. Alcoa's Mr.Belda predicts global aluminum demand will 
double in the next 15 years. 

Still, some analysts see falling prices ahead. "My feeling is that eventually we are going to go back to much, much 
lower metal prices," said Chuck Bradford, a New York-based metals analyst with Bradford ResearcWSoleil. "These 
things are commodities. This is not a rocket science business." He predicts aluminum could eventually go back to $1 a 
pound in 2008 or 2009. At present, aluminum is just under $1.25 a pound on the London Metal Exchange, down from 
highs earliex in 2006. 

build plants or buy other companies in strategic, growth-oriented locations and markets while cutting && to position 
themselves to increase revenue and profits in a more stable, less dramatic growth cycle. One big concern is whether 
China's market is becoming saturated and what impact that will have on demand. 

Alcoa and other aluminum companies have run into obstacles expanding raw aluminum production, in large part 
because aluminum smelting is one of the most energy-intensive industries in the world and one that often draws pro- 
tests from enviromnental interests. Alcoa, for example, has been planning to build a new smelter in Trinidad but must 
now find a new location for the plant after local protests hindered planning at an original site. The company does expect 
to finish constructing a new smelter in Iceland in the second quarter, its first new smelter in 20 years. 

Alcoa benefits, as well, by its global reach, While gross domestic product growth rates slowed down in the second 

As a result of the high price levels, those metals and mining companies with strong balance sheets are rushing to 
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COMMODITIES 8 AGRICULTURE US smelters mull reopening: With 
Paciflc north-west power prices back to normal, mothballed akmin ium 
plants may become viable again, says Matthew Jones ~,$hT6HL!~b.101ncial Times 

Falling power prices in the north-western US are raising questions about when 
the region's aluminium smelters will be brought back onstream. L ore than 1.6m tonnes of capacity was mothballed last year - about 8 per cent 
of the western world's total - due to a power crisis in the Pacific north-west. 

r N o w  that Dower Drices are back to normal. Some ObSeNerS believe smelters 
COJ~O be r'eupened by the second half of the year. Th:s would be welcomed by 
laid-off .vorl(e's but could keep aluminium prices depressed for the res1 of Ihe 

Productioi cuts by companies such as Alcoa. Kaiser Aluminum and Columbia 
Falls Aluminum helped balance the market at a time when industrial demand 
for aluminium was weak. The worry is ha1 any reinstated capacity would 
d,srupt this balance because sharp falls iii auiomofive and aerospace output 
will keep demand relatively low this year. 
Tnis concern is already staning to filler lhrough to the market. where 
a um nidm pr,ces on the London Metal Exchange have slipped from about 
Dollars 1,400 a tonne earliertnis month lo about Dollars 1.385. some 7 per 
cent oeou the 10-year average. 
'half a million tonnes a year of excess production capacity is enough to have 
a significant effect on the price,' says Adam Rowiey of Macquarie Bank. 
Spot power prices on the Caliornia-Oregon border surged to nearly Dollars 
400 a megawatt-hour lasl January due to low reservoir levels for hydro-electric 
power plants and increasing demand from California's electricity-hungry 
informalion technology seclor. 
Smelters agree0 Iu close lnelr plants for tu0 years after the  Bonnevllle Power 
Administration, ine federal agency responsible for providing low-cost power In 
the reg:on. said prices would have to treble or quadNple. 
Since then, high rainfall and new power plant building programmes have 
redxed spo! power prlces lo about Dollars 16-Dollars 17 per MWh. With 
rivers ana streams Drimming fdll and snowfall slightly above average levels, 
fonvard power prices for the next 18 months are about Dollars 26 per MWh. 
Thts woLid allow Smelters in the region to break even at an aluminium pnce of 
Doliars 1,250 a lonne 
There is already a precedent for smelung capacity to be brought back online. 
In Brazil, which suffered similar power shonages last year, some 200,000 
tonnes a year of capacity is being restored progressively as power rationing is 
lifted 
MacqJar;e believes that at least a further 200,000 lonnes a year of Pacific 
Nortnuest capacity could be brought online by the year-end. 
Two smeters wilh 380,000 lonnes a year of capacity hade lake-or-pay power 
contracts with BPA due lo  start in April, though BPA says it has had no 
indication lo date mal tney are planning 10 restart product:on. 
Tne remaining eighl smellers, which have no such constraints, may prefer to 
buy cneaper ?o.ver fr3m !ne spot market while continding to receive payments 
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L of Dollars 20 per MWh that BPA was forced to agree to cover labour costs 
"We're continuing to look at all the options and ourdecision will depend on 
market conditions," says Alwa, the world's largest aluminium producer. 
Companies thinking of restarting production will have an eye on their Chinese 
competitors. 
Chinese production is expected to grow by about 18 per cent this year to 4m 
tonnes, according to figures released by Beijing Antaike Information, a state- 
owned metals analyst. 
China's aluminium consumption has grown at an average of 13.5 per cent a 
year over the last 10 years but slowed to 8 per cent last year. Industry 
observers believe the country will become a net exporter this year, increasing 
pressure on western companies to keep their smelters closed. 
Not everyone in the industry is bearish, however. Nick Moore, metals analyst 

projects in preparation for the 2008 Olympic games. Mr Moore says if is too 

possibility cannot yet be dismissed. 

at JP Morgan, believes demand for aluminium in China will be buoyed by 

early to say whether demand in the westem world will recover, but that this 

*$ . y  . . 

L .. 

Pnnt article tmatl article Order remints 

, . " ..-_.__.l-ll___l_-- - 
Site map 

.. . ,  - ~ .._._...._._......._l_l.l_l__-_-..____ ~ ~. .. 
FT Home 

Advenise wilh the FT Media inquiries Student offers FT Conferences FT Research Centre FT Syndication Corporate subsciip 
Panner sites: Chinese FT.com Les Echos FT Deutschland Expansion Investors Chronicle 

0 Copyright The Financial Times Ltd 2007. "FT" and "Financial Times" are trademarks of The Financial Times Ltd. Privacy policy 

ht tp : / / search .A.com/fc le?queryText=al~ in i~+smel t~s&~7&aj~~e&x=6&id=O ... 8/20/2007 

http://SearchFT.com


r' 
0 
0 

0 

co 

r 
r 



u 
W 

a 3 

f' 
0 
0 

0 

m 

Q 
Q 

....% 

E! a s 
P c m 
x 

e w 

J 



d- 
o- 
0 

P- 
O 
0 

2 
2 

a 
m 

rA 

..d 

G 
i 



x 
2 

L5 



N 
iu 
0 
1 

5 a 
L .rr a, 







i 
2 
I: 
3 
0 

c 
W 
0 

'J 

0 u 

N I n O ) = r N " - r U  
" 0 4 c L 4 4 c L U  . . . . . . .  . . . . . . .  . . . . . . .  . . . . .  . . . . . . .  . . . . . . .  . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . .  . . . . . . .  . . . . . . .  . . . . .  : :  
. . . .  : . .  ~. 





1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 

14 

1: 
1f 

_I_ 1: 
I f  
1' 

21 
2 
2: 
2 
2. 
2 
2 
2 
2 
2 
3 

3 
3 

3 

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION'S 
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL'S INITIAL REQUEST 

FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

tern 18) 

dvisors (e.g., Goldman Sachs) for Big Rivers pertaining to the Unwind 
'ransactiodLease Agreement termination, or emergence from bankruptcy reorganization 

enerally. 

Provide all reports or presentations prepared by investment banking 

lesponse) Big Rivers objecls to providing materials related to its emergence from 
iankruptcy on the grounds that such material is not relevant to the current proceeding, 

nd that such request is overly broad and unduly burdensome. Big Rivers' bankruptcy 
)lan of reorganization was consummated almost 10 years ago. The only roll Goldman 
;achs had in the reorganization was in connection with remarketing Big Rivers' pollution 
:ontrol debt, which will not be affected by the Unwind. Without waiving that objection, 
itlacbed are reports and presentations prepared by investment banking advisors for Big 
iivers pertaining to the Unwind Transaction. 

Witness) Mark W. Glotfelty 

Item 18 
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RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST 
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February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

m 19) 

incial metrics, e.g. ,  DebtiEBITDA, TIER, DSC, etc.) of Big Rivers to “comparable 
npanies” performed by or for Big Rivers. 

Provide all documents which show financial comparisons (comparisons of 

sponse) 
quest. 

Please refer to the responses given for Item 20 and Item 29 of this Data 

itness) C. William Blackbum 

28 
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tern 20) 
tivers in terms of business purpose, and operating and financial metrics. 

Identify companies which Big Rivers views as being “comparable” to Big 

lesponse) 
he three member distribution cooperatives it serves. Big Rivers provides reliable 
vholesale electric service on a not-for-profit basis to its three member cooperatives. In 
urn, these cooperatives, owned by their more than 110,000 consumer-members, 
listribute the electricity at retail, on a not-for-profit basis, in portions of 22 counties 
ocated in Western Kentucky. Big Rivers is unique to other generation and transmission 
:ooperatives in that it has one Member with two large aluminum smelters in its customer 
lase that operate at a continuous 98% load factor. However, Big Rivers does not 

:urrently provide wholesale electric service to meet the majority of that Member’s 
Smelter load but will do so under the “Unwind”. Other generation and transmission 
:ooperatives that are currently comparable to Big Rivers in operating and financial 
netrics vary with the financial measure used as seen in the attached schedule. 

Big Rivers is a generation and transmission (G&T) cooperative owned by 

Witness) C. William Blackburn 

Item 20 
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em 21) 
tuld achieve, in the circumstance in which it possessed “investment grade” credit 
bings. Also state the credit rating assumed for purposes of providing this current 

iterest rate, e.g., BBB, A, etc. 

State the current interest rates on long term debt that Big Rivers believes it 

.esponse) 

Witness) 

Investment Grade (BBB Rating) 

Indicative Benchmark Spread to 

Term Rate UST Rate UST (bp) 
2 4.09 1.99 210 
3 4.35 
5 4.87 

2.25 210 
2.77 210 

10 5.08 3.73 215 

30 6.85 4.50 235 

C. William Blackbum 
Mark Glotfelty 
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em 22) 
suld achieve, in the circumstance in which it possessed “non-investment grade” credit 
ttings. Also state the credit rating assumed for purposes of providing this current 
iterest rate, e.g., BBB, B, etc. 

State the current interest rates on long term debt that Big Rivers believes it 

Lesponse) 

Witness) 

Sub-Investment Grade (BB Rating) 

indicative Benchmark Spread to 

Rate UST Rate UST (bp) 

8.75 2.77 598 

8.75 2.77 598 

8.75 2.77 588 

9.00 3.73 527 

9.50 4.50 500 

C. William Blackburn 
Mark Glotfelty 

Item 22 
Page 1 of 1 





1 
2 
3 
4 

5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 

19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 

31 
32 
33 

~ 

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST 

FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

tern 23) 
i e  assumed interest rates on long term debt to be those consistent with “non-investment 
,rad$’ credit ratings. Please provide the electronic spreadsheet file version of this 
ensitivity run, including a description of inputs that were varied to produce it. 

Provide a sensitivity run of the financial model (Exhibit 8), varying only 

ksponse) 
ssume interest rates on long term debt to be those consistent with BB credit ratings, 
vhich are non-investment grade. Please note that, as described in the testimony of C. 
Nilliam Blackburn, one condition to the closing of the Unwind Transaction is Big Rivers 
lbtaining an investment grade rating from Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s. 

We have included a sensitivity run of the Financial Model varied to 

Cey changes in inputs are provided in the Table attached. 

Witness) C. William Blackburn 
Robert S. Mudge 
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0.80 

5.42 
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N 
na 

5.95 
5.87 
5.71 
5.90 
6.32 

4.09 
4.35 
4.87 
5.8E 
6.85 

Proiected interest Rates and Related Costs ( O h )  

(estimates provided by Goldman Sachs) 
Indicative Rates (Coupon), 

by Maturity 

Rating Category 
investment Grade 
Insurance 
lnsu rance Premi um 

May 2007 

1 
r - 

February 2008 

. 
* Encompassing BBB- to BBB+ 
** Encompassing BB- to BB+ 

Current non-investment grade 
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na 

7.30 
7.22 
7.06 
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8.75 
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February 14,2008 
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[tern 24) 
lanuary 1,2005. 

Provide copies of each (U.S.) Equities analyst report on E. ON since 

Response) See E.ON’s response. 

Witness) E.ON. US. 
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tern 25) 
)y state as divided between retail, wholesale and other (or otheddifferent market 
lescriptions as applicable). 

Provide documents which show the current size of E.ON’s US .  markets 

tesponse) See E.ON’s response. 

Witness) E.ON. U S .  
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tern 26) 
lescribe each material harm that would occur as a result of this non-approval, and the 
stimated point in time at which it would occur: 

Assume the Application is not approved by the Commission. Identify and 

a. To Big Rivers; 

b. 
C. To the Smelters; and, 

d. To E.ON U S .  

To the three member retail cooperatives; 

tesponse) a. 
:xposed to the risks that are mitigated or eliminated by the Unwind. See responses to AG 

tems 1 and 43. The most immediate and reasonably predictable harm is the anticipated 
:essation of operation of one or both Smelters in the 2010-2012 time frame. The 
iisplacement of 1,400 jobs and the ripple effect of that economic development setback 
Mould be felt throughout Western Kentucky. 

If the Application is not approved, Big Rivers will continue to be 

b. 
c. 

d. See E.ON’s response. 

See the response to Item 26(a). 
Big Rivers is unaware of the Smelters’ position. 

Witness) a. Michael H. Core 
b. Bums Mercer 
C. Michael H. Core 
d. E.ON US. 
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:em 27) 
:ated that “Operating experience of the units as regulated assets can be developed during 
le initial period.” 

Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackburn, page 9. It is 

a. Specifically which operating experience of the units is unknown 

) BREC at this time; and 

b. Specifically what operating experience of the units “as regulated 

ssets” would be different than “an unregulated assets.” 

tesponse) a. 
tem 22 (production cost model inputs). 

Please see response to the Commission Staffs First Data Request, 

b. The regulated production assets under Big Rivers’ control may be 

)perated differently than if they were unregulated assets. Some of the differences could 
)e fuel mix, operating and maintenance objectives, generation levels, and economic 
lispatch criteria. 

Witness) C. William Blackburn 
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February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

[tern 28) 
16. To the extent not previously provided, provide documents showing the “increased 
mrchase power payments from the Smelters”. 

Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackburn, page 12, lines 8- 

a. ’ Provide supporting documents showing the calculation details in 
ietermining such increased payments, including the prior amounts for three preceding 
years against which the increase is determined by comparison. 

Response) 
reference to the concurrent large industrial rate plus all of the additional payment 
required from the Smelters as well as payment in common with the non-Smelter 
Members. The statement was not in reference to prior period transactions. 

The increased purchased power payments from the Smelters were in 

Witness) C. William Blackburn 
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February 14,2008 
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tern 29) 
8. Reference is made here to a TIER level to provide “a reasonable opportunity to 
btain and maintain an investment grade financial rating.” Similarly, please state 
fhether there is a leverage ratio metric (e.g., net debt/EBITDA) that is viewed as a 
hreshold level for investment grade financial ratings. If so, please state that leverage 
atio metric threshold. If not, please explain why not. 

Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackburn, page 20, lines 16- 

lesponse) The rating agencies do not have a stated minimum threshold leverage ratio 

o achieve an investment grade rating. An investment grade utility credit generally has a 
everage ratio, as measured by total equity to total capitalization, in the range of 12-50%. 

Vitness) C. William Blackburn 
Mark Glotfelty 
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tern 30) 
3. Reference is made here to various types of data provided. To the extent not 
)reviously provided, please provide this same data, updated as appropriate, in electronic 
ipreadsheet file format. 

Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackburn, page 29, lines 10- 

iesponse) 
iequest, Item 22. 

Please see Big Rivers’ response to the Commission Staffs Initial Data 

Witness) C. William Blackbum 
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February 14,2008 
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em 31) 

te 8, regarding “implementation of the new Wholesale Smelter Agreements.” To the 
tent not previously provided, provide a list stating and describing each and every 
aterial difference between the “old” smelter agreements, and the “new” smelter 

reements. 

Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackbum, page 71, 

lesponse) 
re the “old” smelter agreements. Please advise whether these agreements are (1) the 
998 agreements entered into among the smelters, predecessors of Kenergy and LG&E 
hergy Marketing, Inc., (2) the TIER 3 agreements among Big Rivers, Kenergy and the 
imelters which currently are in effect but which will be terminated in connection with the 
Jnwind, or ( 3 )  the pre-1998 agreements among Big Rivers, predecessors to Kenergy and 
he Smelters. All of these agreements are substantially different (in structure and 
)thenvise) from the Smelter Agreements proposed to be entered into a connection with 
he Unwind. Consequently, Big Rivers requests additional guidance regarding the 
,pecific information in which the Attorney General is interested. Without this additional 
pidance, Big Rivers is concerned that it may not appropriately address areas of concern 
h e  to the inherent vagueness of subjectivity of a standard of materiality. 

Big Rivers is unable to respond to the question because it is unclear what 

Witness) C. William Blackburn 

Item 31 
Page 1 of 1 



32 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 
6 

7 

8 

9 
10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1s 

19 

2c 

21 

22 

23 

2L 

25 

2f 

2; 
2$ 

21 

3( 

31 
3: 

3: 

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST 

FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

em 32) 

i-17, at “the Unwind Transaction represents a negotiated transaction with an agreed- 
)on allocation of risks between Big Rivers, Big Rivers’ members, the Smelters and the 

ON U.S. Parties.” 

Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackbum, page 109, lines 

a. Identify any other entities outside this negotiation group which 

:ar risks from this transaction, but not included in the “negotiated transaction” (e.g., 

ity of Henderson); 

h. Identify and describe each “risk” that was considered and 

located; and, 

c. 
sk in b, above. 

Which party bears what share of “agreed-upon allocation” of each 

.esponse) a. 
hwind Transaction. With respect to the City of Henderson, their risks are the same with 
ither plant operator. While E.ON U S .  could be perceived to be financially stronger, Big 
.ivers will certainly have financial viability that is far better than in the past and will be 
n investment grade rated organization. Certain of Big Rivers’ creditors (Le., the RUS) 
rill have their risks diminished through the removal of their current subordinated 
osition under Big Rivers’ first mortgage. 

There are no other entities whose risk factor changes due to the 

b. Be€ore entering into negotiations with either E.ON U. S. 

r the Smelters, Big Rivers identified the chief risks of an Unwind Transaction as 
eneration operations, load concentration in serving the smelter load, fuel and financial 
isks. The Members are obviously exposed to all those risks. But within the Member 
lad, the Smelters assume a disproportionate share of that risk exposure, while mitigating 
nose risks to the Members so long as the Smelters are on the Big Rivers’ system. The 
isk to Big Rivers and its Members of the Smelters leaving the Big Rivers system was 
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nitigated, as stated in paragraph 53 of the Application. The Smelter Agreements also 
:ontain mechanisms that may allow the Smelters to survive business downturns or 
:atastrophic circumstances, while preserving the anticipated economics for Big Rivers 
ind its Members. Smelter witness Henry Fayne discusses these advantages at pages 10- 
1 I of his pre-filed direct testimony. 

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST 

FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

Witness) C. William Blackburn 

c, See response to subpart b, above. 
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em 33) 
3,  regarding “Big Rivers has not yet completed negotiations with its existing creditors 
mcerning the provisions of the Indenture and the New Intercreditor Agreement”. To the 
<tent not previously provided, please provide copies of all correspondence between Big 
ivers and its creditors since the point in time Big Rivers and E. ON decided to pursue 
le transaction. 

Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackbum, page 124, lines 9- 

ksponse) 

ertaining to ongoing negotiations between Big Rivers and its creditors, which is 
rivileged. Big Rivers additionally objects that materials relating to preliminary contracts 
r negotiations with its creditors are not relecvant to the financing arrangements that will 
e presented to the Commission, and therefore, the request is overly broad and premature. 

Big Rivers objects to this request on the ground that it seeks material 

Yitness) C. William Blackburn 
Counsel 
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February 14,2008 
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[tern 34) 
2, regarding “investment grade ratings from Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s. Has Big 
Rivers sought indicative bond ratings from any rating entity such as Moody’s or S&P? If 
50, please provide those indicative bond rating documents. 

Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackburn, page 107, lines 8- 

Response) No, Big Rivers has not requested an indicative bond rating at this time. 

Witness) C. William Blackbum 
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tern 35) 
), regarding “the Unwind Transaction contemplates system expansion ....” Provide 
iocuments which show and describe Big Rivers’ contemplated system expansion under 
he Unwind Transaction, and subsequent to it. 

Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackburn, page 11, lines 8- 

Response) 
it additional power supply options for economic development that were previously not 
wailable. Big Rivers may look at adding combustion turbines, combine cycle turbines, 
ong-term purchased power agreements, purchasing a portion of a new coal fired unit, or 
3 combination of the above. 

The Unwind Transaction will allow Big Rivers the financial ability to look 

Big Rivers did not want to further complicate the Unwind Transaction with any type of 
system expansion. Therefore any studies for system expansion have not been developed 
3t this time. 

As economic development opportunities become available, Big Rivers will have the 
flexibility to provide additional sources of reliable power to its Member Distribution 
Systems. 

Witness) C. William Blackburn 
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tern 36) 
1, “improved financial arrangements will in turn make Big Rivers much more able to 
espond to changing market circumstances...”. 

Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackburn, page 13, lines 6- 

a. Please specifically identify the “changing market circumstances.” 

b. Assume the Lease Agreement and Purchase Power Agreement is 

lot terminated. Please specifically identify any “changing market circumstances” that Big 
iivers would not be able to respond to under its current financial structure. 

tesponse) a. Changing market circumstances can mean many different things, 
;uch as financial markets, operational conditions, economic development supply needs, 
:apital improvements, etc. 

Big Rivers will have the ability to obtain secured financing when 

iecessary, or preferable, for major capital improvements. The lines of credit Big Rivers 
will have available will enable it to meet unanticipated short-term cash flow requirements 
br  operations, inventories, etc. 

b. All the above would be impracticable, if not impossible, to 

iccomplish under the current Lease and Purchase Power Agreements. 

Witness) C. William Blackbum 
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tern 37) 
I, consent fees, “discussions with those creditors remain ongoing.” Provide all 
locuments to and from Big Rivers’ creditors regarding consent fees, restructure of debt to 

iccomplish and support the Unwind Transaction, etc. 

Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackburn, page 19, lines 5-  

tesponse) 
wtaining to ongoing negotiations between Big Rivers and its creditors, which is 
xivileged. Big Rivers additionally objects that materials relating to preliminary 
iegotiations are not relevant to the financing arrangements that will be presented to the 
:ommission, and therefore, the request is overly broad and premature. 

Big Rivers objects to this request on the grounds that it seeks material 

Witness) C. William Blackburn 
Counsel 
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tern 38) 
2 Page 28, line 10, regarding inputs to the production cost model. For each of the 
numerated inputs 1-9, provide documents which show sensitivity analyses addressing 
he sensitivity of production cost model outputs to changed inputs. 

Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackburn, page 27, line 18 

lesponse) 
kquest for Information, Item Yc. 

Please refer to Big Rivers’ response to the Commission Staffs Initial 

Nitness) C. William Blackbum 
Robert S. Mudge 
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[tern 39) 
o Page 29, line 15, regarding inputs to the financial model provided by Big Rivers. 
’rovide the documents (whether paper or electronic, and if electronic in native electronic 
brmat - not. pdf) which contain or support the ‘‘numerous inputs” referenced here. 

Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackburn, page 28, line 11 

Response) 
For Information, Item 22. 

Please see Big Rivers’ response to the Commission Staffs Initial Request 

Witness) C. William Blackburn 
Robert S. Mudge 
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tern 40) 
) Page 35, line 2, regarding the Hill & Associated review. 

Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackbum, page 34, line 22 

a. Please provide the most recent Hill & Associates review document 

I its entirety; 

b. Provide the updated review document as referenced here 

lesponse) 
a. and b. Attached are the most recent and updated review 

locuments. 

Nitness) C. William Blackbum 
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tern 41) Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackburn, page 124, line 21 
) Page 125, line 3, regarding “Big Rivers anticipates [beginning the process of obtaining 
ivestment grade credit ratings] will occur in the very near te rm...” Provide specific 

ates as to when “the very near term” is anticipated to occur. 

Lesponse) 
n March 5,2008. 

Big Rivers has scheduled meetings with Standard & Poors and Moody’s 

Yitness) C. William Blackburn 
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tern 42) 
, reference “assumed” interest rates. Provide current market interest rates (on a 
omparable basis) for the same profile of debt obligation as assumed here. 

Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackbum, page 128, lines 1- 

Cesponse) See response to Attorney General’s Initial Request, Item 23. 

Witness) C. William Blackburn 
Mark Glotfelty 
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em 43) 
), “one consequence of Big Rivers resuming control over its formerly leased generation 
sets is that future power supply costs may increase now that a significant portion of Big 
ivers’ costs are no longer largely fixed under the Lease Agreement.” Explain why it is 
the public interest to expose Big Rivers and its member cooperatives to increased 

iwer supply costs when such costs currently are largely fixed under the Lease 
greement. 

Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackburn, page 77, lines 7- 

esponse) 
consistent with the public interest for many reasons. First, Member rates are not 

icreased initially, and Members are shielded from increases in environmental surcharge 

id he1  adjustment clause costs for approximately five years. Second, even though 
3wer costs are largely fixed under the Lease Agreement, there is no flexibility for load 
rowth or any guarantee of a long-term availability of power for Members at the end of 
le Lease. Third, in addition to added financial flexibility for the future, Big Rivers will 
:ceive large immediate and tangible benefits under the Unwind Transaction-to the tune 
f approximately $623 million from E.ON alone and approximately $327 million in 
mtributions from the Smelters. Big Rivers has made a considered business judgment 
iat, balancing the Unwind Transaction against the current arrangement, the Unwind 
ransaction is more in the public interest-and in its Members’ interests-than the 
xisting Lease Agreement. The factors taken into consideration by Big Rivers in 
eveloping the Unwind Transaction are discussed further, below. 

Although future power supply costs may increase, the Unwind Transaction 

‘inancine Limitations 

Jnder the Lease Agreement, Big Rivers is unable to finance significant new capital 
dditions. The arrangement between Big Rivers’ creditors is complex and complicated 
y RUS’s subordinate position to the other creditors. Trying to finance any new capital 
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.eeds in the remaining 16 years of the First Mortgage would be extremely difficult. 
ittempting to bring together the creditors involved in the First Mortgage with varying 
nterests in Big Rivers has already proven very difficult. An Unwind would put in place 
n indenture that greatly simplifies financing going forward. 

4 $15 million line of credit currently exists with CFC, and it must be paid down to a zero 
d a n c e  at least once a year. However, in the world of power supply, $15 million is a 
irop in the bucket when it comes to capital expenditures. Thus, sudden large cash needs 
)resent significant problems, including the potential of being in default under the Lease 
kgreement, or worse, bankruptcy. Here are some examples of possible issues that could 
:ause the need for more funds: 

1. Major Capital Expenditures as defined in the Lease Agreement. 
2. Large claims awarded under litigation with either the Smelters or E.ON or both. 
3. Unknown new incremental environmental costs as defined in the Lease 

Agreement. 
4. New Source Review claims from EPA. 

Being unable to adequately finance capital expenses puts more risk on Big Rivers’ 
Members in that today’s Members bear all of the responsibility for raising capital that 
:annot be provided by internal funds. There is little flexibility for management when it 
tomes to raising capital in dealing with such needed capital additions, litigation liability, 
or environmental assessments. 

Moreover, dealing with an issue such as higher than expected load growth would also be 
difficult since Big Rivers would be unable to borrow funds to purchase more generating 
assets. Further, Big Rivers’ weak balance sheet makes it difficult to partner with others 
on power supply options or other opportunities to reduce costs through better economies 
of scale. The use of long term power purchase contracts would be problematic because 
Big Rivers’ weak balance sheet would prompt sellers of wholesale 
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)ewer to keep credit exposures much shorter in duration or require security, which Big 
livers cannot adequately provide. 

n addition, without an indenture in place at the end of the Lease Agreement in 2023, 
inancing the Asset Residual Value Payment (ARVP) due to the RUS of approximately 
j250 million will be complex, if not impossible. Under the existing First Mortgage both 
’hilip Morris Capital Corp. (PMCC) and Bank of America through the arrangements of 

he sale leaseback, are mortgagees under the First Mortgage, and have some control over 
3ig Rivers’ financing through the First Mortgage. Getting their permission for 
nodification of the mortgage could result in a demand for a payment or create a demand 
if a buyout of a Lease Agreement, a very expensive proposition for Big Rivers. The 
4RVP Note to the RUS is due December 31,2023. Negotiations, documentation and 
:losing of the financing of the ARVP Note would likely require at least a year to 
:omplete. Also, at the end of the existing transaction Big Rivers is required to pay E.ON 
For its inventory on hand which could cost an additional $50-60 million, and which would 
ilso need to be financed. 

The Residual Value Payment (RVP) owed to E.ON increases the need for cash and thus 
creates a need for higher rates or more financing at the conclusion of the existing 
transaction if cash is not available for the payment. Since this amount is due 180 days 
after the termination of the existing transaction, negotiations, documentation and closing 
the financing for it would require starting at least one year ahead of the termination date. 
In January 2024, the likelihood also exists that Big Rivers could find itself without 
sufficient cash to pay for additional capital needs at the existing power plants and/or 
perhaps new capacity to meet member growth. This could exacerbate financing problems 
at the time. In other words, the complexity of these issues will present significant 
challenges to Big Rivers in the early 2020s. Big Rivers believes there will not be a better 
opportunity to eliminate most ofthose potential risks than by embracing the flexibility of 

the Unwind Transaction. 
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.6 Years of Adversarial Relationships 

t is readily apparent that if an Unwind is not achieved, the last 15 years of the Lease 
Igreement will likely be a period of adversarial relationships. First, the relationship with 
:.ON will likely involve many disagreements, disputes and possible litigation over 
iumerous contract issues. Current unresolved issues with E.ON already exist. These 
ssues have been left on the table and would go away with a closing of the Unwind. If 

here is no closing, those disputes will come front and center. 

The complex agreements between Big Rivers and the E.ON entities invite disputes. It is 
lever easy or inexpensive to be in a contractual relationship with a party who wants to 
:xit the relationship. E.ON’s position in this regard is well-documented. 

In addition, if Big Rivers remains under the Lease Agreement, the Smelters will be 
desperate to find a source of power priced at a level that will sustain them for a period 
beyond the expiration of their respective power supply contracts in 2010 and 201 1. To 
the extent that Big Rivers agrees to supply some power for resale to the Smelters in the 
interest of making that very limited contribution to extending their viability, Big Rivers’ 
ability to arbitrage will be adversely affected. If the Smelters attempt to force power 
supply concessions from Big Rivers and are successful, Big Rivers could also be at risk 
of having to take all new load growth to the market and socialize the costs over all 
Members. 

Economic Development for Western Kentucky 

Only the Unwind can provide the Smelters the power they need to continue cost-effective 
aluminum production beyond 2010 and 201 1. Economic stability and 
development have always been a major focus of Big Rivers and its Members. The 
Unwind, in addition to retaining the 1,400 direct Smelter jobs and the hundreds of 
indirect jobs attributable to the Smelters, will provide the flexibility for Big Rivers to 
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lromote other economic development in the region. Being financially strong will allow 
lig Rivers to explore different avenues and employ greater resources in meeting load 

,rowth. 

The Shorter Term View for Power Sumly 

From Big Rivers’ perspective, the Lease Agreement provides only a short term 
iiew of power supply for the Members and Big Rivers. While there are over 15 years left 

n the Lease Agreement, that is not a very long term view of power supply when viewed 
iom the perspective of the all requirements contracts Big Rivers has with its Members. 
tcquiring new power resources can require a decade or more to study options, to develop 
in integrated resource plan, to get necessary permits if new assets are to be constmcted, 
o negotiate sharing agreements if they are to be employed, and finally to construct, or 
iut into place, power supply resources for the future. 

f Big Rivers’ load service obligations grow faster than its projections, other than short 
erm market purchases, few options exist under the Lease Agreement to meet that growth. 
Such a load service squeeze will likely result in significantly higher costs to Members 
md have a chilling effect on economic development for the next 15+ years if the Lease 
4greement remains in effect. 

Witness) Michael H. Core 
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:tern 44) 
,egarding “sensitivity run.” 

Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackburn, page 86, line 12, 

a. Identify all “sensitivity runs” performed by or for Big Rivers in 
;upport of its conclusion to terminate the Lease Agreement and propose the Unwind 
rransaction. 

b. Provide an electronic copy (.XIS file in machine readable format 
Nith formulas intact) of each such sensitivity run, above. 

Respunse) 

m preliminary versions of the Unwind Financial Model not filed with the Commission 

3n the grounds that those sensitivity runs are irrelevant to the proposal before the 
Commission and are privileged as being related to negotiations with the parties, and that 
providing them would be unduly burdensome. Without waiving that objection, included 

each sensitivity run performed by or for Big Rivers in connection with the final version 
of the Unwind Financial Model filed with the Commission. 

Big Rivers ob.jects to this request to the extent it seeks aiiy sensitivities run 

a.-b. The sensitivity analyses referred to in the testimony of C. William 

Blackburn on page 86 have examined scenarios in which one or both Smelters terminated 
their contracts per the terms of their agreements. (Section 7.3 of the retail agreements). 
sensitivity analyses have been prepared. 

Scenario One: Century terminates at EOY 2010. 
Scenario Two: Century terminates ai EOY 2010 and Alcan terminates at 

EOY 201 1 .  
Full model runs are attached at PSC Item 10 and PSC Item 12(b). 

See also AG Items 23 and 133. 
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Witness) C. William Blackburn 
Robert S. Mudge 
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tern 45) Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackbum, page 91, lines 6- 
7, regarding “certain provisions providing for a sharing of the costs of certain large fuel 
ncreases ...” Specify each such provision referred to here. 

Response) 
)ewer Rate, subsection b, provides for the base power rate to be adjusted on the formula 
:ontained therein. For your convenience a copy of Section 6.3 b is attached. 

The current Power Purchase Agreement with LEM in Section 6.3, Base 

Witness) C. William Blackburn 

Item 45 
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POWER PURCHASE AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION AND LG&E ENERGY MARKETING INC. 

(b) An amount equal to Big Rivers' total revenues actually 
colleczed for Hoosier Power sold to Hoosier by Big Rivers during the 
prior month. - 

(c) An amount equal to Big Rivers' total revenues actually 
collecred f o r  HMP&L Power sold to HMP&L by Big Rivers during the prior 
month. 

(d) An amount equal to the Base Tower Price f o r  such month 
as determined pursuant to Section 6.4. 

(e) An amount equal to the redispatch costs incurred by 
Big Rivers pursuant to Section 5.4 during the prior month. 

( f )  An amount based upon the quantity of generation-based 
Ancillary Services, ECAR reserves or Transmission Support Services 
provieed by LEM to Big Rivers during the prior month in excess of the 
type and quantity of such services which are explicitly to be provided 

Amount, priced in accordance with LEM's rates for such services. 
pursuar.t to this Agreement without adjustmenr: to the Power Value - 

(9) To the extent that Big Rivers purchases from a third- 
party :CAR automatic reserves or generation-based emergency services 
necessary to support operation of its Transmission System, the Power 
Value >mount shall be reduced by an amount equal to Big Rivers' actual 
cost of such purchases during the prior month; provided that ECAR 
automaric reserves or generation-based emergexy services shall not be 
purchased in amounts greater than the minimum amount required under 
ECAR regulations. 

6.3 Base Power Rates. 

(a) Base Power. During the first Partial Year through 
December 31, 2001, the rate per megawatt-hour of Base Power is 
$18.917. For the balance of the Term of this Agreement, the following 
rates per megawatt-hour for Base Power apply: 

2002 
2003 
2004 
2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 
2011 
2012 
2013 

$19.117 
$19.217 
$19.317 
$19.417 
$19.517 
$19.717 
$20.017 
$20.327 
$20.627 
$20.947 
$20.267 
$20.587 
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POWER PURCHASE AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION AND LGBE ENERGY MARKETING INC. 

2014 
2015 
2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 
2021 
2022 
2023 
2024 

$20.917 
$21.241 
$21.587 
$21.927 
$22.217 
$22.621 
$22.981 
$23.357 
$23.711 
$24.082 
$24,452 

(b)  Base Power Rate  Adjustments .  P r i o r  t o  February 1 o f  
t h e  Years 2004, 2011 and 2018,  t h e  P a r t i e s  s h a l l  per form t h e  fo l lowing  
c a l c l a t i o n s :  

;et Pn r e p r e s e n t  t h e  r a t e  f o r  Base Power f o r  y e a r  n a s  i e f i n e d  i n  
S e c t i o n  6 . 3 ( a ) .  

Cef ine  Qn = 9 . 5 2 ~  + 7 . 2 5 4 .  + 3.23 where, f o r  each  year  r. of 2004, 
2011, and 2018: 

- 

x = The r a t i o  o f  t h e  v a l u e  of t h e  Coal Index ( D K I  Price of 
Coal t o  Electr ic  U t i l i t i e s  - N a t i o n a l )  a t  J e x a r y  1 of  
yea r  n t o  t h e  v a l u e  a t  January  1 of t h e  s e v c t h  
p r e c e d i n g  yea r ;  and  

y = The r a t i o  of t h e  va lue  of t h e  Labor Index (:?.I U n i t  
Labor Cos t  - N a t i o n a l )  a t  January  1 of y e a r  :: t o  t h e  
v a l u e  a t  J anua ry  1 of t h e  seventh  p reced ing  year .  

( i) 2004 Adjustment 

( A )  I f  Q2004 i s  less than  16.69,  t h e n  s e t  F2004 
= Q2004 + 16.69 

( B )  I f  Q2004 i s  g r e a t e r  t han  35,32, ' k e n  s e t  
F2004 = Q2004 f 35.32 

(C) I f  n e i t h e r  de t e rmina t ion  (1) or  ( 2 )  i s  
made, t h e n  se t  F2004 = 1 . 0 .  

( D )  The a d j u s t e d  ra te  f o r  Base Power, P ' n  for  
each y e a r  n from 2004 through 2010 s h a l l  be  
de te rmined  a s  P 'n  = Pn F2004 

- 26 - 



POWER PURCHASE AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION AND LG&E ENERGY MARKETING INC. 

(ii) 2011 Adjustment 

(A) If Q2011 is less than 20.66 * F2004 ,  then 
set F2011 = 62011 6 20 .66  

(B) If Q2011  is greater than 43 .73  - F2004, 
then set F2011 - (12011 + 4 3 . 7 3  

( C )  If neither determination (1) or ( 2 )  is 
made, then set F2011 = F2004 

( D )  The adjusted rate for Base Power, P'n for 
each year n from 2011 through 2017 Shall be 
determined as P'n = Pn * F2011 

(iii) 2018 Adjustment 
- 

If Q2018 is less than 2 5 . 5 9  * F2004 * 
F2011, then set F2018 = Q2018 6 25.59 

If 02018 is greater than 5 4 . 1 5  F2004 * 
F2011, then set F2018 = Q2018 6 5 4 . 1 5  

If neither determination (1) or ( 2 )  is 
made, then set F2018 = F2004 * F 2 0 1 1  

The adjusted rate for Base Power, P'n, for 
each year n from 2028  through the Term of 
this Agreement shall be determined as ?'n = 
Pn * F2018 

(iv) Base Power rate adjustments will be effectiv, on 
January 1 of the Year the calculation is 
performed. 

(c) In the event that the Effective Date does not occur on 
or before December 31, 1998  then Section 6 .3 (a )  will be modified, 
effective January 1, 1999, and on each January 1 thereafter until the 
Effective Date occurs (after which time the Section will remain fixed 
in the form then current), subject to an earlier termination of thz 
Participation Agreement, as follows: each Year stated will be 
increased by one, such that the rate in the first Partial Year that 
the Agreement is in effect and through the three calendar years 
immediately following the first Partial Year will be $18.917 and the 
remainder of the rates will become effective in the corresponding ?ear 
indicated after such modification is made. 
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Item46) 
16: identify each difference in calculation of “TIER” as used or likely to be used by: 

Please reference the testimony of C. William Blackbum, page 21, lines 9- 

a. Creditors in credit agreements; 
b. Credit rating entities; and 

c. Smelters via the “Smelter Agreements.” 

Response) Please see response to Commission Staffs Initial Data Request, Item 13. 
The creditors and credit rating entities will likely use the conventional TIER calculation. 

Witness) C. William Blackbum 
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tern 47) 
he outset of negotiations relating to the Unwind Transaction in 2003.” State each 
naterial factor that was an impetus to opening these negotiations. 

Please reference the testimony of Robert S. Mudge, page 5, line 10-1 1, “at 

Response) 
tcognized the potential for the benefits to Big Rivers, its Members and Western 
Centucky described in the responses to AG questions 1 and 43. We believe Big Rivers 

,vas compelled to enter into negotiations to determine whether those benefits were 
ichievable, and to give Big Rivers Board of Directors and its Members the opportunity to 
:onsider the best available transaction. 

When the concept of the Unwind was put to Big Rivers, Big Rivers 

Witness) Michael II. Core 

Item 47 
Page 1 of 1 





1 
2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 
10 

11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 

- 15 
18 

1s 

2c 

21 
2’; 
2: 

2L 

2: 
2t 
2; 

2f 

25 

3( 

31 

3: 

3: 

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
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FOR EVFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 

February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

tern 48) 
‘financing has been modeled to minimize costs.” State specifically how the financing as 
nodeled “minimizes costs.” 

Please reference the testimony of Robert S. Mudge, page 10, line 3 ,  

Response) The reference to minimizing costs relates to the structuring of potential 
inancing such that the most expensive debt components are repaid early, and the less 

:xpensive components are kept in place as long as possible, within the constraints of 
naturities imposed by contract or tax regulations and other objectives such as reducing 
RUS exposure. For example, the financing plan embedded in the Financial Model 
nodels the extension of maturity dates currently applicable to Big Rivers’ tax-exempt 
pollution control bonds, which can reasonably be expected to represent Big Rivers’ 
:heapest capital going forward. 

Witness) Robert S. Mudge 
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RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST 
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February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

[tern 49) 
.egarding capital expenditures. Provide any sensitivity analysis scenarios conducted 
.egarding variation of “capital expenditure assumptions” from that assumed and 
xesented in the Unwind Financial Model (Exhibit 8). Provide these scenarios in 
dectronic spreadsheet file format, along with any description of the sensitivity analysis 

scenario. 

Please reference the testimony of Robert S. Mudge, page 17, lines 1-7, 

Response) Although we employed different capital expenditures in negotiating the 
transaction and in designing the Financial Model, formal sensitivity analyses were not 
:onsidered meaningful in light of the complexity in balancing the transactional costs and 
benefits. To my knowledge, the engineers and operations people at Big Rivers were 
:omfortable with the range oEcapex used throughout the Financial Model. See Mudge 

Testimony, Exhibit 9, page 17. 

Witness) Robert S. Mudge 
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tern 50) 
locuments prepared for or provided to Applicants by him or his firm pertaining to 
natters within this application since being retained in 2003. 

Please reference the testimony of Robert S. Mudge. Provide any 

iesponse) 
s protected by the attorney-client and work product privileges. CRA International was 
,etained by Big Rivers’ counsel. Big Rivers further objects on the grounds that the 
.equest seeks privileged communications pertaining to negotiations, and that it is overly 
xoad, unduly burdensome, and irrelevant. 

Big Rivers objects to this request on the ground that it seeks material that 

Witness) Robert S.  Mudge 
Counsel 
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tern 51) 

iocuments in his possession regarding the future costs of complying with environmental 
egulations related to coal fired plants and their operation. 

Please reference the testimony of Robert S. Mudge. Provide any 

tesponse) 
lirectly related to Big Rivers, on the grounds that it is overly broad, it is unduly 
wdensome, it seeks proprietary information prepared for other clients of CRA 
nternational, and it is irrelevant. Without waiving this objection, see the attachments to 
\G Initial Request Item 133, and PSC Initial Request Item 22. 

Big Rivers objects to this request to the extent it seeks material not 

Nitness) Robert S. Mudge 
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February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

tern 52) Please reference the testimony of Mark W. Glotfelty, pages 8-9, regarding 
‘credit strengths the ratings agencies will consider.” Identify and discuss any other credit 
itrengths the ratings agencies will consider, beyond those listed here. 

iesponse) Other credit strengths the rating agencies consider is the experience, depth 
ind strength of the executive management team. Primary focus will be on management’s 

Jusiness strategy and ability to successfully manage the company. One area the rating 
igencies focus on is management’s track record in meeting or exceeding financial 
xojections. 

Witness) Mark W. Glotfelty 
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tern 53) Please reference the testimony of Mark W. Glotfelty, pages 9, regarding 

‘credit concerns the ratings agencies will likely focus upon.” Identify and discuss any 
,ther credit concerns the ratings agencies will consider, beyond those listed here. 

iesponse) 
tgencies are likely to focus upon. 

The listed credit concerns in the testimony are the key areas the rating 

Witness) Mark W. Glotfelty 
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tern 54) 
irepared for, provided to, or otherwise created for this matter for the Applicants by 
iim/Goldman Sachs. 

Please reference the testimony of Mark W. Glotfelty. Provide any reports 

tesponse) 
estimony. My testimony is based on my knowledge of the credit rating process from my 
ime spent as a credit analyst. 

There are no reports prepared for or provided to myself as part of my 

Witness) Mark W. Glotfelty 
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tern 55) 
locuments in his possession regarding the future costs of complying with environmental 
cgulations related to coal fired plants and their operation. 

Please reference the testimony of Mark W. Glotfelty. Provide any 

Response) 
:nvironmental regulations related to coal fired plants. My testimony is based on my 
cnowledge of the rating agencies focus on the potential liability. 

I was not provided any documents on the future cost of complying with 

Witness) Mark W. Glotfelty 
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tern 56) 

:ntire document from which the table on this page was drawn. 
Please reference the testimony of Mark W. Glotfelty, page 1 1. Provide the 

lesponse) 
issociation annual directory. 

Please see the attached June 2007 G&T Accounting & Finance 

Vitness) Mark W. Glotfelty 
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February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

tern 57) 
ntire document from which the table on this page was drawn. 

Please reference the testimony of Mark W. Glotfelty, page 7. Provide the 

tesponse) 
.nnual directory, AG Item 56. 

Please reference the June 2007 G&T Accounting & Financial Association 

Witness) Mark W. Glotfelty 

Item 57 
Page 1 of 1 





1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
21 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
32 

~ 

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
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February 14,2008 
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 

tern 58) 
:garding the “peer group.” 

Please reference the testimony of Mark W. Glotfelty, page 10, lime 19, 

a. Describe and discuss how these entities were determined to be 

peers’’; and 

b. Identify any other companies that were considered for inclusion, 

,ut were rejected, and state why such companies were rejected. 

tesponse) The peer group was selected based on their public ratings which primarily 

all into the single A and BBB rating categories. Companies that were not included were 
Lssociated Electric, Brazos Electric, Buckeye Power, Central Iowa, Dairyland Power, 

3olden Spread, Oglethorpe Power, San Miguel, Seminole Electric and South Texas 
!lectric. 

Nitness) Mark W. Glotfelty 

Item 58 
Page 1 of 1 





1 

2 

3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 

11 

12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 

31 
32 
33 

___ 

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S 
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST 

FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS 
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[tern 59) 

‘20 rated investment grade G&T’s.” 
Please reference the testimony of Mark W. Glotfelty, page 6, regarding 

a. Describe and discuss how these 20 G&T’s were identified and 

selected: 

b. Provide the universe of G&T’s that were initially considered (from 

which the 20 were drawn) along with information comparable to that in the table on page 

7; 

c. Provide documents showing all G&T’s in the U S .  to the extent 

jifferent than the above. 

Response) 
the entire rated universe of G&Ts. The information on the peer group can be found in the 
June 2007 G&T Accounting & Finance Association annual directory, AG Item 56. 

The 20 G&T that were selected as the peer group represent substantially 

Witness) Mark W. Glotfelty 

Item 59 
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